

Carl von Ossietzky Universität Oldenburg Fakultät für Mathematik und Naturwissenschaften

The molecular geography of dissolved organic matter in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean

Von der Fakultät für Mathematik und Naturwissenschaften der Carl von Ossietzky Universität Oldenburg zur Erlangung des Grades und Titels eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.) angenommene Dissertation von Frau

Maren Seibt

geboren am 21.08.1984 in Stuttgart

- 1. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Thorsten Dittmar
- 2. Gutachterin: Dr. Katharina Pahnke-May

Tag der Disputation: 24. November 2017

ABSTRACT

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) is a vast reservoir of carbon comparable in size to atmospheric CO₂. It is a key component in the marine carbon cycle and therefore also relevant in the global climate system. The millennial stability of DOM has puzzled oceanographers in the past decades and the reasons behind it are subject to an ongoing and controversial scientific debate. Because the distribution and molecular composition of DOM determine its biological availability and residence time in the ocean, it is the overall goal of this thesis to identify distinct patterns in the molecular composition and relate it to biotic and abiotic processes. For that purpose, more than 350 samples taken in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean were analyzed via ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometry (Fourier-transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry; FT-ICR-MS). The main results of this thesis are summarized in three chapters, each of which corresponds to a manuscript prepared for submission to a scientific journal.

In the first manuscript (second chapter), two process-related indices revealing the molecular signature of photodegradation and bioproduction embedded in marine DOM are introduced. Both indices are calculated with relative signal intensities of process-specific marker compounds, which were identified in molecular data sets from two laboratory experiments, that were published recently. The application of the indices to DOM sample sets from the Pacific, Atlantic and Southern Ocean traces the characteristic signature of both processes in natural environments and makes it possible to assess the relative extent of both processes.

In the second manuscript (third chapter), the major factors influencing the molecular geography of DOM in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean are identified. For that purpose, a simple two-source mixing model is constructed using the molecular signatures of two characteristic endmembers: Microbially produced DOM obtained during a previously published laboratory experiment and refractory deep sea DOM from the Central North Pacific were mixed proportionally with increasing amounts of fresh DOM on top of the refractory background. In a second step, the modeled fingerprints with the highest molecular similarity to DOM from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean were identified. The results demonstrate that most of the molecular variability of DOM can be explained by mixtures of these two endmembers, which leads to the conclusion that microbial production mainly shapes the molecular composition and that water mass mixing is mostly responsible for transporting the characteristic signature into deeper water layers.

The third manuscript (fourth chapter) focuses on the distribution and molecular composition of solid-phase extractable dissolved organic nitrogen (SPE-DON) in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean and the associated biotic and abiotic processes. Specific patterns of the molecular geography of SPE-DON were identified and linked to published data focusing on the specific microbial community compositions and the prevailing nutrient regimes. Especially the oligotrophic gyres are potential hotspots of DON production and turnover. The molecular data of SPE-DON provides complementary information to several already published studies targeting the turnover of bulk DON in the global ocean.

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Das gelöste organische Material (engl. dissolved organic matter; DOM) beschreibt ein Reservoir organischen Kohlenstoffs im Ozean, das in seiner Größe mit der Menge des atmospherischen CO₂ vergleichbar ist. DOM ist eine Schlüsselkomponente des marinen Kohlenstoffkreislaufs und damit auch ein wichtiger Baustein im globalen Klimasystems. Die enorme Langlebigkeit des DOM über einen Zeitraum von Jahrtausenden verblüfft Ozeanographen seit Jahrzenten. Die Gründe für diese Langlebigkeit sind Gegenstand zahlreicher kotrovers geführter wissenschaftlicher Debatten. Die Verteilung sowie die molekulare Zusammensetzung des DOM bestimmt dabei maßgeblich die biologische Verfügbarkeit und Aufenthaltsdauer im Ozean. In diesem Zusammenhang steht das übergeordnete Ziel der vorliegenden Arbeit, bestimmte Muster in der molekularen Zusamensetzung zu erkennen und diese mit biotischen und abiotischen Prozessen in Verbindung zu bringen. Zu diesem Zweck wurden mehr als 350 DOM Proben im Atlantik und im Südpolarmeer gesammelt und mittels ultrahochauflösender Fourier-Transformation Ionencyclotronresonanz Massenspektrometrie (FT-ICR-MS) analysiert. Die wichtigsten Ergebnisse dieser Arbeit sind in drei Kapiteln zusammegefasst, wobei jedes dieser Kapitel einem Manuskript entspricht, das zur Publikation in einer wissenschaftlichen Zeitschrift vorbereitet wurde.

Im ersten Manuskript werden zwei Indizes vorgestellt, die die molekulare Signatur von Photoabbau und biologischer Produktion in der Zusammensetzung von DOM offenlegen. Beide Indizes werden mit den relativen Signalintensitäten von prozessspezifischen "Marker"-Molekülen berechnet, die mit Hilfe zweier vor kurzem publizierter experimenteller Datensätze identifiziert wurden. Durch die Anwendung der beiden Indizes in DOM Proben aus dem Atlantik, Pazifik und Südpolarmeer kann die Spur von Photoabbau und biologischer Produktion in der Umwelt verfolgt und das relative Ausmaß beider Prozesse auf die molekulare Zusammensetzung untersucht werden.

Im zweiten Manuskript werden Faktoren identifiziert, die die molekulare Geographie der DOM Moleküle maßgeblich beeinflussen. Zu diesem Zweck wurde ein einfaches zwei-Quellen Mischungsmodell mit zwei charakteristischen "Endmember" konstruiert: Mikrobiell produziertes DOM, das während einer bereits publizierten Studie gewonnen wurde, und refraktäres DOM aus dem tiefen Nord-Pazifik wurden proportional mit aufsteigender Menge frisch produzierten Materials als Zusatz zu refraktärem Material gemischt. In einem zweiten Schritt wurden die modelierten molekularen Fingerabdrücke, die die höchste Ähnlichkeit zu natürlichen molekularen DOM Fingerabdrücken aus dem Atlantik und Südpolarmeer aufweisen, identifiziert. Die Ergebnisse zeigen, dass ein großer Teil der molekularen Variabilität durch die Mischung dieser beiden "Endmember" erklärt werden kann. Dies bedeutet, dass mikrobielle Produktion maßgeblich die molekulare Zusammensetzung des DOM beeinflusst und dass eine Durchmischung verschiedener Wassermassen diese charakteristische Signatur in tiefere Wasserschichten transportiert.

Das dritte Manuskript beschreibt die Verteilung des durch Festphasen-Extraktion gewonnenen gelösten organischen Stickstoffs (engl. solid-phase extractable dissolved organic nitrogen; SPE-DON) im Atlantik und Südpolarmeer und die damit verbundenen biotischen und abiotischen Prozesse. Spezielle Muster in der molekularen Geographie von SPE-DON wurden identifizert und mit publizierten Studien verknüpft, die die Zusammensetzung der mikrobiellen Gemeinschaften und die Verfügbarkeit von Nährstoffen in den Probenahmegebieten beschreiben. Besonders die oligotrophen Wirbel scheinen "Hotspots" für mikrobielle Produktion und Umsatz zu sein. Die molekularen SPE-DON Daten bieten zusätzliche Informationen zu vielen bereits publizierten Studien, die den Umsatz des gesamten DON im globalen Ozean beschreiben.

DANKSAGUNG

Angelehnt an eines der größten Abenteuer meines bisherigen Lebens, die Ausfahrten mit der Polarstern in die Antarktis, und der damit verbundenen Erkenntnis, dass man ohne eine gute Crew nichts erreichen kann, möchte ich mich an dieser Stelle bei den Leuten bedanken, die mich begleitet haben und mein persönliches Schiff mit dem Namen "Doktorarbeit" sicher in den Hafen gesteuert haben. Ohne die für mich beste Crew der Welt wäre dieses Schiff nie angekommen:

Danke an den Kapitän, Thorsten Dittmar, der auch im größten Sturm den Kurs gehalten hat. Danke für das Vertrauen, dass Du mir entgegengebracht hast und die vielen fachlichen Diskussionen, die mich auf vielfältige Weise inspiriert haben.

Danke an den ersten Offizier, Meinhard Simon, der mich auf vielen Seereisen begleitet hat und durch seine Koordination an Bord zum Gelingen dieser Arbeit maßgeblich beigetragen hat. Danke auch Dir für viele wissenschaftliche Diskussionen.

Keine Besatzung der Brücke wäre vollständig ohne den zweiten und dritten Offizier: Danke, Katharina Pahnke-May, für die Übernhame des zweiten Gutachtens und danke, Bert Engelen, dass Du dich bereit erklärt hast, Teil meiner Prüfungskommission zu sein.

Ohne die leitende Ingenieurin, Jutta Niggemann, hätte nichts funktioniert. Danke, dass Du dich um die Finanzierung dieses Projekts gekümmert und mir dieses unglaubliche Abenteuer ermöglicht hast. Danke, dass Du immer an mich geglaubt hast, auch wenn ich es selbst manchmal nicht getan habe. Danke für unzählige fachliche und persönliche Gespräche. Danke, dass Du mir den berühmten letzten Satz sooft aus den Manuskripten gestrichen hast.

Danke an die Bootsfrau, Susanne Wendeling, die an Deck nach dem Rechten gesehen hat. Danke, dass Du so vieles organisiert und die administrativen Dinge für mich so vereinfacht hast.

Danke auch an die Schiffsmechaniker, Matze Friebe, Ina Ulber und Katrin Klaproth. Ihr habt dafür gesorgt, dass im Labor alles funktioniert hat und mich bei so vielen Dingen praktisch unterstützt. Danke, dass ihr mir beim Packen und Organisieren und allen anfallenden Arbeiten im Labor geholfen und so manche "doofe" Doktoranden-Frage gelassen beantwortet habt.

Ein ganz dickes Dankeschön an die Matrosen! Wenig wäre mir gelungen ohne eure tatkräftige Unterstützung: Helena, Maren, Mecki, Micha, Hanne, Pame, Betty und Anika "Danke" für so viel Motivation, Diskussion, Beigebrachtes, Gelächter, Spaß und Gemeinschaft! Maren, Helena und Hanne vielen Dank für unsere tolle Büro-WG und euch beiden, Helena und Maren, vielen Dank für die wundervolle Unterstützung an Bord der Polarstern und fürs Korrekturlesen. Sara, vielen Dank dafür, dass Du mit mir die Kajüte geteilt hast. Micha, das ist nur für dich: "Ha Do! Darauf einen Wodka-O!" DANKE an alle Geochems, ihr seid großartig!

Danke auch an die Crew an Land, durch die ich nie den festen Boden unter den Füßen verloren habe: Danke Malin, Maike, Caro, Yvi, Sanja, Janina, Marieke, Mecki, Friso, Tammo, Arne, Schorse und Sven! Danke für die vielen gemeinsamen Abendessen, Ausflüge, Spieleabende, sportlichen Betätigungen, Basteleien, Ablenkungen, Urlaube, Mädelsabende, Unterstützungen aller Art und einfach dafür, dass ihr da seid. Ohne euch wäre nichts möglich gewesen.

Danke, Sabine und Sophia, dass ihr meine längsten Freundinnen seid und mit mir schon so viel unternommen und erlebt habt. Vielen Dank auch für das wiederholte Nachfragen nach dem Stand dieser Arbeit und den damit verbundenen Motivationsspritzen. Sabine und Alex, mit meinem Patenkind habt ihr mir eine sehr große Freude gemacht. Joshua, du bist mein Sonnenschein.

Danke an diejenigen, die meine Heimat sind: Danke Mama, Papa, Simon, Tina und Hanna! Ihr habt mich zu der gemacht, die ich bin. Ihr habt immer gewusst, dass ich es schaffe und für dieses unerschütterliche Vertrauen bin ich euch unglaublich dankbar.

Kein Schiff würde eine lange Seereise überstehen gäbe es nicht einen Smutje an Bord. Matti, Du bist mein Smutje im wörtlichen und im übertragenen Sinne: Du bist mein Halt, meine Freude, mein Zuhause. Danke, dass Du mich so geduldig mit dieser Arbeit geteilt hast, mich immer motiviert hast weiterzumachen und dafür gesorgt hast, dass ich das Ziel nicht aus den Augen verliere. DANKE!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstrac	ct	Ι
Zusammenfassung		
Danksagung IV		
List of	Abbrevations	IX
1. Int	roduction	1
1.1	Dissolved organic matter in the ocean	2
1.2	Characterizing marine dissolved organic matter	9
1.3	Processes driving the molecular geography of dissolved org in the global ocean	ganic matter
1.4	Objectives	
1.5	References	
2. Ch	apter: Manuscript I	
2.1	Abstract	
2.2	Introduction	
2.3	Material and methods	40
2.4	Results	45
2.5	Discussion	50
2.6	Conclusion	55
2.7	Acknowledgements	55
2.8	References	56
2.9	Supplementary materials	
3. Ch	apter: Manuscript II	63
3.1	Abstract	65
3.2	Introduction	66
3.3	Material and methods	68
3.4	Results	74
3.5	Discussion	80
3.6	Conclusion	85
3.7	Acknowledgements	86

3.8	References	
4. Cha	pter: Manuscript III	
4.1	Abstract	
4.2	Introduction	
4.3	Material and methods98	
4.4	Results101	
4.5	Discussion 111	
4.6	Conclusion115	
4.7	Acknowledements116	
4.8	References117	
4.9	Supplementary materials	
5. Cor	cluding remarks and perspectives125	
5.1	Concluding remarks	
5.2	Future perspectives	
5.3	References133	
6. Cur	riculum vitae135	
Eidesstattliche Erklärung		

LIST OF ABBREVATIONS

AABW	Antarctic Bottom Water
AAIW	Antarctic Intermediate Water
AASW	Antarctic Surface Water
AI	Aromaticity Index
CDOM	Chromophoric DOM
CDW	Circumpolar Deep Water
Da	Dalton
DOC	Dissolved organic carbon
DOM	Dissolved organic matter
DON	Dissolved organic nitrogen
DOP	Dissolved organic phosphorus
DOS	Dissolved organic sulfur
EMW	Eurafrican Mediterranean Water
FT-ICR-MS	Fourier Transform Ion Cyclotron Resonance Mass Spectrometry
HLNC	High nutrient-low chlorophyll
HMW	High molecular weight
LMW	Low molecular weight
m/z	Mass to charge ratio
NACW	North Atlantic Central Water
NADW	North Atlantic Deep Water
NEqPIW	North Equatorial Pacific Intermediate Water
NPP	Net primary production
РОМ	Particulate organic matter
SACW	South Atlantic Central Water
SASW	Subantarctic Surface Water
SML	Surface mixed layer of the Atlantic
SPE	Solid-phase extraction
STSW	Subtropical Surface Water
TEP	Transparent exopolymer particles
WDW	Weddell Sea Warm Deep Water
WSDW	Weddell Sea Deep Water

1. INTRODUCTION

The global carbon cycle describes the exchange of carbon between the Earth's major carbon reservoirs, i.e. the atmosphere, the ocean, the land and the fossil reservoirs. Fluxes between each reservoir and changes in its size impact the global climate. Due to the fundamental shift in land use and mankind's extensive burning of fossils fuels, large proportions of the fossil reservoir are transferred to the atmosphere in the form of the greenhouse gas CO_2 (Figure 1.1), leading to a changing global climate. The rate at which the atmospheric CO_2 increases is influenced by terrestrial and oceanic processes, which can either act as an additional source or sink of atmospheric CO_2 . About one quarter of the CO_2 produced by anthropogenic activities is dissolved in the ocean (Le Quéré et al., 2015), clearly showing the potential of the ocean in mitigating global climate change.



Figure 1.1 CO₂ budget from 1959 to 2006. The upper panel shows CO₂ emissions to the atmosphere (sources) as the sum of fossil fuel combustion, landuse change, and other emissions, which are primarily from cement production. The lower panel shows the fate of the emitted CO₂, including the increase in atmospheric CO₂ plus the sinks of CO₂ on land and in the ocean. Flux is in Pg y⁻¹ carbon (left axis) and Pg y⁻¹ CO₂ (right axis). Reprinted from Canadell et al. (2007).

One of the largest active carbon pools within the global carbon cycle and subject of key biogeochemical processes in the marine carbon cycle is marine dissolved organic matter (DOM). It is involved in biological processes as supplier of energy and nutrients to marine microorganisms and therefore forms the basis of the marine food web, but it also acts as a long-time carbon storage system in the deep sea, where it resides in mostly biologically inert forms for thousands of years.

The distribution and molecular composition of DOM determine the residence time and biological availability of DOM in the ocean. Hence, deeper knowledge of both, distribution and composition, will enlighten the role of DOM in the global carbon cycle and consequently its function within the global climate cycle. The aim of this thesis is to investigate the molecular DOM composition in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean and to identify factors influencing composition, residence time and biological availability of this important carbon pool. The results will contribute to our understanding of interactions between the DOM pool and the environment (biotically and abiotically) and will add information to the present discussion about how changes in DOM pool size or reactivity will impact other carbon reservoirs on land, in the ocean or the atmosphere (Moran et al., 2016).

1.1 Dissolved organic matter in the ocean

DOM is found in marine and terrestrial ecosystems (i.e. lakes, rivers and soils). The focus of this thesis is on marine DOM and the characteriziation, production and degradation mechanisms of terrestrial DOM are therefore out of scope and not discussed in the following sections.

1.1.1 What is dissolved organic matter?

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) in the ocean is operationally defined as the fraction of organic compounds, which passes through a filter with a pore size of $< 0.7 \mu m$ (Ogawa and Tanoue, 2003). As the term "dissolved" is operationally defined, DOM also includes viruses and small bacteria, which are not retained on the filters. The main elemental constituents of DOM are carbon, oxygen and hydrogen, but other elements such as nitrogen, phosphorus and sulfur are also bound in DOM forming the sub-pools of dissolved organic carbon (DOC), dissolved organic nitrogen (DON), dissolved organic phosphorus (DOP) and dissolved organic sulfur (DOS). The presence of these elements makes DOM an essential source of nutrients to marine organisms.

The ocean holds about 1000 Gt of organic carbon, which is about the same amount as all living biomass in terrestrial ecosystems combined (600 - 1000 Gt; Falkowski et al., 2000). The largest fraction of marine organic carbon is bound in DOM, which holds about 662 Gt of carbon (Hansell, 2013).

As DOC is the principal component of DOM, it can be used as a proxy for DOM concentrations in the ocean. In the surface ocean DOC concentrations are variable, but mostly range between $40 - 80 \ \mu mol \ l^{-1}$ with the highest concentrations in the subtropical and tropical surface ocean due to the strong stratification of the water column, which favors the accumulation of DOM compounds (Hansell et al., 2009). Lowest concentrations of surface DOC are found in the polar regions, where upwelling deep waters with low DOC concentrations mix with surface waters. In the deep sea, DOM concentrations are low and mostly homogenously distributed throughout the global deep ocean with concentrations ~ 40 \mumol l^{-1} (Barber, 1968; Hansell et al., 2009; Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2 Concentration of DOC in the global ocean at 30 m (upper panel) and at 3000 m (lower panel). The dots represent measured concentrations, while the background field is modeled. Reprinted from Hansell et al. (2009).

DON in the surface ocean is the dominant form of nitrogen with concentrations ranging between 2 to 7 μ mol l⁻¹ (Letscher et al., 2013) and decreasing concentrations with depth as nitrate becomes the more abundant form of nitrogen (Torres-Valdés et al., 2009). DOS and DOP are the smallest sub-pools of DOM. Ksionzek et al. (2016) estimated minimum DOS concentrations of $0.31 \pm 0.09 \mu$ mol l⁻¹ in the surface ocean and $0.17 \pm 0.03 \mu$ mol l⁻¹ in the deep ocean with an estimated total inventory of 6.7 Gt. The concentration of DOP is ~ 0.2 μ mol l⁻¹ in the surface ocean and < 0.1 μ mol l⁻¹ in the deep ocean (Karl and Björkman, 2015).

To understand the cycling of DOM in the ocean, several approaches were developed to classify DOM into categories of characteristic features. These categories include the classification along molecule size, origin, reactivity or compound group. The molecule size can be roughly split into two main categories, the high molecular weight compounds (HMW DOM), which have a molecule size of > 1 kDa and the low molecular weight compounds (LMW DOM) with a molecule size < 1 kDa. HMW DOM is mostly found in terrestrial aquatic ecosystems (> 80 % in Amazon River samples; Amon and Benner, 1996), whereas LMW DOM is mostly found in marine ecosystems (65 - 80 %; Ogawa and Tanoue, 2003). Since functional features are not represented by size alone, Amon and Benner (1996) proposed a size continuum model, which accounts for the fact that many DOM fractions sharing a functionality (e.g. the marine gel phase), can span a wide range of sizes classes (Verdugo et al., 2004).

Based on the residence time of DOM in the ocean, DOM can be classified into five main reactivity fractions: labile, semi-labile, semi-refractory, refractory and ultrarefractory DOM (Hansell, 2013). Labile DOM consists of sugars and short-chain organic acids. It is turned over rapidly within minutes to days in the upper water column and does not accumulate in the ocean. Therefore, it is found in very low concentrations (Hansell, 2013) or escapes analytical detection completely. Semi-labile DOM has turnover rates of months to several years and, contrary to labile DOM, can be exported horizontally and vertically from its region of formation (Hansell, 2013). It is observable as seasonal variability in DOC concentrations above the pycnocline in the euphotic zone. Its turnover largely depends on its mo-lecular composition, on nutrient availability and microbial community structure (Carlson et al., 2004). Labile and semi-labile DOM together form the basis of the marine food web in the euphotic zone. After export to the mesopelagic zone, semi-labile DOM fuels the subsurface microbial production (Hansell, 2013). Semi-re-fractory DOM has a turnover time of decades and requires the presence of a permanent pycnocline (Hansell, 2013). It is therefore only observable in strongly stratified water columns such as the Atlantic Ocean. Refractory DOM is the most abundant form of DOM with an inventory of 630 ± 32 Gt and a residence time of millennia (Hansell, 2013). Refractory DOM is ubiquitously found in all water depths (Bauer et al., 1992). Due to the extremely long residence time, it plays a significant role in the global climate cycle. The most stable DOM pool is the ultra-refractory DOM with a pool size of > 12 Gt C and a residence time in the ocean of about 40,000 years (Hansell, 2013). These ultra-stable carbon compounds are thought to be of mostly thermogenic origin and represent the link between the biological and geological realm (Hansell, 2013).

The categorization of DOM into different compound classes can help to gain some insights into structural properties of DOM. Amino acids, carbohydrates, and fatty acids are labile DOM components and can be directly quantified via analytical methods, because their structure is well known. However, as mentioned above, these compounds classes have a very transient nature and often escape analytical detection. If detected, they can give valuable insights into early DOM diagenesis (e.g. Dauwe et al., 1999). Compound classes can also help to trace back the molecules to the place of their production; hence they can be used as biomarkers. Lignin phenols, for example, are a characteristic feature of vascular plants only found in terrestrial ecosystems and are detected in almost all areas of the global ocean (Hernes and Benner, 2006). Another marker compound group is black carbon, which is the product of incomplete combustion and is transported to the ocean via rivers (Dittmar et al., 2012). Black carbon belongs to the pool of ultra-refractory DOM (Hansell, 2013) and accounts for ~ 10 % of the global riverine DOC flux to the ocean (Jaffé et al., 2013).

1.1.2 Sources, turnover and sinks of organic carbon in the ocean

The ultimate source of marine dissolved organic matter (DOM) is primary production in the surface layer of the global ocean. Photoautotrophic organisms in the euphotic zone take up water and CO₂ from the atmosphere and build up biomass using energy from sunlight.

About half of the global net primary production (NPP; 104.9 Gt C year⁻¹) occurs in the global ocean (~ 48 Gt C year⁻¹) with the largest fraction (27.4 Gt C year⁻¹) being produced in the mesotrophic areas (Field et al., 1998). Although the oligotrophic ocean is limited by nutrients, primary production rates are second highest (11 Gt C year⁻¹) due to the vast size of these biogeographic areas (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3 Global annual NPP in g of C per m^2 per year. Global NPP is 104.9 Gt of C year¹, with 46.2 % contributed by the oceans and 53.8 % contributed by the land. Abbreviations: NP = North Pole, EQ = equator, SP = South Pole. Reprinted from Field et al. (1998).

Marine primary production is a highly dynamic process considering that the annual NPP of ~ 48 Gt C is carried out by a phytoplankton biomass of only about 1 Gt (Carr et al., 2006). Most of the fixed carbon is again lost to the atmosphere via respiration (Del Giorgio and Duarte, 2002); the remaining parts are either taken up by organisms of higher trophic levels, transferred to the POM pool or reach the DOM pool via various processes: extracellular release by phytoplankton (e.g.Wetz and Wheeler, 2007), grazing by zooplankton (sloppy feeding; e.g. Nagata and Kirchman, 1992), bacterial and viral cell lysis (e.g. Lønborg et al., 2013), and dissolution of particles and heterotrophic turnover (e.g. Arnosti et al., 2011). Other

sources of DOM to the ocean are fluvial, tidal or riverine input (Dittmar and Stubbins, 2014), but these terrestrial sources play only minor roles in the marine carbon cycle (Hansell et al., 2009; Hansell, 2013).

Due to the small size of individual DOM molecules, DOM is largely unavailable to most marine organisms and its uptake is mostly limited to microorganisms. The microbial loop, in which heterotrophic bacteria utilize DOM to build up biomass, keeps the carbon fixed by primary production within the marine food web (Azam et al., 1983). It also helps to regenerate nutrients, which would otherwise be lost from the food chain. These regenerated nutrients can then fuel production in nutrient-limited ecosystems such as the subtropical gyres.

About a third (~ 16 Gt C) of the global primary production is exported to the deep sea (biological pump; Figure 1.4) and effectively sequestered from the atmosphere for centuries to millennia (Falkowski et al., 1998). Non-living particles (e.g. fecal pellets, dead cells or aggregates, together termed as "marine snow") can be exported from the euphotic layers of the ocean into the deep sea (Alldredge and Silver, 1988) and serve as hot spots for microbial activity (Simon et al., 2002).



Figure 1.4 Map of the annual mean export production of the world ocean. The export production is also termed the biological pump. The influence of coastal upwelling in supporting high export production is especially apparent. Reprinted from Falkowski et al. (1998).

It was hypothesized that bio-resistant molecules are produced as a byproduct of heterotrophic processing of labile DOM within the microbial loop, contributing to the pool of refractory DOM and, thus, to the long-term storage of DOM in the ocean

(Ogawa et al., 2001). This concept was termed the microbial carbon pump (Jiao et al., 2010). Figure 1.5 summarizes the biological sources, sinks and turnover in the marine carbon cycle.



Figure 1.5 Schematic summary of sources, sinks and turnover of marine organic carbon. Carbon, fixed by phytoplankton, is either respired, taken up by organisms of higher trophic levels, dissolved and channeled into the DOM pool or exported to the deep sea via POM (biological pump). Within the microbial loop, microorganisms take up carbon from the DOM and POM pool keeping the energy in the marine food web and regenerating nutrients. During photosynthesis, at higher trophic levels and within the microbial loop carbon is lost from the marine carbon pool via respiration. The microbial carbon pump is the conceptual framework summarizing microbial processes producing refractory DOM, which is mostly bio-resistant and remains in the ocean over thousands of years. Reprinted from Buchan et al. (2014).

Along with biological mechanisms acting as sinks for organic carbon in the ocean, several abiotic processes modify DOM, which is either lost from the DOM pool or transformed. These processes include the adsorption to particles (Satterberg et al.,

2003) and photodegradation (Mopper et al., 1991). It has been shown that photodegradation of DOM can act as a sink for DOM (Moran et al., 2000), enhance (Moran and Zepp, 1997) or reduce the biological availability (Naganuma et al., 1996), or can have no impact at all (Thomas and Lara, 1995). The fundamentally different conclusions from these studies show that photodegradation is a very complex process with no clear outcome and no specific signature in the molecular DOM composition. Tranvik and Bertilsson (2001) found that the impact of photodegradation is directly linked to DOM origin and quality and may differ between DOM compound classes (e.g. humic substances and algal-derived DOM). The abiotic formation of aggregates and gels (e.g. TEP) constitutes another removal mechanism of DOM (Alldredge et al., 1993). Larger particles formed by aggregation of DOM can bridge the gap between DOM and POM. Analogous to the microbial loop, this "abiotic loop" keeps the energy within the marine food web as the aggregates are large enough to be taken up by marine organisms.

1.2 Characterizing marine dissolved organic matter

The characterization of DOM is a challenging task, since its molecular composition consists of presumably millions of different compounds (Dittmar, 2015) with an even higher number of potential structural isomers (Hertkorn et al., 2008). Several compound classes with known structures can be targeted separately such as amino acids, sugars and short-chain fatty acids, but these quantifiable organic compounds account for less than 2 % of bulk DOM in the deep sea (Kaiser and Benner, 2009). The approaches for studying the marine DOM cycle include the characterization of bulk DOM (DOC concentration, isotopic composition and optical properties) as well as ultrahigh-resolution techniques aiming at elucidating the DOM composition on the molecular level. In the following chapters the discussion is limited to the isotopic characteristics of DOM, the ultrahigh-resolution mass spectrometric analysis of DOM and the statistical approaches used for DOM data evaluation. The discussed features and techniques were either applied in this thesis or relevant for data interpretation, but this discussion is by no means exhaustive and should rather provide an overview over current scientific approaches. For further information about the optical properties of DOM (chromophoric DOM (CDOM) and fluorescent DOM (FDOM)) and photochemical processes see Mopper et al. (2015). For a comprehensive review on current analytical techniques for characterizing DOM see Nebbioso and Piccolo (2013).

1.2.1 Isotopic characteristics of DOM

Carbon has two stable isotopes, the abundant and lighter ¹²C and the less abundant and heavier ¹³C. The atmospheric CO₂ contains 98.9 % ¹²C and 1.1 % ¹³C (Farquhar et al., 1989). During photosynthesis, ¹²CO₂ is preferably used, but some phototrophic organisms use both isotopes in slightly different proportions. This imbalance leads to different isotope ratios (δ^{13} C) characteristic for specific types of phototrophs providing information about what type of plant fixed a given organic molecule. The most significant differences in δ^{13} C occur between classes of C3 and C4 land plants (-33 ‰ to -24 ‰ for C3 plants and -16 ‰ to -10 ‰ for C4 plants). Fixed carbon from terrestrial ecosystems with these specific isotope signatures can be transported via rivers to the ocean.

The lowest δ^{13} C values with up to -28 ‰ are found for marine DOM produced in polar waters, which is, due to the high pCO₂ in polar regions, favoring greater autotrophic fractionation and the production of ¹³C-depleted organics (Rau et al., 1982). Excluding the low δ^{13} C DOM values in polar waters, the variance in δ^{13} C is only between -23 ‰ and -18 ‰ for marine DOM. This small range makes it very difficult to distinguish DOM sources in the global ocean. However, the great difference between δ^{13} C values of DOM produced in terrestrial ecosystems and marine DOM makes δ^{13} C a great tool to distinguish marine from terrestrial sources.

In addition to the two stable isotopes, carbon also has a radioactive isotope (¹⁴C). Radiocarbon is produced at constant rates in the upper atmosphere when cosmic rays enter the atmosphere and collide with atoms producing free neutrons. These neutrons are absorbed by nitrogen atoms to produce ¹⁴C and protons. Due to its radioactive nature, radiocarbon decays with a half-life of 5730 ± 40 years (Godwin, 1962) and is therefore a valuable tool in estimating the age of carbon-containing materials. An autotrophic organism takes up atmospheric CO₂ and its isotopic signature is therefore the same as the surrounding atmosphere. Once the organism dies, this exchange stops and due to its radioactive nature, the ¹⁴C content decreases while

the stable ¹²C content remains the same. This drop in the ratio between ¹⁴C and ¹²C is expressed as Δ^{14} C and measured in part per million (ppm). The lower the ratio, the older the organic remains of an organism. Because the atmospheric production of ¹⁴C is relatively constant, it is assumed that the production rate was constant in the past. However, the testing of nuclear bombs in the 1950s and 1960s lead to an abrupt rise in atmospheric ¹⁴C. Hence, the age of a carbon pool is given as years before present (ybp) with a correction for anthropogenically produced radiocarbon.

DOM is a complex mixture of thousands of different compounds, all possibly having different ages. The bulk ¹⁴C age of any given DOM sample is therefore only an average of all the compound ages present in that sample. In general, Δ^{14} C values of DOM are highest in the surface waters (youngest material) and lowest in the deep sea (oldest material). However, Δ^{14} C values in the surface DOM never reach the value of atmospheric CO₂ indicating that surface DOM consists of a mixture of freshly produced DOM and older deep sea DOM. The analysis of DOM from the deep Pacific revealed a radiocarbon age of > 3000 ybp (Williams et al., 1969), exceeding the time a water parcel needs to fulfill a full transit of the thermohaline circulation. This exceptionally high age gave a first indication that some DOM molecules are biologically inert and are effectively removed from active cycling for the time of millennia.

1.2.2 Ultrahigh-resolution mass spectrometry

Most chemical approaches (e.g. chromatography) can separate the DOM pool into DOM sub-pools of the same physicochemical properties (i.e. polarity or molecule size), whereas DOM appears to be physically inseparable on the molecular level so far (Dittmar and Stubbins, 2014). This property makes it difficult to study the turn-over on the level of individual compounds. The advent of ultrahigh-resolution mass spectrometry made it possible for the first time to resolve the complex mixture of DOM on the bulk level (Koch et al., 2007). Fourier-transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry (FT-ICR-MS) is capable of resolving the mass of an intact DOM molecule with an accuracy of less than 0.1 mDa (Dittmar and Stubbins, 2014). For comparison, the mass of an electron is 0.5 mDa. If FT-ICR-MS is used with soft ionization techniques, it can be used to detect thousands of different DOM

molecules simultaneously, making upstream chromatographic methods superfluous.

The analysis via FT-ICR-MS requires the concentration and desalting of oceanic water samples because salt disturbs analytical detection. Dittmar et al. (2008) proposed a simple solid-phase extraction (SPE) method which makes sample handling easy and allows for a high sample throughput even for ship-based sampling campaigns. DOM analysis via FT-ICR-MS enabled the identification of molecular formulae of more than 10,000 different compounds in marine DOM (Hertkorn et al., 2006). Most of the molecules detected via FT-ICR-MS are small molecules with masses between 250 - 650 Da (Figure 1.6) and are therefore small enough to be taken up directly by microorganisms (Carlson et al., 2007). Although FT-ICR-MS provides new insights into the complexity of DOM, the mass spectrometric data is restricted to information about molecular masses and formulae with only limited information about the molecular structure behind the detected molecules. The lack of structural information makes it impossible to determine the exact number of structural isomers behind each detected molecular formula. A first approach for estimating the number of structural isomers in marine DOM via fragmentation, however, clearly showed that behind 10,000 detected molecular formulae more than 100,000 different compounds may be hidden (Zark et al., 2017).



Figure 1.6 One liter of deep seawater contains water, inorganic salts, POM, and DOM. Less than 1 % of DOM consists of directly measurable intact moieties such as organic acids and sugars. About 20 - 40 % of the complete DOM pool is lost from the analytical window. Of the remaining 60 - 80 % of DOM, another 5 % become accessible after hydrolysis or oxidation and molecular building blocks such as neutral sugars, benzenepolycarboxylic acids (BPCAs), amino acids and sugars and lignin-derived phenols can by analyzed via HPLC. The remaining ~ 95 % can be characterized on the molecular level via FT-ICR-MS after concentration and desalting. Modified after Dittmar and Stubbins (2014).

A helpful tool to extract basic information from the molecular analysis via FT-ICR-MS is the Van Krevelen diagram. Based on FT-ICR-MS molecular data, the atomic ratios of hydrogen to carbon (H/C) and oxygen to carbon (O/C) can be calculated for all molecular formulae and plotted against each other in a Van Krevelen diagram. This graphical evaluation of the molecular data gives first indications about compound characteristics of the molecular data (Figure 1.7).



Figure 1.7 Schematic Van Krevelen plot of molecular DOM data. Shaded areas indicate regions where compounds of individual biomolecular building blocks occur. The arrow designates a pathway for a condensation reaction. Reprinted from Kim et al. (2003).

Other tools for extracting information from mass spectrometric DOM data is the calculation of the double bound equivalent (DBE) and the aromaticity index (AI; Koch and Dittmar, 2006). They help to identify aromatics and condensed aromatics in DOM solely from individual molecular formulae. With the information obtained by the elemental composition, the atomic H/C and O/C ratios and the aromaticity index, mass spectrometric molecular data can be classified into compound groups such as peptide-like compounds, carbohydrate-like compounds, saturated fatty acids, unsaturated aliphatic compounds, highly unsaturated compounds, phenols and polyphenols (Romano et al., 2014). However, this classification is not unambiguous and other structures may exist for any compound assigned to one of these groups.

1.2.3 Statistical methods in DOM research

Identifying significant trends in a sample set is difficult considering the amount of data provided by ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometry. For example, the data set collected to conduct this thesis comprises > 350 DOM samples with > 3000 molecular formulae identified per sample resulting in a dataset of more than 1,000,000 data points. To extract information from large data sets such as this, multivariate statistical approaches are often used in DOM research (e.g. Lechtenfeld et al., 2014; Sleighter et al., 2010). Multivariate statistical methods can help to reduce

data complexity by identifying major patterns and may also simplify graphical visualization. There are numerous statistical methods available and the application of specific methods to any given data set is driven by the structure of the data set and the scientific question. A review of statistical methods in microbial ecology was published by Ramette (2007) and most of the approaches can also be applied in DOM research.

The main tool used in this thesis is the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity (Bray and Curtis, 1957). The Bray-Curtis dissimilarity is a non-Euclidian measure, which means that it does not conform to the physical concept of distance (the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity is therefore non-metric). It is often used when analyzing ecological abundance data from different sample locations, because it quantifies the differences between samples. When applying the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity to DOM data, the mass spectrometric data is used in the same sense than ecological data, where samples are the observed entities and the peak intensities represent the abundance of single species. Hence, each observed compound signal is treated as a single species, which may be absent or present in specific abundances in different samples depending on environmental conditions, sampling location or biological influencing factors such as microbial community composition.

The Bray-Curtis dissimilarity assumes values between 0 and 1, with two samples being completely identical when the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity is 0 and completely different if the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity is 1. When transformed into percentage, it gives the percental value of difference between two samples. The Bray-Curtis dissimilarity (*d*) between two samples *a* and *b* is calculated as follows, supposing that n_{aj} and n_{bj} are the peak intensities in sample *a* and *b* and n_{a+} and n_{b+} the sum of the all peak intensities in the respective sample:

$$d_{ab} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{J} |n_{aj} - n_{bj}|}{n_{a+} + n_{b+}}$$
(1)

1.3 Processes driving the molecular geography of dissolved organic matter in the global ocean

The term "molecular geography of DOM" describes the distribution of DOM molecules in geographic space in relation to the respective environmental conditions, analogous to the concept of biogeography (study of species and ecosystems in geographic space). It aims at identifying patterns in the molecular DOM composition representative for e.g. water masses, nutrient availability and microbial community composition in the ocean. The focus of this thesis is the molecular geography of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. Most of the processes shaping the DOM molecular geography in the ocean are not confined to the Atlantic and Southern Ocean, but occur in various marine environments. For this reason, the results of several studies targeting specific processes, which influence the molecular geography in the global ocean, are summarized in this chapter.

1.3.1 Physicochemical properties of the Atlatic and Southern Ocean

The Atlantic Ocean is characterized by a strong stratification of the water column, which is driven by high temperatures and salinity gradients. The Southern Ocean on the other hand is well mixed with almost uniformly lower salinities and temperatures. Due to the mixing, surface waters in the Southern Ocean containing higher DOC concentrations are diluted with deep sea waters carrying lower DOC concentrations, resulting in largely uniform DOC concentrations throughout the water column (Hansell et al., 2009). DOM in the Atlantic Ocean, however, can accumulate above the seasonal and permanent pycnocline, which leads to high DOC concentrations in the surface waters. In contrast to the Southern Ocean, where DOM export is mainly directed vertically, DOC in the Atlantic Ocean can be exported vertically as well as horizontally (Hansell, 2013) and therefore fuels microbial production in nutrient-depleted environments (Torres-Valdés et al., 2009).

1.3.2 DOM in the euphotic water layer

Most of the DOM production occurs in the surface water masses. Hence, DOM concentration and composition is highly variable there and influenced by nutrient availability, microbial community composition, and other environmental factors. Phytoplankton communities produce and release a large suite of several hundreds of different organic molecules (Becker et al., 2014; Bittar et al., 2015) into the water column, all of which are channeled through the microbial loop on very short time spans. Since the demand of these labile compounds is larger than their supply, their

detection against the background of the more persistent DOM fractions is challenging. The chemical characteristics of the phytoplankton-derived DOM vary with the growth stage of the cells (Barofsky et al., 2009) and the producing taxa, but closely related phytoplankton strains tend to produce organic compound suites of a more similar chemical composition (Becker et al., 2014). About 20 % of the photosynthetically fixed carbon is excreted via extracellular release into the DOM pool (Marañón et al., 2005), underlining the importance of phytoplankton-derived DOM for fueling secondary production. Some of the DOM compounds produced by phytoplankton are more resistant to microbial oxidation and may remain in the surface ocean on longer timescales (Aluwihare and Repeta, 1999). Phytoplankton-derived DOM is the basis of bacterial production in the upper ocean; bacterial transformations then increase the molecular diversity of the DOM pool, partly because many bacterially-produced DOM compounds are synthesized for purposes beyond the cell wall (e.g. extracellular enzymes; Moran et al., 2016). A study targeting the ecological significance of a bacterial strain found that it solely consumed all labile DOC within 5 days of a laboratory experiment, whereas a more diverse assemblage continued to degrade semi-labile DOC during the remaining time span of the experiment (> one year), showing that microbes can have a multitude of metabolic capabilities and ecological functions with different impacts on the marine carbon cycle (Pedler et al., 2014). A study targeting the carbon flow between phytoplankton species and heterotrophic microorganisms suggests that although some bacterial groups are highly specialized in assimilating specific substrates, the direct carbon flow between phytoplankton species and the majority of the microbial community is rather weak indicating that the substrate diversity promotes the observed bacterial diversity in the open ocean (Sarmento and Gasol, 2012). In the coastal ocean, metagenomic analysis indicates that most of the microbial species are generalists with the capability of processing a large variety of substrates (Mou et al., 2008). All these studies show the diversity of phyto- and bacterioplankton interactions and the variety of DOM transformation processes shaping the DOM molecular composition in the surface ocean, but to date the picture is by no means complete. Particularly the fact that the specific substrate requirements for most heterotrophic marine microbes are not known so far, including many of the most abundant marine bacteria and archaea, complicates our understanding of the cycling of DOM in the ocean (DeLong et al., 2006; Morris et al., 2002). With the development of the "omics" tools (i.e. genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics), large amounts of data are now available to study the links between phytoplankton and bacterial communities and the DOM pool (e.g. McCarren et al., 2010; Osterholz et al., 2016; Poretsky et al., 2010).

DOM produced in the euphotic zone of the ocean is not only subject to biological transformation processes, but is also abiotically transformed by photochemical reactions. Some fractions of the DOM pool are converted into inorganic carbon compounds (dissolved inorganic carbon and carbon monoxide) and therefore lost from the DOM pool. Other fractions are transformed from refractory into bioavailable forms of DOM and subsequently turned over by marine microorganisms (Bushaw-Newton and Moran, 1999; Miller and Moran, 1997). But also, the opposite transformation has been observed: The conversion of bioavailable into bio-resistant forms removing DOM from the most active carbon cycle (Benner and Biddanda, 1998). Photochemical modifications of DOM can also lead to the loss of color and therefore alter the optical properties of sea water and the penetration depth of ultraviolet and photosynthetically active wavelengths (Vodacek et al., 1997). This change in light regime can have positive as well as negative effects on the marine microbial activity (Herndl et al., 1997). Stedmon and Markager (2005) studied the production and utilization of photoactive DOM in a laboratory-based experiment. They found that the nutrient regime had a significant influence on the quality of the produced DOM and that photodegradation was an important sink for microbially derived humic material. DOM molecules produced during photodegradation are mostly aliphatic compounds and the overall DOM pool shows a decrease of structural diversity in the molecular DOM composition (Stubbins et al., 2010). DOM compounds containing nitrogen seem to be exceptionally photo-labile as shown by photodegradation experiments with deep sea DOM (Stubbins and Dittmar, 2015). The release of nitrogen-rich compounds from DOM during photochemical transformation fuels bacterial productivity in the surface ocean by providing nutrients to nitrogen-limited environments (Bushaw et al., 1996).

Although DON serves as a source of nitrogen to many marine organisms (Bronk et al., 1994), biological turnover can also transform it to biologically inert forms,

which are stable in the deep sea over long timescales (McCarthy et al., 1997). Letscher et al. (2013) found that some DON fractions in the surface ocean seem to be recalcitrant to microbial utilization, but when exposed to a microbial community in the mesopelagic, DON remineralization occurred, emphasizing that DON cycling in the ocean is strongly influenced by the prevailing microbial community composition. DON cycling seems to be partly decoupled from bulk DOM cycling as indicated by a different C:N production and decomposition stoichiometry of labile and refractory DOM (199:20 and 3511:202, respectively; Hopkinson and Vallino, 2005).

1.3.3 Long-term stability of DOM in the deep ocean

DOM is the basis of most marine food webs. However, a small fraction escapes rapid mineralization and accumulates as refractory DOM in the global ocean (Hansell, 2013). Marine microorganisms can produce refractory DOM that persists in the ocean on long timescales (Lechtenfeld et al., 2015; Ogawa et al., 2001). Osterholz et al. (2015) showed experimentally that a phytoplankton and microbial community taken from the coastal North Sea channeled <0.4 % of its net community production (NCP) into the refractory DOM pool and further produced DOM compounds, which are molecularly indistinguishable from refractory DOM but vary in relative abundance. In the deep sea, where water masses have long been separated from the productive surface layers, DOM removal processes are rather slow, which is also reflected in the uniformly low DOC concentrations (Figure 1.2 lower panel). Lechtenfeld et al. (2014) studied SPE-extracted DOM in the Eastern Atlantic and Southern Ocean and found residence times of ~ 100 ka for some DOM compounds emphasizing the long-term stability of DOM in the ocean. Although water masses carry characteristic microbial communities (e.g. Agogué et al., 2011), DOM on the molecular level seems to be exceptionally similar, lacking any specific imprint of characteristic microbial communities (Hansman et al., 2015). A degradation index (Ideg) introduced by Flerus et al. (2012) revealed a degradation continuum for SPE-DOM samples in the eastern Atlantic with varying degradation rates for different DOM compounds. This explains the contrast between the bulk age of the DOM pool of 4000 – 6000 years (Druffel et al., 1992) and the exceptional high residence times of individual compounds (Lechtenfeld et al., 2014). Recent studies

on the age of DOC (Druffel and Bauer, 2000) and the molecular DOM composition (Hansman et al., 2015) suggest that most DOM is transported conservatively along the global conveyer belt and variations in composition are due to the conservative mixing of different water masses. Hansell and Carlson (2013) postulated regional DOM sinks in the deep sea, which account for the small DOC concentration differences along the global conveyer belt. Slow biological DOM transformation processes in the deep sea, however, change the molecular composition, as seen by a close correlation between the apparent oxygen utilization (AOU) and the production of chromophoric dissolved organic matter (CDOM) as a byproduct of the oxidation of organic matter from sinking particles in the deep Pacific (Nelson et al., 2010).

Considering the large amount of nutrients stored in DOM and its importance as substrate for heterotrophic microorganisms, it is surprising that DOM exists in the observed high concentrations and is persistent over exceptionally long time spans. This paradox situation, in which marine organisms are surrounded by an excess concentration of substrate without using it on a millennial time scale, has puzzled oceanographers for a long time and the mechanisms behind this long-term stability of DOM are still not very well understood. Benner and Amon (2015) provided a conceptual framework for linking DOM decomposition with size, reactivity, complexity and age with the size-reactivity continuum model: A decrease in reactivity and size (spanning the range from aggregates to LMW DOM molecules) goes along with an increase in complexity and age. Mentges et al. (2017) showed that the functional diversity in open ocean DOM decreases with increasing degradation state. In this study, the term "functional diversity" does not refer to the diversity of functional groups in a chemical sense. It is rather used in an ecological context, where the authors assume that compounds reacting in a similar way also share similar chemical properties. Combining the size-reactivity continuum model (Benner and Amon, 2015) with the findings of Mentges et al. (2017) it can be concluded that although complexity of organic material increases with degradation, the ecological functionality and therefore the biological reactivity of DOM decreases significantly. However, the decrease in functional diversity does not imply a decrease in structural diversity in DOM (Mentges et al., 2017).

Dittmar (2015) summarized the current hypotheses as to why DOM accumulates in the ocean: First, the "environment hypothesis" attributes the long-term stability of DOM to environmental factors such as the lack of nutrients, essential metabolites (vitamins) or electron acceptors. Environmental factors, however, only preserve DOM on shorter timescales (< 10 years), because a shift in environmental conditions can lead to a decomposition of DOM (Carlson et al., 2002). Second, the "intrinsic stability hypothesis" links DOM stability to its inherent molecular structure. Biotic (e.g. Ogawa et al., 2001) or abiotic transformation (e.g. Dittmar and Paeng, 2009) processes form refractory DOM compounds, which are no longer available as substrate leading to the accumulation of bio-resistant DOM in the global ocean. Third, the "molecular diversity hypothesis" accounts for the fact that DOM is a complex mixture of possibly thousands of different compounds (Dittmar and Stubbins, 2014) with an even higher number of structural isomers, each present at very low concentrations (Zark et al., 2017). Although the total concentration of DOM is high enough in the deep sea, the concentration of a single suitable substrate compound might be so low that a heterotrophic cell only rarely encounters it, limiting its assimilation and decomposition (Dittmar, 2015). Arrieta et al. (2015) could indeed show that refractory deep sea DOM induced microbial growth if present in higher than in situ concentrations leading to the conclusion that concentration rather than recalcitrance limits microbial turnover in the deep sea. If extreme dilution of single substrates is the driving factor behind the stability of DOM in the deep sea, the addition of freshly produced compounds in the sunlit surface layers should elevate substrate concentration levels above the respective threshold, causing a simultaneous degradation of fresh and old DOM (Middelburg, 2015). Based on radiocarbon dating of bacterial nucleic acids, the co-cycling of older and younger DOM has been shown for the eastern North Pacific (Cherrier et al., 1999). Definite empirical evidence whether none, one or a combination of the above described hypotheses drives the millennial stability of DOM is still open to the debate (Dittmar, 2015).

1.4 Objectives

DOM is the largest and most active pool of organic carbon in the ocean and the basis for all marine life. The two most important ecosystem functions of this highly diverse pool of organic carbon are (1) the maintenance of microbial production and thereby keeping the energy fixed via photosynthesis in the marine food web and (2) the long-term storage and sequestration of organic carbon in the deep sea and consequently removing it from the active carbon cycle, which directly influences the global climate. The turnover time of DOM varies between minutes to millennia and the factors determining the stability of DOM compounds in the environment are subject of current research (see chapter 1.3).

Over a distance spanning more than 15,000 km – including polar, subpolar, temperate, subtropical and tropical biogeographic provinces – a comprehensive data set of > 350 DOM samples from various water depths was collected in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean for ultrahigh resolution analysis of the molecular DOM composition. The detailed molecular characterization of marine DOM gives valuable insights into the distribution patterns of DOM molecules. Knowing their distribution is key to understanding their role in biogeochemical processes. Hence, this thesis investigates the following superordinate research question:

What drives the molecular geography in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean?

Specifically, the following hypotheses are addressed:

1. Photodegradation and bioproduction leave characteristic imprints in the DOM molecular composition of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean.

MANUSCRIPT I: "Natural transformation of marine dissolved organic matter: Process-related molecular indices for bioproduction and photodegradation."

2. Water mass mixing drives the molecular geography of DOM in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean.

MANUSCRIPT II: "The molecular geography of dissolved organic matter in the Atlantic Ocean can largely be explained by a simple two-source mixing model."
3. The distribution of DON in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean depends mostly on nutrient availability and microbial community composition.

MANUSCRIPT III: "Molecular geography of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean: Distribution patterns of organically bound dissolved nitrogen and biogeochemical implications."

1.5 References

- Agogué, H., Lamy, D., Neal, P.R., Sogin, M.L. and Herndl, G.J., 2011. Water massspecificity of bacterial communities in the North Atlantic revealed by massively parallel sequencing. Molecular Ecology 20, 258-274.
- Alldredge, A.L., Passow, U. and Logan, B.E., 1993. The abundance and significance of a class of large, transparent organic particles in the ocean. Deep Sea Research Part I 40, 1131-1140.
- Alldredge, A.L. and Silver, M.W., 1988. Characteristics, dynamics and significance of marine snow. Progress in Oceanography 20, 41-82.
- Aluwihare, L. and Repeta, D., 1999. A comparison of the chemical characteristics of oceanic DOM and extracellular DOM produced by marine algae. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 105-117.
- Amon, R.M. and Benner, R., 1996. Bacterial utilization of different size classes of dissolved organic matter. Limnology and Oceanography 41, 41-51.
- Arnosti, C., Steen, A.D., Ziervogel, K., Ghobrial, S. and Jeffrey, W.H., 2011. Latitudinal gradients in degradation of marine dissolved organic carbon. PLoS One 6, e28900.
- Arrieta, J.M., Mayol, E., Hansman, R.L., Herndl, G.J., Dittmar, T. and Duarte, C.M., 2015. Dilution limits dissolved organic carbon utilization in the deep ocean. Science 348, 331-333.
- Azam, F., Fenchel, T., Field, J.G., Gray, J., Meyer-Reil, L. and Thingstad, F., 1983.The ecological role of water-column microbes in the sea. Marine EcologyProgress Series 10, 257-263
- Barber, R.T., 1968. Dissolved organic carbon from deep waters resists microbial oxidation. Nature 220, 274-275
- Barofsky, A., Vidoudez, C. and Pohnert, G., 2009. Metabolic profiling reveals growth stage variability in diatom exudates. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 7, 382-390.

- Bauer, J.E., Williams, P.M. and Druffel, E.R.M., 1992. ¹⁴C activity of dissolved organic carbon fractions in the north-central Pacific and Sargasso Sea. Nature 357, 667-670.
- Becker, J.W., Berube, P.M., Follett, C.L., Waterbury, J.B., Chisholm, S.W., DeLong, E.F. and Repeta, D.J., 2014. Closely related phytoplankton species produce similar suites of dissolved organic matter. Frontiers in Microbiology 5, 111.
- Benner, R. and Amon, R.M., 2015. The size-reactivity continuum of major bioelements in the ocean. Annual Review of Marine Science 7, 185-205.
- Benner, R. and Biddanda, B., 1998. Photochemical transformations of surface and deep marine dissolved organic matter: Effects on bacterial growth. Limnology and Oceanography 43, 1373-1378.
- Bittar, T.B., Vieira, A.A., Stubbins, A. and Mopper, K., 2015. Competition between photochemical and biological degradation of dissolved organic matter from the cyanobacteria Microcystis aeruginosa. Limnology and Oceanography 60, 1172-1194.
- Bray, J.R. and Curtis, J.T., 1957. An ordination of the upland forest communities of southern Wisconsin. Ecological Monographs 27, 325-349.
- Bronk, D.A., Glibert, P.M. and Ward, B.B., 1994. Nitrogen uptake, dissolved organic nitrogen release, and new production. Science 265, 1843-1846.
- Buchan, A., LeCleir, G.R., Gulvik, C.A. and González, J.M., 2014. Master recyclers: features and functions of bacteria associated with phytoplankton blooms. Nature Reviews Microbiology 12, 686-698.
- Bushaw-Newton, K.L. and Moran, M.A., 1999. Photochemical formation of biologically available nitrogen from dissolved humic substances in coastal marine systems. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 18, 285-292.
- Bushaw, K.L., Zepp, R.G. and Tarr, M.A., 1996. Photochemical release of biologically available nitrogen from aquatic dissolved organic matter. Nature 381, 404-407.

- Canadell, J.G., Le Quéré, C., Raupach, M.R., Field, C.B., Buitenhuis, E.T., Ciais, P., Conway, T.J., Gillett, N.P., Houghton, R. and Marland, G., 2007. Contributions to accelerating atmospheric CO₂ growth from economic activity, carbon intensity, and efficiency of natural sinks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences104, 18866-18870.
- Carlson, C.A., Del Giorgio, P.A. and Herndl, G.J., 2007. Microbes and the dissipation of energy and respiration: from cells to ecosystems. Oceanography 20, 89-100.
- Carlson, C.A., Giovannoni, S.J., Hansell, D.A., Goldberg, S.J., Parsons, R., Otero, M.P., Vergin, K. and Wheeler, B.R., 2002. Effect of nutrient amendments on bacterioplankton production, community structure, and DOC utilization in the northwestern Sargasso Sea. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 30, 19-36.
- Carlson, C.A., Giovannoni, S.J., Hansell, D.A., Goldberg, S.J., Parsons, R. and Vergin, K., 2004. Interactions among dissolved organic carbon, microbial processes, and community structure in the mesopelagic zone of the northwestern Sargasso Sea. Limnology and Oceanography 49, 1073-1083.
- Carr, M.-E., Friedrichs, M.A., Schmeltz, M., Aita, M.N., Antoine, D., Arrigo, K.R., Asanuma, I., Aumont, O., Barber, R. and Behrenfeld, M., 2006. A comparison of global estimates of marine primary production from ocean color. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 53, 741-770.
- Cherrier, J., Bauer, J.E., Druffel, E.R., Coffin, R.B. and Chanton, J.P., 1999. Radiocarbon in marine bacteria: Evidence for the ages of assimilated carbon. Limnology and Oceanography 44, 730-736.
- Dauwe, B., Middelburg, J.J., Herman, P.M.J. and Heip, C.H.R., 1999. Linking diagenetic alteration of amino acids and bulk organic matter reactivity. Limnology and Oceanography 44, 1809-1814.
- Del Giorgio, P.A. and Duarte, C.M., 2002. Respiration in the open ocean. Nature 420, 379-384.
- DeLong, E.F., Preston, C.M., Mincer, T., Rich, V., Hallam, S.J., Frigaard, N.-U., Martinez, A., Sullivan, M.B., Edwards, R. and Brito, B.R., 2006. Community

genomics among stratified microbial assemblages in the ocean's interior. Science 311, 496-503.

- Dittmar, T., 2015. Reasons behind the long-term stability of dissolved organic matter, in: Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A., (Eds.), The biogeochemistry of marine dissolved organic matter, 2nd edition. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 369-388.
- Dittmar, T., De Rezende, C.E., Manecki, M., Niggemann, J., Ovalle, A.R.C., Stubbins, A. and Bernardes, M.C., 2012. Continuous flux of dissolved black carbon from a vanished tropical forest biome. Nature Geoscience 5, 618-622.
- Dittmar, T., Koch, B., Hertkorn, N. and Kattner, G., 2008. A simple and efficient method for the solid-phase extraction of dissolved organic matter (SPE-DOM) from seawater. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 6, 230-235.
- Dittmar, T. and Paeng, J., 2009. A heat-induced molecular signature in marine dissolved organic matter. Nature Geoscience 2, 175-179.
- Dittmar, T. and Stubbins, A., 2014. Dissolved organic matter in aquatic systems, in: Birrer, B., Falkowski, P., Freeman, K., (Eds.), Treatise of Geochemistry, 2nd edition. Academic Press, Oxford, pp. 125–156.
- Druffel, E.R.M. and Bauer, J.E., 2000. Radiocarbon distributions in Southern Ocean dissolved and particulate organic matter. Geophysical Research Letters 27, 1495-1498.
- Druffel, E.R.M., Williams, P.M., Bauer, J.E. and Ertel, J.R., 1992. Cycling of dissolved and particulate organic matter in the open ocean. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans 97, 15639-15659.
- Falkowski, P., Scholes, R., Boyle, E., Canadell, J., Canfield, D., Elser, J., Gruber, N., Hibbard, K., Högberg, P. and Linder, S., 2000. The global carbon cycle: a test of our knowledge of earth as a system. Science 290, 291-296.
- Falkowski, P.G., Barber, R.T. and Smetacek, V., 1998. Biogeochemical controls and feedbacks on ocean primary production. Science, 281, 200-206.
- Farquhar, G.D., Ehleringer, J.R. and Hubick, K.T., 1989. Carbon isotope discrimination and photosynthesis. Annual review of plant biology 40, 503-537.

- Field, C.B., Behrenfeld, M.J., Randerson, J.T. and Falkowski, P., 1998. Primary production of the biosphere: integrating terrestrial and oceanic components. Science 281, 237-240.
- Flerus, R., Lechtenfeld, O., Koch, B.P., McCallister, S., Schmitt-Kopplin, P., Benner, R., Kaiser, K. and Kattner, G., 2012. A molecular perspective on the ageing of marine dissolved organic matter. Biogeosciences 9, 1935-1955.
- Godwin, H., 1962. Half-life of radiocarbon. Nature 195, 984.
- Hansell, D., Carlson, C., Repeta, D. and Schlitzer, R., 2009. Dissolved organic matter in the ocean: New insights stimulated by a controversy. Oceanography 22, 202-211.
- Hansell, D.A., 2013. Recalcitrant Dissolved Organic Carbon Fractions. Annual Review of Marine Science 5, 421-445.
- Hansell, D.A. and Carlson, C.A., 2013. Localized refractory dissolved organic carbon sinks in the deep ocean. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 27, 705-710.
- Hansman, R.L., Dittmar, T. and Herndl, G.J., 2015. Conservation of dissolved organic matter molecular composition during mixing of the deep water masses of the northeast Atlantic Ocean. Marine Chemistry 177, 288-297.
- Herndl, G.J., Brugger, A., Hager, S., Kaiser, E., Obernosterer, I., Reitner, B. and Slezak, D., 1997. Role of ultraviolet-B radiation on bacterioplankton and the availability of dissolved organic matter. Plant Ecology 128, 43-51.
- Hernes, P.J. and Benner, R., 2006. Terrigenous organic matter sources and reactivity in the North Atlantic Ocean and a comparison to the Arctic and Pacific oceans. Marine Chemistry 100, 66-79.
- Hertkorn, N., Benner, R., Frommberger, M., Schmitt-Kopplin, P., Witt, M., Kaiser, K., Kettrup, A. and Hedges, J.I., 2006. Characterization of a major refractory component of marine dissolved organic matter. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 70, 2990-3010.
- Hertkorn, N., Frommberger, M., Witt, M., Koch, B., Schmitt-Kopplin, P. and Perdue, E., 2008. Natural organic matter and the event horizon of mass spectrometry. Analytical Chemistry 80, 8908-8919.

- Hopkinson, C.S. and Vallino, J.J., 2005. Efficient export of carbon to the deep ocean through dissolved organic matter. Nature 433, 142-145.
- Jaffé, R., Ding, Y., Niggemann, J., Vähätalo, A.V., Stubbins, A., Spencer, R.G., Campbell, J. and Dittmar, T., 2013. Global charcoal mobilization from soils via dissolution and riverine transport to the oceans. Science 340, 345-347.
- Jiao, N., Herndl, G.J., Hansell, D.A., Benner, R., Kattner, G., Wilhelm, S.W., Kirchman, D.L., Weinbauer, M.G., Luo, T., Chen, F. and Azam, F., 2010. Microbial production of recalcitrant dissolved organic matter: long-term carbon storage in the global ocean. Nature Reviews Microbiology 8, 593-599.
- Kaiser, K. and Benner, R., 2009. Biochemical composition and size distribution of organic matter at the Pacific and Atlantic time-series stations. Marine Chemistry 113, 63-77.
- Karl, D.M. and Björkman, K.M., 2015. Dynamics of Dissolved Organic Phosphorus, in: Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A., (Eds.), The biogeochemistry of marine dissolved organic matter, 2nd edition. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 233-334.
- Kim, S., Kramer, R.W. and Hatcher, P.G., 2003. Graphical method for analysis of ultrahigh-resolution broadband mass spectra of natural organic matter, the van Krevelen diagram. Analytical Chemistry 75, 5336-5344.
- Koch, B. and Dittmar, T., 2006. From mass to structure: an aromaticity index for high-resolution mass data of natural organic matter. Rapid communications in mass spectrometry 20, 926-932.
- Koch, B.P., Dittmar, T., Witt, M. and Kattner, G., 2007. Fundamentals of molecular formula assignment to ultrahigh resolution mass data of natural organic matter. Analytical Chemistry 79, 1758-1763.
- Ksionzek, K.B., Lechtenfeld, O.J., McCallister, S.L., Schmitt-Kopplin, P., Geuer, J.K., Geibert, W. and Koch, B.P., 2016. Dissolved organic sulfur in the ocean: Biogeochemistry of a petagram inventory. Science 354, 456-459.

- Le Quéré, C., Moriarty, R., Andrew, R.M., Peters, G.P., Ciais, P., Friedlingstein, P., Jones, S.D., Sitch, S., Tans, P. and Arneth, A., 2015. Global carbon budget 2014. Earth System Science Data 7, 47-85.
- Lechtenfeld, O.J., Hertkorn, N., Shen, Y., Witt, M. and Benner, R., 2015. Marine sequestration of carbon in bacterial metabolites. Nature communications 6, 6711.
- Lechtenfeld, O.J., Kattner, G., Flerus, R., McCallister, S.L., Schmitt-Kopplin, P. and Koch, B.P., 2014. Molecular transformation and degradation of refractory dissolved organic matter in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 126, 321-337.
- Letscher, R.T., Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A., Lumpkin, R. and Knapp, A.N., 2013. Dissolved organic nitrogen in the global surface ocean: Distribution and fate. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 27, 141-153.
- Lønborg, C., Middelboe, M. and Brussaard, C.P., 2013. Viral lysis of Micromonas pusilla: impacts on dissolved organic matter production and composition. Biogeochemistry 116, 231-240.
- Marañón, E., Cermeño, P. and Pérez, V., 2005. Continuity in the photosynthetic production of dissolved organic carbon from eutrophic to oligotrophic waters. Marine Ecology Progress Series 299, 7-17.
- McCarren, J., Becker, J.W., Repeta, D.J., Shi, Y., Young, C.R., Malmstrom, R.R., Chisholm, S.W. and DeLong, E.F., 2010. Microbial community transcriptomes reveal microbes and metabolic pathways associated with dissolved organic matter turnover in the sea. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107, 16420-16427.
- McCarthy, M., Pratum, T., Hedges, J. and Benner, R., 1997. Chemical composition of dissolved organic nitrogen in the ocean. Nature 390, 150-154.
- Mentges, A., Feenders, C., Seibt, M., Blasius, B. and Dittmar, T., 2017. Functional Molecular Diversity of Marine Dissolved Organic Matter is Reduced During Degradation. Frontiers in Marine Science 4, 194.
- Middelburg, J.J., 2015. Escape by dilution. Science 348, 290-290.

- Miller, W.L. and Moran, M.A., 1997. Interaction of photochemical and microbial processes in the degradation of refractory dissolved organic matter from a coastal marine environment. Limnology and Oceanography 42, 1317-1324.
- Mopper, K., Kieber, D.J., Stubbins, A., 2015. Marine photochemistry of organic matter: processes and impacts. in: Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A., (Eds.), The biogeochemistry of marine dissolved organic matter, 2nd edition. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 389-450.
- Mopper, K., Zhou, X., Kieber, R.J., Kieber, D.J., Sikorski, R.J. and Jones, R.D., 1991. Photochemical degradation of dissolved organic carbon and its impact on the oceanic carbon cycle. Nature 353, 60-62.
- Moran, M.A., Kujawinski, E.B., Stubbins, A., Fatland, R., Aluwihare, L.I., Buchan, A., Crump, B.C., Dorrestein, P.C., Dyhrman, S.T. and Hess, N.J., 2016. Deciphering ocean carbon in a changing world. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113, 3143-3151.
- Moran, M.A., Sheldon, W.M. and Zepp, R.G., 2000. Carbon loss and optical property changes during long-term photochemical and biological degradation of estuarine dissolved organic matter. Limnology and Oceanography 45, 1254-1264.
- Moran, M.A. and Zepp, R.G., 1997. Role of photoreactions in the formation of biologically labile compounds from dissolved organic matter. Limnology and Oceanography 42, 1307–1316.
- Morris, R.M., Rappé, M.S., Connon, S.A. and Vergin, K.L., 2002. SAR11 clade dominates ocean surface bacterioplankton communities. Nature 420, 806-810.
- Mou, X., Sun, S., Edwards, R.A., Hodson, R.E. and Moran, M.A., 2008. Bacterial carbon processing by generalist species in the coastal ocean. Nature 451, 708-711.
- Naganuma, T., Konishi, S., Inoue, T., Nakane, T. and Sukizaki, S., 1996. Photodegradation or photoalteration? Microbial assay of the effect of UV-B on dissolved organic matter. Marine ecology progress series 135, 309-310.

- Nagata, T. and Kirchman, D.L., 1992. Release of dissolved organic matter by heterotrophic protozoa: implications for microbial food webs. Arch. Hydrobiol. Beih. Ergebn. Limnol 35, 99-109.
- Nebbioso, A. and Piccolo, A., 2013. Molecular characterization of dissolved organic matter (DOM): a critical review. Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry 405, 109-124.
- Nelson, N.B., Siegel, D.A., Carlson, C.A. and Swan, C.M., 2010. Tracing global biogeochemical cycles and meridional overturning circulation using chromophoric dissolved organic matter. Geophysical Research Letters, 37, L03610.
- Ogawa, H., Amagai, Y., Koike, I., Kaiser, K. and Benner, R., 2001. Production of Refractory Dissolved Organic Matter by Bacteria. Science 292, 917-920.
- Ogawa, H. and Tanoue, E., 2003. Dissolved Organic Matter in Oceanic Waters. Journal of Oceanography 59, 129-147.
- Osterholz, H., Niggemann, J., Giebel, H.-A., Simon, M. and Dittmar, T., 2015. Inefficient microbial production of refractory dissolved organic matter in the ocean. Nature communications, 6, 7422.
- Osterholz, H. et al., 2016. Deciphering associations between dissolved organic molecules and bacterial communities in a pelagic marine system. The ISME journal 10, 1717-1730.
- Pedler, B.E., Aluwihare, L.I. and Azam, F., 2014. Single bacterial strain capable of significant contribution to carbon cycling in the surface ocean. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111, 7202-7207.
- Poretsky, R.S., Sun, S., Mou, X. and Moran, M.A., 2010. Transporter genes expressed by coastal bacterioplankton in response to dissolved organic carbon. Environmental microbiology 12, 616-627.
- Ramette, A., 2007. Multivariate analyses in microbial ecology. FEMS microbiology ecology 62, 142-160.
- Rau, G., Sweeney, R. and Kaplan, I., 1982. Plankton ¹³C: ¹²C ratio changes with latitude: differences between northern and southern oceans. Deep Sea Research Part A. Oceanographic Research Papers 29, 1035-1039.

- Romano, S., Dittmar, T., Bondarev, V., Weber, R.J., Viant, M.R. and Schulz-Vogt, H.N., 2014. Exo-metabolome of Pseudovibrio sp. FO-BEG1 analyzed by ultra-high resolution mass spectrometry and the effect of phosphate limitation. PLoS One 9, e96038.
- Sarmento, H. and Gasol, J.M., 2012. Use of phytoplankton-derived dissolved organic carbon by different types of bacterioplankton. Environmental microbiology 14, 2348-2360.
- Satterberg, J., Arnarson, T.S., Lessard, E.J. and Keil, R.G., 2003. Sorption of organic matter from four phytoplankton species to montmorillonite, chlorite and kaolinite in seawater. Marine Chemistry 81, 11-18.
- Simon, M., Grossart, H.-P., Schweitzer, B. and Ploug, H., 2002. Microbial ecology of organic aggregates in aquatic ecosystems. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 28, 175-211.
- Sleighter, R.L., Liu, Z., Xue, J. and Hatcher, P.G., 2010. Multivariate statistical approaches for the characterization of dissolved organic matter analyzed by ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometry. Environmental Science & Technology 44, 7576-7582.
- Stedmon, C.A. and Markager, S., 2005. Tracing the production and degradation of autochthonous fractions of dissolved organic matter by fluorescence analysis. Limnology and Oceanography 50, 1415-1426.
- Stubbins, A. and Dittmar, T., 2015. Illuminating the deep: Molecular signatures of photochemical alteration of dissolved organic matter from North Atlantic Deep Water. Marine Chemistry 177, 318-324.
- Stubbins, A., Spencer, R.G., Chen, H., Hatcher, P.G., Mopper, K., Hernes, P.J., Mwamba, V.L., Mangangu, A.M., Wabakanghanzi, J.N. and Six, J., 2010. Illuminated darkness: molecular signatures of Congo River dissolved organic matter and its photochemical alteration as revealed by ultrahigh precision mass spectrometry. Limnology and Oceanography 55, 1467-1477.
- Thomas, D.N. and Lara, R.J., 1995. Photodegradation of algal derived dissolved organic carbon. Marine ecology progress series 116, 309-310.

- Torres-Valdés, S., Roussenov, V., Sanders, R., Reynolds, S., Pan, X., Mather, R., Landolfi, A., Wolff, G., Achterberg, E. and Williams, R., 2009. Distribution of dissolved organic nutrients and their effect on export production over the Atlantic Ocean. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 23, GB4019.
- Tranvik, L.J. and Bertilsson, S., 2001. Contrasting effects of solar UV radiation on dissolved organic sources for bacterial growth. Ecology Letters 4, 458-463.
- Verdugo, P., Alldredge, A.L., Azam, F., Kirchman, D.L., Passow, U. and Santschi, P.H., 2004. The oceanic gel phase: a bridge in the DOM–POM continuum. Marine Chemistry 92, 67-85.
- Vodacek, A., Blough, N.V., DeGrandpre, M.D. and Nelson, R.K., 1997. Seasonal variation of CDOM and DOC in the Middle Atlantic Bight: Terrestrial inputs and photooxidation. Limnology and Oceanography 42, 674-686.
- Wetz, M.S. and Wheeler, P.A., 2007. Release of dissolved organic matter by coastal diatoms. Limnology and Oceanography 52, 798-807.
- Williams, P., Oeschger, H. and Kinney, P., 1969. Natural radiocarbon activity of the dissolved organic carbon in the North-east Pacific Ocean. Nature 224, 256-258.
- Zark, M., Christoffers, J. and Dittmar, T., 2017. Molecular properties of deep-sea dissolved organic matter are predictable by the central limit theorem: Evidence from tandem FT-ICR-MS. Marine Chemistry 191, 9-15.

MANUSCRIPT I

Natural transformation of marine dissolved organic matter: Process-related molecular indices for bioproduction and photodegradation

Maren Seibt¹, Thorsten Dittmar¹ and Jutta Niggemann¹

This chapter corresponds to a full manuscript that was prepared for submission to Limnology and Oceanography

¹ Institute for Chemistry and Biology of the Marine Environment (ICBM), Research Group for Marine Geochemistry (ICBM-MPI Bridging Group), Carl von Ossietzky University of Oldenburg, Carl-von-Ossietzky-Straße 9-11, 26129 Oldenburg, Germany. Photodegration and bioproduction are two of the major processes shaping the molecular DOM composition in the ocean. In manuscript I the characteristic molecular signatures of both processes were captured in two process-related indices based on molecular data from already published laboratory experiments targeting exclusively bioproduction and photodegradation of DOM. The indices were then applied to a large data sets from the Atlantic, Pacific and Southern Ocean, proving their validity in a large variety of natural marine environments.

All authors designed the study. M. Seibt collected the samples from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. M. Seibt performed the data evaluation and analyzed the published data for calculation of the process-related indices together with J. Niggemann and T. Dittmar. M. Seibt wrote the manuscript with input from all authors.

The manuscript is close to submission to *Limnology and Oceanography* and presented with adjusted formatting according to the style of this thesis.

2.1 Abstract

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) holds the largest amount of organic carbon in the ocean, most of it residing in the deep ocean with radiocarbon ages of thousands of years. Mechanisms responsible for the millennial stability of deep sea DOM and the deferral from biologically labile to refractory DOM are still largely unknown. Microbial production and photodegradation in the surface layers of the global ocean are two of the major processes shaping the molecular composition of DOM. Here, we used molecular data obtained via ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometry (Fourier-transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry, FT-ICR-MS) from two separate laboratory studies that focused on (1) microbial production of fresh DOM and (2) photodegradation of deep sea DOM to derive independent process-related molecular indices for biological production (I_{bioprod}) and photodegradation (I_{photo}). We hypothesize that these indices disentangle and assess the influence of bioproduction and photodegradation on the molecular DOM composition in natural environments. Both indices were successfully applied to large global data sets of > 400 DOM samples spanning major biogeographical provinces and up to 5000 m water depths in the Atlantic, Pacific and Southern Ocean. The observed distribution of Iphoto and Ibioprod was consistent with increased photodegradation and bioproduction in sunlit surface waters of the tropical Atlantic Ocean. Combined application of I_{photo} and I_{bioprod} clearly distinguished the effect of the two processes and the relative extent of the induced molecular changes, demonstrating that both indices provide valuable novel tools to unravel and quantitatively evaluate processes that ultimately determine the stability of deep sea DOM.

2.2 Introduction

Marine dissolved organic matter (DOM) represents one of the biggest active carbon reservoirs on Earth (662 ± 32 Gt C; Hansell et al., 2009). A large fraction (630 ± 30 Gt C; refractory DOM) resides in the deep ocean and is mostly unavailable for immediate biological turnover as manifested in its millennial stability (Hansell, 2013). Reasons for this observed stability are poorly understood (e.g. Ogawa and Tanoue, 2003) and underlying processes are still under debate (e.g. Dittmar, 2015; Loh et al., 2004). The most reactive and smallest fraction of DOM is the labile DOM pool with an inventory of < 0.2 Gt C (Hansell, 2013). It is the most fundamental form and the starting point for any biotic or abiotic transformation process on DOM.

Marine DOM is mainly produced via photosynthesis by phytoplankton at a rate of ~ 50 Gt C yr⁻¹ (Behrenfeld and Falkowski, 1997; Morel and Antoine, 2002) and processed by heterotrophic microorganisms retaining part of the energy of primarily fixed carbon in the marine food web (microbial loop; Azam et al., 1983; Pomeroy, 1974). The manifold production and degradation processes, the variety of ages, reactivities, and histories of marine DOM result in a complex mixture with thousands to millions of different molecules (Hertkorn et al., 2007; Zark et al., 2017). Processes adding or removing molecules from the marine DOM pool include photosynthetic (e.g. Fogg, 1983) and microbial production (e.g. Ogawa et al., 2001), microbial (e.g. Koch et al., 2014) and photo-induced (e.g. Stubbins and Dittmar, 2015) degradation, water mass mixing, (e.g. Hansman et al., 2015), aggregation (e.g. Verdugo et al., 2004) and adsorption and desorption to and from particles (e.g. Davis, 1982).

The complexity of marine DOM makes its detailed chemical characterization challenging. The advent of ultra-high resolution analytical techniques such as Fouriertransform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry (FT-ICR-MS) enables attainment of molecular information on the DOM composition in unprecedented detail. Combined with a soft ionization method (electrospray ionization; ESI) it is possible to resolve and detect tens of thousands of different molecular masses within one DOM sample and due to the ultra-high resolution, molecular formulae can be assigned to >70 % of the detected masses (e.g. Stenson et al., 2003). DOM forms the basis of microbial life in the ocean. For this reason, it is puzzling that more than 90 % of marine DOM resides in the deep sea largely resisting biological utilization (Hansell, 2013). For understanding the conversion of DOM from highly reactive (labile) to mostly unreactive (refractory), it is crucial to identify the involved processes and to assess their relative impact on the molecular composition of DOM. In natural environments, a huge variety of production, transformation and degradation processes simultaneously act on the DOM pool on very different temporal and spatial scales. Therefore, studies of specific processes are mostly restricted to controlled laboratory experiments and limited timespans (e.g. Ogawa et al., 2001; Stubbins et al., 2010). Our current understanding on how the composition of marine DOM is shaped over time and space in the world's ocean is mostly deduced from observed distribution patterns. The general degradation state of DOM can be described by the amino acid based degradation index (DI) that links systematic changes in amino acids composition to the reactivity of bulk organic matter (Dauwe et al., 1999). Previous studies successfully applied the DI to quantitatively assess the general degradation state of DOM (e.g. Amon et al., 2001; Dittmar et al., 2001). Flerus et al. (2012) introduced a degradation index (Ideg) based on the molecular fingerprints of DOM obtained via FT-ICR-MS. They correlated intensities of mass peaks in marine DOM samples with the radiocarbon age of the respective sample and identified peaks systematically increasing and decreasing in intensity with age. With this index, a DOM sample can be classified regarding its "freshness" or "age" based on the molecular composition obtained via FT-ICR-MS. The amino acid based DI (Dauwe et al., 1999) and the Ideg (Flerus et al., 2012) are valuable complementary tools to assess the DOM degradation stage, but their application does not provide information about the processes driving the transformation from biologically available to the biologically more resistant forms of DOM.

In this study, we introduce two process-related indices for DOM production (i.e. bioproduction) and DOM degradation (i.e. photodegradation) derived from the molecular DOM data obtained via FT-ICR-MS. We used data sets of two controlled experiments on microbial production (Osterholz et al., 2015) and photodegradation (Stubbins and Dittmar, 2015) of DOM. The two indices do not only provide general information about the state of a given DOM sample, but also disclose the respective process driving the observed molecular changes. We successfully applied the newly developed indices to extensive data sets comprising > 400 samples from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean (own data) and the North Pacific Ocean (Medeiros et al., 2015). We demonstrate that the process-related indices are applicable to marine samples from a variety of oceanic environments distributed across major global oceans.

2.3 Material and methods

DOM samples – The process-related indices introduced in this study were derived using data from a photodegradation experiment on North Atlantic Deep Water (NADW; Stubbins and Dittmar, 2015) and a laboratory mesocosm experiment studying the natural microbial production of DOM over the course of three years (Osterholz et al., 2015). The new indices were then applied to a data set from the North Pacific (Medeiros et al., 2015) and a data set obtained in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean (own data). Samples taken in the Pacific were also used for photodegradation experiments, exposing DOM to irradiation in a solar simulator and to natural sunlight (Medeiros et al., 2015). For detailed description of experimental set ups, sample handling and data evaluation refer to the respective publications.

Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM samples were taken during three RV Polarstern cruises ANT-XXVIII/2 (Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean; 39.2° S to 70.5° S), ANT-XXVIII/4 (Drake Passage and Antarctic Peninsula; 56.1° S to 62.4°S) and ANT-XXVIII/5 (Atlantic; 51° S to 47° N) in austral spring and summer (Dec 2011 - May 2012; Figure 2.1 A). All samples were directly filtered from a rosette sampler via gravity flow. Samples were taken in high resolution in the upper 200 m of the water column (20 m, 40 m, 60 m, 100 m, 200 m and in the fluorescence maximum, if present). Deeper samples were taken from major water masses (Figure 2.1 B). Samples for DOM analysis were extracted according to the solid-phase extraction (SPE-) method published by Dittmar et al. (2008). In short, 41 of sea water were filtered through a pre-combusted (400 °C, 4 h) 0.7 µm glass fibre filter (GF/F, Whatman, United Kingdom) and acidified to a final pH of 2 (HCl, 25%, p.a., Carl Roth, Germany). The samples were extracted on commercially pre-packed cartridges (1 g of sorbent, PPL, Agilent, USA) via gravity flow. After extraction, the cartridges were deionized by rinsing them with two cartridge volumes of ultrapure water (pH 2). The cartridges were then dried with nitrogen gas and immediately eluted with 6 ml of methanol (HPLC-grade, Sigma-Aldrich, USA) into pre-combusted amber vials and DOM extracts were stored in the dark at -20°C until further analysis in the laboratory.

The carbon-based extraction efficiencies of all sample sets were in the same range, indicating that the extracted fraction of DOM (i.e. SPE-DOM) is reproducible and comparable between different sampling campaigns. The carbon-based extraction efficiency was 53 ± 9 % for Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM, 58 ± 6 % for Pacific Ocean DOM (Medeiros et al., 2015) and 70 % (Osterholz et al., 2015) and 67-74 % (Stubbins and Dittmar, 2015) for DOM of the experimental data sets used for index calculation.



Figure 2.1 Cruise tracks in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean **(A)** and temperature-salinity diagram with all sampled water masses **(B)**. Abbreviations in alphabetical order are: Antarctic Bottom Water (AABW), Antarctic Surface Water (AASW), Antarctic Intermediate Water (AAIW), Circumpolar Deep Water (CDW), Eurafrican Mediterranean Water (EMW), North Atlantic Central Water (NACW), North Atlantic Deep Water (NADW), South Atlantic Central Water (SACW), Subantarctic Mode Water (SAMW), Subantarctic Surface Water (SASW), Subtropical Surface Water (STSW), Weddell Sea Warm Deep Water (WDW) and Weddell Sea Deep Water (WSDW).

Molecular composition of DOM - All DOM extracts, including experimental data sets as well as application data sets, were analyzed on a solariX FT-ICR-MS (Bruker Daltonik GmbH, Bremen, Germany) equipped with a 15 Tesla superconducting magnet (Bruker Biospin, Wissembourg, France) and an electrospray ioni-

zation source (ESI; Apollo II ion source, Bruker Daltonik GmbH, Bremen, Germany). For analysis, all DOM extracts were mixed with ultrapure water and methanol (MS grade, 1:1 v/v) to a final carbon concentration of 10 ppm. For analysis validation, an in-house reference sample (North Equatorial Pacific Intermediate Water (NEqPIW); Bostock et al., 2010), collected at the Natural Energy Laboratory of Hawaii Authority in 2009 (Green et al., 2014), was measured twice a day.

Mass spectra were recorded in a mass range of 150 - 2000 Da with 500 acquired scans per sample. Instrument settings were as outlined in Seidel et al. (2014). All mass spectra were internally calibrated using a list of > 50 known molecular formula mass peaks from the NEqPIW reference sample. All detected ions were singly charged and the mass error allowed for the internal calibration was < 0.1 ppm. The total ion current and the overall intensity distribution were in the same order of magnitude for all samples. The mass to charge ratio, resolution and peak intensity were exported and processed using in-house Matlab routines. Molecular formulae were assigned to peaks with a minimum signal-to-noise ratio of 4 following the rules published by Koch et al. (2007) with following restrictions: ${}^{12}C_{1-130}{}^{1}H_{1-200}O_{1-50}{}^{14}N_{0-4}S_{0-2}P_{0-2}$. Only compounds with an assigned molecular formula were considered for further evaluation. All mass spectrometric data sets (i.e. photodegradation and mesocosm experiment and Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM data) were merged into one comprehensive data set. This approach resulted in a data set comprising a total of 4705 assigned molecular formulae. Normalization was done on the reduced data set as the very last step of data processing: Each peak intensity present in a sample was divided by the sum of all peak intensities of the respective sample, considering only peaks with assigned molecular formula.

Bioproduction index (I_{bioprod}) and photodegradation index (I_{photo}) - The bioproduction index (I_{bioprod}) was developed based on results of a 3-year lasting mesocosm experiment on DOM production by a natural microbial community of phyto- and bacterioplankton (Osterholz et al., 2015). In this experiment, photodegradation of DOM was negligible, because the light provided to the mesocosms excluded UV-light (400 – 700 nm; Osterholz et al., 2015), which is mainly responsible for the breakdown of photo-reactive DOM (e.g. Mopper et al., 1991). Therefore, changes in DOM composition in this experiment can exclusively be attributed to microbial bioproduction of DOM. We used an integrated sample over the course of the second year of the experiment, assuming that the DOM contains a mixture of freshly produced and slightly transformed microbial DOM that meets the reactivity criteria for labile, semi-labile and semi-refractory marine DOM with lifetimes of hours to decades (Hansell, 2013).

For the derivation of our process-related bioproduction index, we assume that the processes shaping the DOM composition in the mesocosms are representative for the natural open ocean environment and that the results from the laboratory study can be scaled up to global dimensions. This approach implies that microbially produced and transformed DOM shares unique characteristics independent of community composition, available substrates and prevailing growth conditions. Previous studies have shown that even single bacterial strains release very different DOM depending on growth conditions (e.g. Romano et al., 2014; Noriega-Ortega et al., in preparation). However, it has been proposed that the main factor shaping the global marine DOM composition is not primarily the prevailing microbial community composition but rather the functional diversity within the community and the multitude of possible transformation processes (Osterholz et al., 2016). Laboratory-based experiments support this view, demonstrating that more complex microbial communities transform bioavailable substrates into DOM, which is exceptionally similar to natural marine DOM (Koch et al., 2014; Osterholz et al., 2015).

The photodegradation index (I_{photo}) was derived from data obtained during a photodegradation experiment of North Atlantic Deep Water (NADW) sampled at the Bermuda Atlantic Time Series site (BATS; Stubbins and Dittmar, 2015). For this photodegradation experiment on natural deep sea DOM, a solar simulator emitting high energy irradiance was used, including UV-light in the range 295 to 365 nm, which inhibited microbial growth. Therefore, the dominant process shaping DOM composition in this experiment was photo-degradation of natural DOM.

Previously published indices based on FT-ICR-MS molecular data describing the state of a given DOM sample were derived by correlating intensities of mass peaks with specific sample characteristics like radiocarbon age (Flerus et al., 2012) or fraction of terrestrial material (δ^{13} C; Medeiros et al., 2016). These indices are based

on a few "marker peaks" that changed systematically with the chosen parameters. The $I_{bioprod}$ and the I_{photo} are also based on distinct "marker peaks", but rather than describing the current state of the DOM composition, these novel indices reveal the dominant processes that led to this current state.

To derive the bioproduction index we compared the DOM produced in the mesocosm experiment to a natural deep sea sample taken from Equatorial Pacific Intermediate Water (NEqPIW; Bostock et al., 2010). Deep sea DOM is considered refractory and stable over the timescale of millennia (Hansell, 2013). Therefore, mass peaks in the mesocosm (fresh) sample that showed a higher relative intensity than the deep sea sample were considered potential "marker peaks" for bioproduction. Mass peaks selected for the bioproduction index (Ibioprod) had to fulfill the following three criteria: First, selected peaks must have an intensity > 5 % of the maximum peak intensity in the respective sample, which makes their occurrence more likely in a larger variety of environments and also reduces the variability in the calculated index ("intensity criterium"). Second, the intensity of selected peaks in the integrated mesocosm sample must be at least 30 % higher than the respective peaks in the NEqPIW sample ("production criterium"; Table 2.1). Third, the selected peaks must be unsusceptible to photodegradation, hence their intensity during the photodegradation experiment had to remain unchanged before and after irradiation ("process criterium bioproduction"). A total of 31 mass peaks of our data set met the above criteria and were considered to be characteristic for bioproduction.

A similar set of conditions had to be met for mass peaks used for the photodegradation index (I_{photo}): First, the "intensity criterium" had to be fulfilled in the same way, i.e. the selected mass peaks must have an intensity > 5 % of the maximum peak intensity in the respective sample. Second, the intensities of the selected mass peaks must be at least 30 % lower in the irradiated sample than in the sample prior to irradiation ("degradation criterium"; Table 2.1). Third, the influence of bioproduction on the selected mass peaks must be negligible, meaning that the relative peak intensity in the integrated mesocosm sample did not deviate from the NEqPIW reference sample ("process criterium photodegradation"). A total of 14 mass peaks of our data set met the above criteria and were considered to be characteristic for photodegradation.

2.4 Results

For the definition of each of the two indices, we selected five of the mass peaks that met the criteria for the respective process and covered the maximum possible mass range (Table 2.1; P1 – P5 for I_{photo} and B1 – B5 for I_{bioprod}). The peaks selected for I_{photo} cover a wider mass range (~300 – 450 Da) than the peaks selected for the I_{bioprod} (~250 – 360 Da). Stubbins et al. (2010) showed that photo-labile DOM compounds generally have a higher molecular weight than the photo-resistant compounds. In contrast, the most prominent signature of biological production and transformation of DOM is mostly found in the lower mass range (Riedel et al., 2016), especially when compared to refractory DOM (Osterholz et al., 2015).

The rationale for selecting five mass peaks for index calculation is that the indices should be applicable in a maximum variety of different environments. The more peaks are chosen, the higher the probability of one not being present in a sample of interest. Likewise, the I_{deg} of Flerus et al. (2012) is also based on 5 peaks and its applicability has been demonstrated for different water masses of the Atlantic Ocean.

For index calculation, the intensity of the five respective peaks was summed up and divided by the sum of five mass peaks, which were neither influenced by photodegradation nor bioproduction, because they had the same relative intensity in the integrated mesocosm sample, the photodegradation experiment samples and the NEqPIW reference sample and fulfilled the intensity criterium **Table 2.1** Selected mass peaks, assigned elemental formulae, m/z, the factor of peak intensity change between untreated and photodegraded NADW (Iphoto) and between NEqPIW and mesocosm DOM (Ibioprod) and the respective calculation of the indices. The factor of relative peak intensity change was calculated by dividing the respective peak intensity of the irradiated sample by the untreated sample for the Iphoto and the respective mesocosm peak intensity by the NEqPIW peak intensity for the Ibioprod (see also Table S2.1).

		Elemental Formula		Factor of relative	
	Peak		m/z	peak intensity	Index
	INO.			change	Index
Photodegradation	P1	$C_{16}H_{16}O_{7}$	319.0823	0.60	$I_{photo} = \frac{(P1 + P2 + P3 + P4 + P5)}{(D1 + D2 + D3 + D4 + D5)}$
	P2	$C_{19}H_{20}O_7$	359.1136	0.67	
	P3	$C_{16}H_{20}N_2O_9$	383.1096	0.69	
	P4	$C_{23}H_{26}O_8$	429.1555	0.67	
	P5	$C_{24}H_{30}O_8$	445.1868	0.67	
Bioproduction	B1	$C_{13}H_{18}O_5$	253.1081	10.46	$I_{bioprod} = \frac{(B1 + B2 + B3 + B4 + B5)}{(D1 + D2 + D3 + D4 + D5)}$
	B2	$C_{13}H_{16}O_{6}$	267.0874	4.34	
	В3	$C_{13}H_{19}NO_6$	284.1140	6.22	
	B4	$C_{13}H_{17}NO_7$	298.0932	3.14	
	B5	$C_{18}H_{28}O_7$	355.1762	4.13	
	D1	$C_{14}H_{16}O_8$	311.0772	1.03	
	D2	$C_{17}H_{24}O_8$	355.1398	1.00	
	D3	$C_{16}H_{22}O_9$	357.1191	0.98	
	D4	$C_{19}H_{28}O_{9}$	399.1661	1.01	
	D5	$C_{19}H_{28}O_{10}$	415.1610	1.00	

Prerequisite for a universally applicable index based on mass spectrometric molecular data is the occurrence of the selected mass peaks in a wide variety of environments. The bioproduction ($I_{bioprod}$) and photodegradation (I_{photo}) indices were applied to a large variety of DOM samples from the Pacific, Atlantic and Southern Ocean. Hence, the newly developed indices were applied to > 400 marine samples, comprising surface samples from different biogeographic zones as well as deep ocean samples from all major water masses of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean.

The I_{photo} of untreated and photodegraded NADW DOM was 0.24 and 0.16, respectively (Figure 2.2 A). Hence, the more photodegraded a DOM sample is, the lower is the I_{photo}. The I_{bioprod} was 0.19 for the NEqPIW sample and 1.05 for the integrated mesocosm sample, respectively (Figure 2.2 B). Therefore, if the influence of bioproduction is high the I_{bioprod} is high as well. The calculated indices for the endmembers of both processes are indicated as the upper and lower boundaries of the blue and green box in Figure 2.2 A and B, respectively.



Figure 2.2 The I_{photo} (**A**) and I_{bioprod} (**B**) for all Atlantic and Southern Ocean samples along water density. The upper and lower boundaries of the blue box represent the I_{photo} of untreated and photodegraded NADW DOM (I_{photo} = 0.24 and 0.16, respectively). The lower boundary of the green box represents the I_{bioprod} of NEqPIW DOM (I_{bioprod} = 0.19). Please note that the I_{bioprod} of mesocosm DOM is 1.05 and therefore not shown on the y-axis. Please note the different y-axis scale.

Application of I_{photo} to environmental samples: The I_{photo} for Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM was lowest in the surface mixed layer (0.14 – 0.20) in the tropical and subtropical Atlantic Ocean. Highest values for the I_{photo} (up to 0.25) were found

throughout the Southern Ocean, where solar irradiance is weaker than at lower latitudes (Figure 2.3 A and B).

In the North Pacific, the I_{photo} was between 0.17 and 0.20 for surface samples and between 0.23 and 0.24 for deep sea samples (Figure 2.5 A, blue dots). It is noteworthy that the highest I_{photo} values in the North Pacific data set were found for surface samples at station 17 and station 24 (average I_{photo} = 0.20), which had elevated CDOM concentrations (Medeiros et al., 2015). For the surface samples at station 29 and 8, where CDOM concentration was generally lower (Medeiros et al., 2015), the I_{photo} was lowest with an average of 0.17.

After photodegradation of the North Pacific DOM, the I_{photo} of surface and deep sea samples were lowered to 0.16 - 0.18 and to 0.19 - 0.20, respectively (Figure 2.5 A, red dots), with a more pronounced decrease of the I_{photo} at stations with a higher CDOM concentration, consistent with the susceptibility of CDOM to photodegradation (e.g. Helms et al., 2013).

Application of I_{bioprod} to environmental samples: The I_{bioprod} was highest in the warm and productive surface layers in the Atlantic (I_{bioprod} = 0.20 - 0.39) and lowest in the deep sea and in the Southern Ocean (I_{bioprod} = 0.19 - 0.29; Figure 2.4 A and B). The I_{bioprod} was particularly high in the surface mixed layer in the South Atlantic Gyre. It is noteworthy that the highest calculated I_{bioprod} for the Atlantic was still significantly lower than the I_{bioprod} calculated for the mesocosm DOM (I_{bioprod} = 1.05).

The I_{bioprod} for the North Pacific samples was high (0.31 - 0.34) for surface samples and generally low for samples below 1000 m (0.19 - 0.21) following the general trend of I_{bioprod} also observed for Atlantic DOM, with elevated values in the productive surface layers and lower values in the deep sea (Figure 2.5 B, blue dots). After photodegradation, the I_{bioprod} of some deep water samples increased slightly (Figure 2.5 B, red dots), but were still significantly lower than the observed values for the surface water samples.



Figure 2.3 The I_{photo} in the Southern Ocean (ANTXXVIII/2; **A**) and the Atlantic Ocean (ANTXXVIII/5; **B**). The dashed lines indicate the upper and lower boundary of the pycnocline. The indices calculated for DOM samples taken on cruise ANTXXVIII/4 correspond very well to the index calculated for DOM samples taken on cruise ANTXXVIII/2 (see also Figure 2.2) and are therefore not shown. Please note logarithmic depth scale.



Figure 2.4 The I_{bioprod} in the Southern Ocean (ANTXXVIII/2; **A**) and the Atlantic Ocean (ANTXXVIII/5; **B**). The dashed lines indicate the upper and lower boundary of the pycnocline. The indices calculated for DOM samples taken on cruise ANTXXVIII/4 correspond very well to the index calculated for DOM samples taken on cruise ANTXXVIII/2 (see also Figure 2.2) and are therefore not shown. Please note logarithmic depth scale.



Figure 2.5 The lphoto **(A)** and lbioprod **(B)** for untreated (blue) and photodegraded (red) North Pacific DOM from different stations and various water depths. Error bars indicate the variation of the indices when calculated for repeated FT-ICR-MS analysis of the same sample (n=11; max. 5 %). For location of the stations refer to Medeiros et al. (2015). The yellow and purple stars indicate stations with low and high surface CDOM concentrations, respectively (Medeiros et al., 2015)

2.5 Discussion

By applying the I_{photo} and the I_{bioprod} to a wide range of environmental samples, we demonstrate that both indices are valuable tools for distinguishing two of the major processes, which shape the molecular composition of oceanic DOM. The addition of various amounts of freshly, microbially produced DOM to a refractory back-ground can indeed explain most of the molecular variability in the DOM composition of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean as shown in the following chapter of this

thesis. Most freshly produced DOM in the ocean does not accumulate and has a very short turnover time (Hansell, 2013): it is either taken up quickly by heterotrophic microorganisms or diluted by mixing water masses. Pure mesocosm DOM, which consists mainly of semi-labile and semi-refractory DOM (Osterholz et al., 2015), has a high I_{bioprod} not found in any sample from the Atlantic, Pacific or Southern Ocean. Apparently, the signature of bioproduction in the DOM composition of natural oceanic environments is diluted by the refractory DOM background present in each marine DOM sample resulting in overall lower I_{bioprod}. However, the high I_{bioprod} in the mesocosms clearly suggests that in DOM production hot spots such as phytoplankton blooms or coastal areas, the I_{bioprod} could be considerably higher than observed in the Atlantic, Pacific and Southern Ocean, where no pronounced phytoplankton bloom was encountered during sampling.

The mesocosm and photodegradation experiments were conducted to study two specific processes: the exclusive production of microbial DOM in the mesocosm experiment and the maximum possible impact of photodegradation on the molecular composition of deep sea DOM in the photodegradation experiment. To observe any changes in composition a reference sample for comparison is needed. In both cases, we chose a photo-chemically untreated and biologically largely inert deep sea DOM sample to asses any qualitative compositional changes during the experiments. For approximating the range both indices can cover, the I_{photo} and the I_{bioprod} were calculated for their respective experimental data set, because we assume that our choice of endmembers (i.e. mesocosm DOM for bioproduction and photodegraded NADW for photodegradation) covers a maximum range of possible changes in the molecular DOM composition. However, the Iphoto for DOM in the surface mixed layer of the subtropical Atlantic Ocean is even lower than the Iphoto of photodegraded NADW DOM (Figure 2.2; Iphoto values below the blue box). The deep ocean is a unique setting were photodegradation does not occur naturally and bioproduction plays only a minor role, leading to an environment where processing of DOM happens on very slow timescales (Hansell et al., 2012) and is probably mostly driven by abiotic processes such as sorption and desorption to particles (Dittmar and Stubbins, 2014). In contrast, in the surface ocean DOM turnover is fast and both, bioproduction and photodegradation, play important roles in shaping

the molecular DOM composition. The I_{photo} is calculated based on an experiment with deep sea DOM, neglecting photodegradation of fresh DOM. Thus, the I_{photo} in the surface mixed layer can deviate from the calculated range due to the presence of fresh DOM, which changes the molecular composition and its susceptibility to photodegradation.

Both considered processes have their maximum impact in the sunlit, warm and productive surface layer, which also explains the covariance of both indices, since bioproduction and photodegradation depend on solar irradiance. Especially in the South Atlantic Gyre both, photodegradation and bioproduction, have a strong effect on shaping the molecular DOM composition. Because both, semi-labile and semirefractory DOM, are persistent on timescales greater than one year, accumulation of these DOM fractions is possible (Hansell, 2013) and their contribution to the overall DOM pool is detectable with the Ibioprod. Photodegradation and bioproduction can be mutually dependent (Amado et al., 2007; Kramer and Herndl, 2004; Tranvik and Bertilsson, 2001). Photodegradation of surface DOM can either lead to an enhanced or decreased biological availability for some of the DOM molecules (Obernosterer et al., 2001). Cherrier et al. (1999) showed that open ocean bacteria also assimilate, along with newly fixed carbon, isotopically old carbon as measured by the radiocarbon age of their nucleic acids. This is either possible via co-metabolism with labile DOM, which has been shown in various cases (e.g. Bianchi, 2011) or via photo-oxidation of otherwise bio-resistant DOM. Extensive photodegradation as indicated by the extremely low Iphoto in the South Atlantic Gyre likely goes along with the breakdown of otherwise bio-resistant compounds into bioavailable forms, which in turn sustain a high bioproduction as indicated by the high I_{bioprod}.

The mixed layer pump exports organic material from the euphotic into the mesopelagic zone and sustains heterotrophic production in water depths between 100 - 1000 m (Dall'Olmo et al., 2016; Gardner et al., 1995). The characteristic molecular signatures of processes shaping the DOM molecular composition in the euphotic zone are exported to deeper layers via the mixed layer pump as seen by lower I_{photo} values in the mesopelagic than in the bathypelagic water samples from the Atlantic (Figure 2.3 B). The molecular signature of bioproduction (I_{bioprod}), however, is mostly restricted to the upper 200 m (Figure 2.4 B). The I_{bioprod} is an indicator for microbial production of DOM mostly belonging to the semi-persistent DOM fractions. Semi-labile and semi-refractory DOM sustains the subsurface microbial loop in the mesopelagic water depths (Hansell, 2013) acting as a sink for DOM produced in the euphotic zone and exported to greater water depths via the mixed layer pump. As a consequence, the characteristic signature of bioproduction in the DOM molecular composition is lost below the surface mixed layer.

In the Pacific Ocean, surface samples with higher CDOM concentrations also had higher I_{photo} values, indicating their potential for further photodegradation. After irradiation of surface DOM samples with high CDOM concentrations in the solar simulator, the I_{photo} was in the same range as untreated surface samples with low CDOM concentrations, which most likely already underwent extensive photodegradation (Figure 2.5 A). The I_{photo} for deep Pacific samples (> 1000 m) is higher (> 0.21) than for the surface samples (< 0.21). When the deep Pacific samples are exposed to irradiation (either in the solar simulator or to natural sunlight) the I_{photo} is lowered (0.19 – 0.20), but does not fall below I_{photo} values of the surface samples (Figure 2.5 A). The presence of fresh DOM in the surface waters seems to have the same effect also observed for Atlantic DOM samples: It changes the molecular composition and consequently its susceptibility to photodegradation.

After photodegradation, the I_{bioprod} of some deep water samples increased slightly (Figure 2.5 B, red dots), which is mainly caused by the increase of the relative peak intensity of bioproduction peak B5 ($C_{18}H_{28}O_7$, Table 2.1) during photodegradation. The intensity increase of peak B5 might be the result of the breakdown of a photo-labile compound during photodegradation producing B5 as successor compound. In the North Pacific, CDOM concentrations are higher than in the Atlantic (Nelson and Siegel, 2013), which could indicate that the precursor compound of B5 is a CDOM compound that was not present in the deep Atlantic sample used for identifying suitable peaks for the indices. The relative intensity of peak B5 also increases after photodegradation of Congo River DOM, which is of terrestrial origin and overall very photo-labile (Stubbins et al., 2010). We therefore conclude that for samples with high CDOM concentrations, the I_{bioprod} should be reviewed critically. However, after photodegradation the I_{bioprod} in the deep North Pacific is still in the

same range as the I_{bioprod} for deep Atlantic samples indicating that although the I_{bioprod} increases slightly after photodegradation, the validity of the I_{bioprod} is not diminished.

The degradation index (I_{deg}) published by Flerus et al. (2012) assesses the degradation state of a DOM sample based on the age of the bulk DOM sample. The more degraded (and therefore older) a sample is, the higher is the resulting I_{deg} . If DOM underwent extensive photodegradation, the I_{photo} is low. In the deep sea, DOM occurs in its most degraded forms and photodegradation has no impact. Hence, the I_{deg} and I_{photo} are both high in the deep sea DOM samples (Figure 2.6 A) compared to the sunlit surface waters, where DOM is overall younger and photodegradation impacts the molecular DOM composition. I_{deg} and $I_{bioprod}$ are negatively correlated (Figure 2.6 B), because bioproduction is negligible in the deep sea, but impacts the molecular DOM composition of the younger and less degraded samples.



Figure 2.6 Correlation between Iphoto (A) and Ibioprod (B) with the Ideg (Flerus et al., 2012)

A direct comparison of the I_{deg} and I_{photo} shows, that the I_{deg} of the photodegradation data set (Stubbins and Dittmar, 2015) stays about the same (0.86 and 0.82 before and after irradiation, respectively), clearly showing that photodegradation is not the major process driving the I_{deg} . Based on this finding, we conclude that the I_{photo} is

not biased by other degradation processes but is rather a unique indicator for photodegradation. The I_{deg} for DOM produced in the mesocosms (bioproduction) is 0.15, indicating that DOM in the mesocosms is only little degraded and that degradation is an almost negligible process in this experiment. The I_{deg} and $I_{biobrod}$ provide complementary information on DOM aging and the production of DOM by microbial communities, respectively.

2.6 Conclusion

The process-related indices introduced in this study are based on controlled laboratory experiments, because the distinction between processes and the development of process-related indices is not achievable with a natural sample set. The I_{bioprod} and the I_{photo} provide novel tools for assessing processes behind observed changes in the natural DOM composition. Both indices disclose not only information about the respective process but also differentiate and quantitatively assess the changes both processes cause in the molecular DOM composition. The information provided by both indices is crucial for disentangling the mechanisms controlling the molecular composition of this huge carbon reservoir and is therefore of relevance for a comprehensive understanding of DOM and its millennial stability in the deep ocean. The application of both indices to a large global sample set conclusively demonstrates that they yield reasonable and comprehensible results for natural DOM samples.

2.7 Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge K. Klaproth, M. Friebe and I. Ulber for technical support with FT-ICR-MS and lab assistance. Furthermore, we like to thank the crew of the research vessel "Polarstern" for professional assistance during sample collection.

This work was funded by the German Science Foundation (NI 1366-1/1).

2.8 References

- Amado, A.M., Cotner, J.B., Suhett, A.L., de Assis Esteves, F., Bozelli, R.L. and Farjalla, V.F. 2007. Contrasting interactions mediate dissolved organic matter decomposition in tropical aquatic ecosystems. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 49, 25-34.
- Amon, R.M., Fitznar, H.-P. and Benner, R., 2001. Linkages among the bioreactivity, chemical composition, and diagenetic state of marine dissolved organic matter. Limnology and Oceanography 46, 287-297.
- Azam, F., Fenchel, T., Field, J.G., Gray, J., Meyer-Reil, L. and Thingstad, F., 1983. The ecological role of water-column microbes in the sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 10, 257-263
- Behrenfeld, M.J. and Falkowski, P.G., 1997. Photosynthetic rates derived from satellite-based chlorophyll concentration. Limnology and Oceanography 42, 1-20.
- Bianchi, T.S., 2011. The role of terrestrially derived organic carbon in the coastal ocean: A changing paradigm and the priming effect. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108, 19473-19481.
- Bostock, H.C., Opdyke, B.N. and Williams, M.J., 2010. Characterising the intermediate depth waters of the Pacific Ocean using δ 13 C and other geochemical tracers. Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers 57, 847-859.
- Cherrier, J., Bauer, J.E., Druffel, E.R., Coffin, R.B. and Chanton, J.P., 1999. Radiocarbon in marine bacteria: Evidence for the ages of assimilated carbon. Limnology and Oceanography 44, 730-736.
- Dall'Olmo, G., Dingle, J., Polimene, L., Brewin, R.J.W. and Claustre, H., 2016. Substantial energy input to the mesopelagic ecosystem from the seasonal mixed-layer pump. Nature Geoscience 9, 820-823.
- Dauwe, B., Middelburg, J.J., Herman, P.M.J. and Heip, C.H.R., 1999. Linking diagenetic alteration of amino acids and bulk organic matter reactivity. Limnology and Oceanography 44, 1809-1814.

- Davis, J.A., 1982. Adsorption of natural dissolved organic matter at the oxide/water interface. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 46, 2381-2393.
- Dittmar, T., 2015. Reasons behind the long-term stability of dissolved organic matter, in: Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A., (Eds.), The biogeochemistry of marine dissolved organic matter, 2nd edition. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 369-388.
- Dittmar, T., Fitznar, H.P. and Kattner, G., 2001. Origin and biogeochemical cycling of organic nitrogen in the eastern Arctic Ocean as evident from D- and Lamino acids. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 65, 4103-4114.
- Dittmar, T., Koch, B., Hertkorn, N. and Kattner, G., 2008. A simple and efficient method for the solid-phase extraction of dissolved organic matter (SPE-DOM) from seawater. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 6, 230-235.
- Dittmar, T. and Stubbins, A., 2014. Dissolved organic matter in aquatic systems, in: Birrer, B., Falkowski, P., Freeman, K., (Eds.), Treatise of Geochemistry, 2nd edition. Academic Press, Oxford, pp. 125–156.
- Flerus, R., Lechtenfeld, O., Koch, B.P., McCallister, S., Schmitt-Kopplin, P., Benner, R., Kaiser, K. and Kattner, G., 2012. A molecular perspective on the ageing of marine dissolved organic matter. Biogeosciences 9, 1935-1955.
- Fogg, G.E., 1983. The ecological significance of extracellular products of phytoplankton photosynthesis. Botanica Marina 26, 3-14.
- Gardner, W.D., Chung, S.P., Richardson, M.J. and Walsh, I.D., 1995. The oceanic mixed-layer pump. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 42, 757-775.
- Green, N.W., Perdue, E.M., Aiken, G.R., Butler, K.D., Chen, H., Dittmar, T., Niggemann, J. and Stubbins, A., 2014. An intercomparison of three methods for the large-scale isolation of oceanic dissolved organic matter. Marine Chemistry 161, 14-19.
- Hansell, D., Carlson, C., Repeta, D. and Schlitzer, R., 2009. Dissolved organic matter in the ocean: New insights stimulated by a controversy. Oceanography 22, 202-211.

- Hansell, D.A., 2013. Recalcitrant Dissolved Organic Carbon Fractions. Annual Review of Marine Science 5, 421-445.
- Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A. and Schlitzer, R., 2012. Net removal of major marine dissolved organic carbon fractions in the subsurface ocean. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 26.
- Hansman, R.L., Dittmar, T. and Herndl, G.J., 2015. Conservation of dissolved organic matter molecular composition during mixing of the deep water masses of the northeast Atlantic Ocean. Marine Chemistry 177, 288-297.
- Helms, J.R., Stubbins, A., Perdue, E.M., Green, N.W., Chen, H. and Mopper, K., 2013. Photochemical bleaching of oceanic dissolved organic matter and its effect on absorption spectral slope and fluorescence. Marine Chemistry 155, 81-91.
- Hertkorn, N., Ruecker, C., Meringer, M., Gugisch, R., Frommberger, M., Perdue, E.M., Witt, M. and Schmitt-Kopplin, P., 2007. High-precision frequency measurements: indispensable tools at the core of the molecular-level analysis of complex systems. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 389, 1311-1327.
- Koch, B., Kattner, G., Witt, M. and Passow, U., 2014. Molecular insights into the microbial formation of marine dissolved organic matter: recalcitrant or labile? Biogeosciences 11, 4173-4190.
- Koch, B.P., Dittmar, T., Witt, M. and Kattner, G., 2007. Fundamentals of molecular formula assignment to ultrahigh resolution mass data of natural organic matter. Analytical Chemistry 79, 1758-1763.
- Kramer, G.D. and Herndl, G.J., 2004. Photo-and bioreactivity of chromophoric dissolved organic matter produced by marine bacterioplankton. Aquatic microbial ecology 36, 239-246.
- Loh, A.N., Bauer, J.E. and Druffel, E.R.M., 2004. Variable ageing and storage of dissolved organic components in the open ocean. Nature 430, 877-881.
- Medeiros, P., Seidel, M., Powers, L.C., Dittmar, T., Hansell, D.A. and Miller, W.L., 2015. Dissolved organic matter composition and photochemical transformations in the northern North Pacific Ocean. Geophysical Research Letters 42, 863-870.
- Medeiros, P.M., Seidel, M., Niggemann, J., Spencer, R.G., Hernes, P.J., Yager, P.L., Miller, W.L., Dittmar, T. and Hansell, D.A., 2016. A novel molecular approach for tracing terrigenous dissolved organic matter into the deep ocean. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 30, 689-699.
- Mopper, K., Zhou, X., Kieber, R.J., Kieber, D.J., Sikorski, R.J. and Jones, R.D., 1991. Photochemical degradation of dissolved organic carbon and its impact on the oceanic carbon cycle. Nature 353, 60-62.
- Morel, A. and Antoine, D., 2002. Small critters-big effects. Science 296, 1980-1982.
- Nelson, N.B. and Siegel, D.A., 2013. The Global Distribution and Dynamics of Chromophoric Dissolved Organic Matter. Annual Review of Marine Science 5, 447-476.
- Noriega-Ortega, B.E., Wienhausen, G., Mentges, A., Dittmar, T., Simon, M., and Niggemann, J. Does the chemodiversity of bacterial exometabolomes sustain the chemodiversity of marine dissolved organic matter? Manuscript in preparation.
- Obernosterer, I., Sempéré, R. and Herndl, G.J., 2001. Ultraviolet radiation induces reversal of the bioavailability of DOM to marine bacterioplankton. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 24, 61-68.
- Ogawa, H., Amagai, Y., Koike, I., Kaiser, K. and Benner, R., 2001. Production of Refractory Dissolved Organic Matter by Bacteria. Science 292, 917-920.
- Ogawa, H. and Tanoue, E., 2003. Dissolved Organic Matter in Oceanic Waters. Journal of Oceanography 59, 129-147.
- Osterholz, H., Niggemann, J., Giebel, H.-A., Simon, M. and Dittmar, T., 2015. Inefficient microbial production of refractory dissolved organic matter in the ocean. Nature Communications 6, 7422.

- Osterholz, H., Singer, G., Wemheuer, B., Daniel, R., Simon, M., Niggemann, J. and Dittmar, T., 2016. Deciphering associations between dissolved organic molecules and bacterial communities in a pelagic marine system. The ISME Journal 10, 1717-1730.
- Pomeroy, L.R., 1974. The ocean's food web, a changing paradigm. Bioscience 24, 499-504.
- Riedel, T., Zark, M., Vähätalo, A., Niggemann, J., Spencer, R.G., Hernes, P.J. and Dittmar, T., 2016. Molecular signatures of biogeochemical transformations in dissolved organic matter from ten World Rivers. Frontiers in Earth Science 4, 85.
- Romano, S., Dittmar, T., Bondarev, V., Weber, R.J., Viant, M.R. and Schulz-Vogt, H.N., 2014. Exo-metabolome of Pseudovibrio sp. FO-BEG1 analyzed by ultra-high resolution mass spectrometry and the effect of phosphate limitation. PLoS One 9, e96038.
- Seidel, M., Beck, M., Riedel, T., Waska, H., Suryaputra, I.G., Schnetger, B., Niggemann, J., Simon, M. and Dittmar, T., 2014. Biogeochemistry of dissolved organic matter in an anoxic intertidal creek bank. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 140, 418-434.
- Stenson, A.C., Marshall, A.G. and Cooper, W.T., 2003. Exact masses and chemical formulas of individual Suwannee River fulvic acids from ultrahigh resolution electrospray ionization Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectra. Analytical Chemistry 75, 1275-1284.
- Stubbins, A. and Dittmar, T., 2015. Illuminating the deep: Molecular signatures of photochemical alteration of dissolved organic matter from North Atlantic Deep Water. Marine Chemistry 177, 318-324.
- Stubbins, A., Spencer, R.G., Chen, H., Hatcher, P.G., Mopper, K., Hernes, P.J., Mwamba, V.L., Mangangu, A.M., Wabakanghanzi, J.N. and Six, J., 2010.
 Illuminated darkness: molecular signatures of Congo River dissolved organic matter and its photochemical alteration as revealed by ultrahigh precision mass spectrometry. Limnology and Oceanography 55, 1467-1477.

- Tranvik, L.J. and Bertilsson, S., 2001. Contrasting effects of solar UV radiation on dissolved organic sources for bacterial growth. Ecology Letters 4, 458-463.
- Verdugo, P., Alldredge, A.L., Azam, F., Kirchman, D.L., Passow, U. and Santschi, P.H., 2004. The oceanic gel phase: a bridge in the DOM–POM continuum. Marine Chemistry 92, 67-85.
- Zark, M., Christoffers, J. and Dittmar, T., 2017. Molecular properties of deep-sea dissolved organic matter are predictable by the central limit theorem: Evidence from tandem FT-ICR-MS. Marine Chemistry 191, 9-15.

2.9 Supplementary materials

Table S2.1 Elemental formulae, m/z and the peak intensities of the peaks chosen for calculation of the I_{photo} (P1 – P5 and D1 – D5; untreated and photodegraded NADW DOM) and the $I_{bioprod}$ (B1 – B5 and D1 – D5; NEqPIW and mesocosm DOM) and the calculation of the factor of relative peak intensity change (see also Table 2.1)

			Iphoto		Ibioprod		
Peak No.	Elemental Formula	m/z	Peak intensity in NADW sample (untreated)	Peak intensity in NADW sample (photodegraded)	Peak intensity in NEqPIW sample	Peak intensity in integrated meso- cosm sample	Calculation of factor for relative peak in- tensity change
P1	$C_{16}H_{16}O_7$	319.0823	0.3164	0.1885	0.3596	0.3880	Factor = 0.1885/0.3164
P2	$C_{19}H_{20}O_7$	359.1136	0.2970	0.1990	0.4039	0.4047	Factor = 0.1990/0.2970
P3	$C_{16}H_{20}N_2O_9$	383.1096	0.2553	0.1774	0.2693	0.2571	Factor = 0.1774/0.2553
P4	$C_{23}H_{26}O_8$	429.1555	0.2675	0.1797	0.2767	0.2664	Factor = 0.1797/0.2675
P5	$C_{24}H_{30}O_8$	445.1868	0.4455	0.2985	0.4110	0.4290	Factor = 0.4455/0.2985
B1	$C_{13}H_{18}O_5$	253.1081	0.3119	0.3094	0.3697	3.8675	Factor = 3.8675/0.3697
B2	$C_{13}H_{16}O_{6}$	267.0874	0.3695	0.3713	0.4272	1.8540	Factor = 1.8540/0.4272
B3	$C_{13}H_{19}NO_6$	284.114	0.0789	0.0800	0.1030	0.6412	Factor = 0.6412/0.1030
B4	$C_{13}H_{17}NO_7$	298.0932	0.1403	0.1408	0.1890	0.5933	Factor = 0.5933/0.1890
B5	$C_{18}H_{28}O_7$	355.1762	0.4434	0.4528	0.5285	2.1822	Factor = 2.1822/0.5285
D1	$C_{14}H_{16}O_8$	311.0772	0.5165	0.5197	0.6140	0.6512	Factor = (0.5197/0.5165 + 0.6512/0.6140)/2
D2	$C_{17}H_{24}O_8$	355.1398	2.1211	2.1366	3.0489	3.0650	Factor = (2.1366/2.1211 + 3.0650/3.0489)/2
D3	$C_{16}H_{22}O_9$	357.1191	1.4340	1.4880	1.9826	1.8309	Factor = (1.4880/1.4340 + 1.8309/1.9826)/2
D4	$C_{19}H_{28}O_{9}$	399.1661	1.4453	1.3841	1.7431	1.8609	Factor = (1.3841/1.4453 + 1.8609/1.7431)/2
D5	$C_{19}H_{28}O_{10}$	415.161	1.0417	1.0112	1.2703	1.3158	Factor = (1.0112/1.0417 + 1.3158/1.2703)/2

MANUSCRIPT II

The molecular geography of dissolved organic matter in the Atlantic Ocean can largely be explained by a simple two-source mixing model

Maren Seibt¹, Jutta Niggemann¹, Helena Osterholz¹ and Thorsten Dittmar¹

A modified version of this chapter will be submitted to Nature

¹ Institute for Chemistry and Biology of the Marine Environment (ICBM), Research Group for Marine Geochemistry (ICBM-MPI Bridging Group), Carl von Ossietzky University of Oldenburg, Carl-von-Ossietzky-Straße 9-11, 26129 Oldenburg, Germany. The DOM molecular composition in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean is exceptionally similar across a large spatial scale. Highest dissimilarities in the molecular composition are found between the surface mixed layer and the deep sea. In this chapter, we arithmetically constructed a two-source mixing model with two disitinct endmembers (microbially produced DOM in a laboratory experiment and refractory DOM from the deep North Pacific) and compared the model to natural molecular fingerprints of Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM. The comparison showed that most of the molecular variability in DOM from both oceans is explained by mixtures of variable input of fresh DOM.

All authors designed the study. M. Seibt collected the samples from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. H. Osterholz performed the experiment and analyzed the data of the microbial DOM production experiment. M. Seibt performed data analysis of Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM and calculated the two-source mixing model together with H. Osterholz, J. Niggemann and T. Dittmar. M. Seibt wrote the manuscript with input from all authors.

The manuscript will be modified for submission to *Nature* and is presented here in more detail and with adjusted formatting according to the style of this thesis.

3.1 Abstract

Marine dissolved organic matter (DOM) is a structurally diverse mixture of thousands of different molecules resulting in extremely low concentrations (< picomolar) of individual compounds. However, the multitude of compounds adds up to one of the largest pools of reduced carbon in the world (662 Gt C) making DOM a significant component of the global carbon and climate cycle. Despite the geographical diversity of primary producers, microbial community structures, variety of abiotic conditions and ecosystem types in the global ocean, we found that marine molecular DOM composition is exceptionally similar across the globe (maximum of 14 % dissimilarity on a Bray-Curtis scale between surface and deep sea DOM in the Atlantic) when analyzed at ultrahigh analytical resolution using Fourier-Transform Ion Cyclotron Resonance Mass Spectrometry. Based on a two-source mixing model, constructed by arithmetically mixing increasing amounts of fresh with refractory DOM, we show that most of the observed molecular differences in DOM composition in more than 380 DOM samples from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean can be explained by the simple mixing of water masses carrying variable amounts of fresh DOM. We find that most of the compositional differences of marine DOM in these two global oceans are captured by only 27 modeled fingerprints, implying that the molecular signature of heterotrophic microbial processing is to some extent universal. Based on DOM molecular composition, we are for the first time able to quantify the contribution of microbially processed DOM in the open ocean, which is less than 4 μ M in the deep ocean and between 5 and 12 μ M in the surface mixed layer. Our results grant new insights into the cycling of DOM and identifies microbial production as one of the major drivers behind the molecular geography of DOM in the global ocean.

3.2 Introduction

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) is a complex mixture of thousands of different compounds and an even higher number of structural isomers (Hertkorn et al., 2007). The largest portion of the global DOM pool with uniformly low concentrations of $34 - 45 \mu$ mol C l⁻¹ (Druffel et al., 1992; Hansell et al., 2012) is found in the deep sea (630 ± 32 Gt C, Hansell, 2013), which is characterized by little DOM production and slow transformation rates (Reinthaler et al., 2006). Deep sea DOM is the result of extensive heterotrophic processing regarded as the recalcitrant leftover of biological activity (Jiao et al., 2010) and persists over the timescale of millennia in the deep ocean (Bauer et al., 1992; Williams and Druffel, 1987). In contrast, autotrophic production, heterotrophic turnover and abiotic processes such as photodegradation make the euphotic surface layer a much more variable environment concerning DOM pool size and reactivity. Higher DOC concentrations (up to 80 µmol C 1⁻¹, Hansell et al., 2009) are hypothesized to be due to the addition of freshly produced DOM (including labile, semi-labile and semi-refractory reactivity fractions of DOM) on top of a significant amount of refractory DOM and the accumulation of DOM above physical barriers such as the pycnocline (Hansell, 2013). The most labile part of DOM (containing amongst others amino acids and sugars) has turnover times of minutes to days (Hansell, 2013), making it rather easy to study its cycling in situ but also in laboratory experiments (Amon and Benner, 1994; Cherrier et al., 1996; Jorgensen et al., 2014). The much longer turnover time of years to millennia of the semi-labile, semi-refractory and refractory DOM pools (Hansell, 2013) makes it, however, very difficult to study their cycling in laboratory experiments. Due to its estimated age of millennia, the most refractory part of the DOM pool survives several cycles of the thermohaline circulation and forms the refractory background present in each marine DOM sample. The advent of ultrahigh resolution techniques such as Fourier-transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry (FT-ICR-MS) enables us to characterize the molecular DOM composition in unprecedented detail. Studies examining the molecular transformation of refractory DOM in the ocean find a continuum of DOM degradation states (Flerus et al., 2012; Lechtenfeld et al., 2014), emphasizing the complex processes shaping the molecular DOM composition. Knowing the turnover mechanisms and factors

influencing the molecular composition of this vast pool of organic carbon is, however, crucial for understanding its role in the global carbon and climate cycle.

Prokaryotic life in the ocean occurs at high abundance with an estimated total number of 1.2×10^{29} cells (Whitman et al., 1998) and estimates of the number of different species go as high as 10^6 (Curtis et al., 2002). Microbial community structures in the global oceans vary substantially, strongly depending on prevailing environmental conditions such as depth, temperature, salinity and availability of nutrients (e.g. Crump et al., 2004; Fuhrman et al., 1993). It was shown that deep water masses in the North Atlantic Ocean carry distinct microbial communities characteristic for each water mass (Agogué et al., 2011). Different microbial community structures and their associated metabolic pathways result in a complex mixture of organic compounds, which should be characteristic for the producing community. However, across the Atlantic and Southern Ocean, DOM molecular composition is exceptionally similar on a large latitudinal range (Flerus et al., 2012; Hansman et al., 2015; Lechtenfeld et al., 2014), with only little compositional differences on the molecular level. Major differences are the higher hydrogen to carbon ratios (Chen et al., 2014) and a smaller average molecule size of surface DOM when compared to deep sea DOM (Flerus et al., 2012). One reason for the missing direct link between the molecular DOM composition and the microbial community in the ocean could be the large discrepancy between observed time scales: Microbial turnover is an immediate process adding younger signatures to an already existing older DOM pool (Loh et al., 2004; Repeta and Aluwihare, 2006). These complex mixtures of degradation states and ages in marine DOM likely blur characteristic imprints of the producing community. Although an immediate connection between DOM composition and microbial community structure is difficult to observe, heterotrophic microbial activity is one of the major factors driving DOM composition (and vice versa) in the ocean (Amon and Benner, 1996; Landa et al., 2014; McCarren et al., 2010; Osterholz et al., 2014).

Osterholz et al. (2015) showed in a study with three mesocosms, each containing the same natural phytoplankton and microbial community at the beginning of the experiment, that the microbial community structure strongly diverged in the mesocosms over an incubation time of three years, whereas the molecular composition of DOM converged into similar signatures as complex as marine DOM, but yet different in the relative abundance of compounds. The results of this study indicate that the molecular signature of heterotrophic processing is to some extent universal and requires only a complex enough microbial community allowing for a multitude of possible interactions.

In this study, we follow the signature of microbial activity in the open ocean and test whether the molecular geography (i.e. the global distribution patterns of organic molecules) of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean can be explained by mixing the fresh signature of microbial processing with refractory background DOM. This would indicate that the observed compositional differences between surface and deep sea DOM is the result of simple mixing of waters carrying specific DOM signatures with variable contributions of freshly produced DOM. We test this hypothesis by constructing a two-source mixing model with modeled DOM compositions containing increasing amounts of fresh DOM. The two used DOM endmembers are the molecular signature of fresh DOM produced in a laboratory experiment (Osterholz et al., 2015) and the molecular signature of degraded DOM (North Equatorial Pacific Intermediate Water; NEqPIW). The modeled DOM compositions of this twosource mixing model are then compared to Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM and their molecular dissimilarity evaluated. All samples, including both endmembers as well as the whole data set from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean, were analyzed via FT-ICR-MS with the same instrument settings, making a direct comparison of the ultrahigh resolution fingerprints possible.

3.3 Material and methods

Sampling – For a detailed description of the mesocosm experiment and the sampling procedure refer to Osterholz et al. (2015). Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM was sampled during three cruises of R/V Polarstern to the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean (39° S to 71° S; ANT-XXVIII/2), to the Drake Passage and Antarctic Peninsula (56° S to 62° S, ANT-XXVIII/4) and the Atlantic Ocean (51° S to 47° N; ANT-XXVIII/4) between December 2011 and May 2012 (Figure 3.1 A). Samples were taken in high resolution in the surface water masses (20 m, 40 m, 60 m, 100 m, 200 m and in the fluorescence maximum, if present) and in lower

resolution in the deeper water masses (Figure 3.1 B, physical and other sample properties from cruise ANTXXVIII/4 correspond very well with samples of transect ANTXXVIII/2 and are therefore not visualized). The position of the upper and lower boundary of the pycnocline was identified during the CTD casts (water layer with rapid change of density) and following the 27.0 isopycnal, respectively. In total, 383 DOM samples were taken in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. All samples were extracted with a solid-phase extraction (SPE) method according to Dittmar et al. (2008). In brief, 41 of sea water were filtered through pre-combusted (400 °C, 4 h) 0.7 µm glass fibre filters (GF/F, Whatman, United Kingdom), acidified to a final pH of 2 (HCl, 25%, p.a., Carl Roth, Germany) and extracted with commercially pre-packed cartridges (1 g of sorbent, PPL, Agilent, USA). Following extraction, all samples were de-salted, dried and eluted with 6 ml methanol (HPLCgrade, Sigma-Aldrich, USA). Extracts were frozen at -20 °C until analysis in the laboratory in Oldenburg. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations of the extracts were quantified via the high temperature catalytic oxidation method (HTCO) on a Shimadzu TOC-VCPH/CPN Total Organic Carbon Analyzer equipped with an ASI-V autosampler. The carbon-based extraction efficiency was 53 ± 9 % for all Atlantic and Southern Ocean samples.



Figure 3.1 Sampling transects in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean (ANTXXVIII/2 from Cape Town/South Africa to Antarctica: ANTXXVIII/4 from Punta Arenas/Chile to the Antarctic Peninsula: ANTXXVIII/5 from Punta Arenas/Chile to Bremerhaven/Germany) (A) and salinity profiles along ANTXXVIII/2 (left) and ANTXXVIII/5 (right) with major water masses and frontal systems (data of ANTXXVIII/4 corresponds well to data of ANTXXVIII/2 and are not shown) (B). Dashed lines indicate the upper and lower boundary of the pycnocline and arrows the general flow direction of water masses. Please note the logarithmic depth scale. Abbreviations and number of samples for each water mass are as follows (in alphabetical order): Antarctic Bottom Water (AABW, n = 23), Antarctic Intermediate Water (AAIW, n = 19), Antarctic Surface Water (AASW, n = 111), Circumpolar Deep Water (CDW, n = 26), Eurafrican Mediterranean Water (EMW, n = 4), surface mixed layer of the Atlantic (mixed layer, n = 47), North Atlantic Central Water (NACW, n = 23), North Atlantic Deep Water (NADW, n = 22), South Atlantic Central Water (SACW, n = 30), Subantarctic Surface Water (SASW, n= 35), Subantarctic Mode Water (SAMW, n = 5), Subtropical Surface Water (STSW, n = 11), Weddell Sea Warm Deep Water (WDW, n = 19) and Weddell Sea Deep Water (WSDW, n = 8). All cross-section plots were produced with Ocean Data View (Schlitzer, 2015).

Molecular DOM composition – All SPE-DOM samples were analyzed via FT-ICR-MS (Bruker Daltonik GmbH, Bremen, Germany) equipped with a 15 T superconducting magnet (Bruker Biospin, Wissembourg, France) and an electrospray ionization source (ESI; Apollo II ion source, Bruker Daltonik GmbH, Bremen, Germany). ESI is a soft ionization technique, which allows the molecules to

stay intact and is widely used in the analysis of natural organic mixtures (D'Andrilli et al., 2010; Dittmar and Koch, 2006; Kujawinski and Behn, 2006). Prior to analysis all extracts were mixed with ultrapure water and methanol (MS grade, 1:1 v/v) to a final carbon concentration of 10 ppm, filtered (0.2 µm) and measured in negative ion mode. All mass spectra were analyzed with the Data Analysis version 4.0 SP4 software package (Bruker Daltonik GmbH) and recorded in a mass range of 150 - 2000 Da with 500 acquired scans. All spectra were internally calibrated using a list of > 50 known molecular formula mass peaks from a marine in-house reference sample. All ions were singly charged and the allowed error for ions used for the internal calibration was less than 0.1 ppm. The mass to charge ratio (m/z), resolution and peak intensity were exported and processed using in-house Matlab routines. Molecular formulae were assigned to peaks with a minimum signal-to-noise ratio of 4 following the rules published by Koch et al. (2007) with following restrictions: ¹²C₁₋₁₃₀¹H₁₋₂₀₀O₁₋₅₀¹⁴N₀₋₄S₀₋₂P₀₋₂. All mass-spectra were normalized by dividing each FT-ICR-MS signal intensity by the sum of all signal intensities present in the sample. All statistical analyses of FT-ICR-MS data were performed with the software "R" (Version 3.2.0, package "vegan"; Oksanen et al., 2015).

To account for analytical variance, we measured an in-house reference sample twice a day during the whole measuring campaign and determined the analytical variance by calculating a Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix for this reference data set. The Bray-Curtis dissimilarity is a measure of the molecular differences within a sample set and ranges from 0 % (identical sample) to 100 % (completely different sample). The determined analytical variance of 3.5 % was subtracted from Bray-Curtis dissimilarities matrices calculated for the mixing model and Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM.

Based on their molecular properties, all identified compounds were assigned to molecular categories (polyphenols, phenols, highly unsaturated compounds, unsaturated aliphatics and peptide-like molecular formulae) following the rules described by Romano et al. (2014) and their relative contribution to the overall intensity was calculated. Because a multitude of possible structural isomers exists behind every identified molecular formula (Hertkorn et al., 2007), the classification into molecular categories is not unambiguous and an affiliation to another compound group may also be possible. For the ease of reading we will regard the sorting into molecular categories to be universally applicable neglecting the possibility of any other compound affiliation.

Flerus et al. (2012) showed that marine SPE-DOM is similar in apparent age and distribution to bulk DOM. Furthermore, Osterholz et al. (2015) showed that FT-ICR-MS is a valid method for characterizing the molecular evolution of DOM. It is, however, noteworthy that due to our analytical window small molecules (<150 Da) as well as colloidal material is lost. SPE-DOM is therefore the operationally defined fraction of marine DOM, which can be studied with the described methods and instrumentation. We will further discuss only SPE-DOC concentrations and the molecular composition of SPE-DOM obtained via FT-ICR-MS.

Two-source mixing model – The two-source mixing model is based on the hypothesis that marine DOM is a mixture of freshly produced microbial DOM (mesocosm) on top of a refractory background (NEqPIW DOM). For the mixing model, we took an integrated sample over the second year of the mesocosm experiment performed by Osterholz et al. (2015) assuming that due to our sampling time frame only semilabile and semi-refractory DOM is present. NEqPIW is one of the oldest water masses on Earth (Bostock et al., 2010) and has long lost its contact to the productive surface layers. DOM in this water mass largely resisted microbial degradation (refractory DOM; Hansell et al., 2009). For model calculation and evaluation only peaks present in both endmember samples and with assigned molecular formulae were used (n = 3257). The molecular dissimilarity between the fresh and refractory endmember was 45 % on a Bray-Curtis scale indicating that 55 % of both DOM pools was either molecularly indistinguishable or the dissimilarities were not resolvable on the Bray-Curtis scale (Figure 3.2).

We used two different approaches to calculate the two-source mixing model. First, we mixed the methanol extracts of fresh DOM and refractory DOM in different ratios (50:50, 60:40, 70:30, 80:20 and 90:10 vol.-% fresh and refractory DOM, respectively) and analyzed them along with the pure endmembers via FT-ICR-MS. In order to obtain a finer resolution, we used in a second approach the mass spectra of the analyzed endmembers and mixed them arithmetically in one-percent steps from 99:1 to 1:99 % fresh and refractory DOM, respectively (Figure 3.4 B). The

molecular Bray-Curtis dissimilarity of the corresponding mixtures from both approaches was on average 3 %, which was within the rage of the detected analytical variation (Figure 3.2). We therefore conclude that both approaches are valid and we further use the finer resolution model.

The molecular differences between modeled fingerprints and Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM were assessed via the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity. The modeled fingerprint having the lowest molecular dissimilarity to a DOM fingerprint from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean was defined as the optimum fit between model and marine DOM.





Arithmetical mixing model

3.4 Results

DOC concentration and DOM molecular composition - SPE-DOC concentrations in the deep Atlantic and Southern Ocean were uniformly low $(20 - 30 \mu \text{mol C } 1^{-1})$ and higher in the surface mixed layer of the Atlantic $(35 - 46 \mu mol C l^{-1})$, where accumulation of DOM is possible due to the presence of a seasonal and permanent pycnocline (Figure 3.3 A). To test whether the concentration gradient is also reflected on the molecular level, the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity between our samples and NEqPIW DOM was calculated. This calculation provided an estimation to what extent the molecular DOM composition of our samples differed from the most refractory DOM in the ocean. In the surface mixed layer, DOM was most different from refractory DOM with Bray-Curtis dissimilarities of up to 14 % (Figure 3.3 B). However, the strong concentration gradient with double the concentration in the surface mixed layer compared to the underlying deeper water masses was not reflected on the molecular level. Surface mixed layer DOM appeared to be at least to 86 % molecularly indistinguishable from refractory DOM on a Bray-Curtis scale. The DOM in the Southern Ocean and the deeper water masses of the Atlantic were less dissimilar to NEqPIW DOM with dissimilarities of up to 8 %.



Figure 3.3 SPE-DOC concentration **(A)** and the molecular dissimilarity between samples from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean and NEqPIW DOM **(B)**. The left and right panels show sampling transects ANTXXVIII/2 and ANTXXVIII/5, respectively. The black dots correspond to sampling depths. Please note the different units and scaling of the color bar.

Optimum fit between model and Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM – In order for the mixing model to explain any molecular variability in the ocean, a minimum in molecular dissimilarity (in other words: a maximum similarity) between Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM and the modeled DOM compositions must exist (optimum fit). Furthermore, the optimum fit should correspond to more than one modeled fingerprint accounting for molecular dissimilarity patterns observed between our samples and refractory DOM from the NEqPIW (Figure 3.3 B). The optimum fit found between our samples and the model corresponded indeed to 27 different modeled fingerprints containing various amounts of fresh DOM. The water masses from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean can be grouped into three clusters (optimum fit clusters) according to their optimum model fit (Figure 3.4): The deep Atlantic and Southern Ocean (average optimum fit at 4 % fresh DOM, blue cluster in Figure 3.4), the subsurface water masses of the Atlantic (average optimum fit at 12 % fresh DOM, green cluster in Figure 3.4) and the surface water masses of the Atlantic (average optimum fit at 20 % fresh DOM, orange cluster in Figure 3.4). For validation of the model we substituted our observed DOM compositions from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean with the 27 modeled optimum fit fingerprints and calculated again the molecular Bray-Curtis dissimilarity to refractory NEqPIW DOM (Figure 3.5 A). The resulting dissimilarity patterns showed a striking resemblance to the observed dissimilarity patterns of our samples to NEqPIW deep sea DOM, implying that 27 modeled molecular fingerprints with variable amounts of fresh DOM can explain the molecular geography of Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM.

The residual molecular dissimilarity, which was not explained by the two-source mixing model is shown in Figure 3.5 B. However, the optimum fit reduced the molecular dissimilarity to almost the same level for all water masses ranging from 6 to 8 %. Hence, our model compensated the higher dissimilarities observed for the surface mixed layer and reduced its molecular dissimilarity to the same level Atlantic deep sea and Southern Ocean DOM showed to the refractory NEqPIW DOM.





77



Figure 3.5 Validation of two-source mixing model **(A)** and residual molecular dissimilarity of Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM, which is not explained by the two-source mixing model **(B)**. The model was validated by substituting Southern Ocean and Atlantic DOM samples with the modeled molecular signature of the optimum fits and calculating the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity to NEqPIW DOM. The dissimilarity patterns are strikingly similar to the dissimilarity patterns observed for Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM and NEqPIW DOM as seen in Figure 3.3 B. The residual molecular dissimilarity for each sample in (B) corresponds to the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity of the optimum fits in Figure 3.4 A (y-axis).

The classification of DOM compounds into molecular categories provided information about the possible structures of the identified compounds and about the molecular characteristics of fresh and refractory DOM. With this information, we were able to identify the groups responsible for the observed the molecular dissimilarities and to draw conclusions concerning the cycling of fresh DOM in the ocean. The most abundant group of molecules in marine and mesocosm DOM were the highly unsaturated compounds followed by the unsaturated aliphatics, polyphenols, peptide-like molecular formulae and phenols (Figure 3.6 A – E). All compound categories were present in significantly higher abundances in freshly produced DOM (mesocosm DOM) except for the highly unsaturated compound group suggesting that unsaturation is a characteristic trait for more degraded forms of DOM. Oxygenrich unsaturated compounds were significantly less abundant in mesocosm DOM indicating that the production of oxygen-rich compounds was not a major feature of microbial production. The molecular compositions of the optimum fits reflected very well the respective proportions of the various compound groups in marine DOM except for the polyphenols, which were overall more abundant in model endmembers and optimum fits (Figure 3.6 C).



Figure 3.6 Average relative abundance of the molecular compound categories of highly unsaturated compounds (A), unsaturated aliphatics (B), polyphenols (C), phenols (D) and peptide-like molecular formulae (E) for every water mass (observations) and the model (yellow boxes, NEqPIW and mesocosm DOM represent the fingerprints of the model endmembers; optimum fits I, II and III correspond to modeled fingerprints at the dissimilarity minimum of the two-source mixing model (blue, green and orange arrow, respectively, see Figure 3.4). The white dashed line in (A) indicates the relative contribution of oxygen-rich highly unsaturated compounds below white line (32 ± 1 % for Atlantic/Southern Ocean DOM, optimum fits I, II, III of the model and NEqPIW DOM; ~14 % for mesocosm DOM) and the oxygen-poor highly unsaturated compounds above white line ($\sim 59 \pm 1$ % for Atlantic/Southern Ocean DOM as well as for model).

3.5 Discussion

General molecular characteristics of DOM composition – Refractory DOM is found everywhere in the ocean. Due to its millennial stability (Hansell, 2013), it survives multiple cycles of the thermohaline circulation (1000 - 2000 years; Döös et al., 2012), explaining its presences at all depths. It is, however, still unknown whether its contribution to the total DOM pool is constant or whether it contributes variable amounts throughout the water column. The strong concentration gradient observed between the surface mixed layer and the deep sea was not reflected on the molecular level (double the concentration but only 6 % higher molecular variability in the surface mixed layer; Figure 3.3 A and B). The small, but observable molecular dissimilarities between surface and refractory DOM indicate, however, that substantially different processes in the euphotic layer shape the DOM composition and introduce a higher molecular variability. The results of our simple two-source mixing model strongly suggest that the higher molecular variability in the surface mixed layer is due to the addition of semi-labile and semi-refractory DOM on top of a refractory background. The DOM produced in the mesocosms is as diverse as refractory deep sea DOM on the molecular formulae level, but differs strongly in the relative abundance of compounds (Osterholz et al., 2015). More precisely, mesocosm DOM contained on average smaller molecules (~ 351 Da) than deep Atlantic and NEqPIW DOM (~ 424 Da and 426 Da, respectively, Figure 3.4 B). For the mixed layer we observed a smaller molecule size (~ 410 Da) than for all other DOM samples. An increase in average molecule size in the ocean goes along with molecular ageing (Flerus et al., 2012; Martínez-Pérez et al., 2017) and the molecule size in the mixed layer represents either the mixture of DOM pools with different ages (i.e. our two-source mixing model) or is the result of molecular aging. If the latter is true, molecular aging must be a rapid process acting on timescales of less than a year due to the seasonal mixing of the upper water layers. This, however, is contradictory to the year-long stability of semi-labile and semi-refractory DOM (Hansell, 2013). It is therefore unlikely that the observed molecular dissimilarities between the surface mixed layer and the underlying water masses are just the result of molecular ageing, but rather that, along with molecular aging, the mixing of DOM

signatures with different production and transformation histories is responsible for these patterns.

The classification of the molecular signatures into compound groups gives more valuable clues concerning the molecular composition of the samples and the model: Unsaturated aliphatics and peptide-like molecular formulae are indicative of bioactive processes shaping the DOM molecular composition. Their higher abundance in the mesocosms but also in the surface mixed layer of the Atlantic is therefore not surprising (Figure 3.6 B and E). It was shown that algal exudates are highly aliphatic (Sun et al., 1997), explaining the pattern observed in marine DOM composition. Phenolic and polyphenolic structures originate mostly from terrigenous sources (vascular plant material), but are also present in the open ocean (Figure 3.6 C and D). A study by Hernes and Benner (2006) shows a higher concentration of phenols in the North Atlantic compared to the Pacific, explaining the overestimation of phenols in our model. The residence time of 35 years in the Atlantic for phenols calculated by the same authors indicates their affiliation to the semi-labile and semi-refractory DOM pool and explains their lower abundance in the deep sea. Aromatic structures such as polyphenols are mostly photo-reactive (Stubbins and Dittmar, 2015) and their low contribution to the overall intensity (lowest in the surface mixed layer) in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean is not surprising. Due to the lack of water mass ventilation and the production of chromophoric DOM (CDOM) as byproduct of the oxidation of organic matter from sinking particles in the North Pacific (Nelson et al., 2010), NEqPIW DOM contains more polyphenolic substances than the deep Atlantic. These changes on the molecular level and also the decrease in DOM concentration due to microbial consumption (Hansell and Carlson, 1998) might account for the observable molecular dissimilarities between the deep Atlantic and North Pacific (Figure 3.3 B and Figure 3.5 B).

Mixing model – The optimum fits of DOM signatures between our model and Atlantic and Southern Ocean vary in the contribution of fresh DOM. Atlantic DOM is much younger than Pacific DOM as seen in the apparent radiocarbon age (Bauer et al., 1992) and the low but traceable amounts of fresh DOM in the deep Atlantic account for that younger age (4 % fresh DOM, blue arrow Figure 3.4). The highest contribution of fresh DOM (20 %, orange arrow Figure 3.4) was observed for the surface water masses in the Atlantic Ocean reflecting very well the high biological activity in the euphotic zone. The optimum fit between model and the subsurface water masses within the pycnocline was at 12 % fresh DOM (green arrow Figure 3.4), indicating that within the pycnocline water from the surface mixed layer is mixed along isopycnal surfaces and exported via the winter-deepening of the seasonal thermocline (Carlson et al., 2010) into deeper layers resulting in a molecular composition resembling the modeled fingerprints of intermediate amounts of fresh DOM.

Our model provides molecular fingerprints with increasing amounts of laboratorycreated DOM on top of a refractory background. The molecular dissimilarity between modeled fingerprints and Atlantic and Southern Ocean fingerprints decreased until their respective optimum fits and reduced the observed dissimilarity at most 6% to a range of 5-10% residual dissimilarity. Thus, the addition of semi-labile and semi-refractory DOM produced by heterotrophic microbes accounted for almost all observed molecular variability between surface and deep sea DOM (Figure 3.5 B). The residual molecular dissimilarity, which was observed between all Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM and NEqPIW DOM, is probably due to processes not described in this study. Such process can include microbial consumption along the flow path of water masses (Hansell and Carlson, 1998), photodegradation (Stubbins and Dittmar, 2015), thermogenic transformation (Hawkes et al., 2015), or the removal of DOC due to aggregate formation (Chin et al., 1998). We tried to include photodegradation into our model by adding a third modeled dimension. We did that by constructing a second mixing model with the molecular fingerprints used for the optimum fits of the here presented model and the molecular fingerprints of a photodegradation experiment and checked whether the molecular dissimilarity would decrease any further. However, that was not the case. This does not mean that photodegradation has no influence on the molecular DOM composition, but rather that it is not captured with the chosen methods and the scope of this model. The Bray-Curtis dissimilarity accounts only for quantitative changes of relative peak abundances and provides no indication about qualitative changes on the molecular level, which is also a major feature of photodegradation.

Nevertheless, heterotrophic processing seems to be the major influencing factor on DOM composition in the surface ocean, although the surface layer is almost completely depleted in nutrients (Garcia et al., 2014) which are required in the microbial metabolism. However, Milici et al. (2016) found that although cell numbers are low in the gyres, bacterioplankton diversity at the surface is highest at mid-latitudinal regions of the Atlantic Ocean, indicating a closely interlinked biological and geochemical system capable of shaping the DOM pool in the oligotrophic surface water masses of the Atlantic. The high nutrient availability and production rates (Arrigo et al., 1998) in the Southern Ocean are not reflected on the molecular level. This is probably due to the well mixed water column, which does not allow accumulation of semi-labile and semi-refractory DOM above physical barriers, but reflects also the fast recycling and transient occurrence of labile DOM in the Southern Ocean (Kähler et al., 1997).

Another striking feature of the mixing model is that the molecular geography of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean can be reconstructed with only 27 mathematically created molecular fingerprints containing increasing amounts of fresh DOM on top of a refractory background. This is in two ways extraordinary: First, the DOM molecular variability in two major global oceans can be condensed to and explained by a surprisingly low number of different molecular compositions. Second, a distinct microbial community taken from the coastal North Sea is capable of producing DOM, which accounts for the dissimilarity patterns observed in the global ocean. Furthermore, they seem to transform initially heterogeneous DOM, which is during its production dependent on phytoplankton phylogeny (Becker et al., 2014), into a more homogenous composition detectable everywhere in the global ocean. The mesocosm experiment performed by Osterholz et al. (2015) showed that under laboratory conditions even a distinct bacterial community already possesses the metabolic capacity of producing DOM that is as diverse as open ocean DOM. This requires to some extent an independence between the producing community and the molecular DOM composition as indicated by several studies before (Landa et al., 2014; Mou et al., 2008; Sarmento and Gasol, 2012), a concept that our model suggests is also correct on a global scale.

The known contributions of fresh DOM to our modeled fingerprints and the knowledge of the optimum fit for every DOM fingerprint in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean allowed us for the first time to calculate the amount of the semi-labile and semi-refractory DOM fractions based on the molecular DOM composition. So far, reactivity fractions were determined based on concentration and physical properties of the water column (Figure 3.7 A; Hansell, 2013) The concentration of the semi-persistent DOM fractions (i.e. semi-labile and semi-refractory) corresponded to the amount of fresh DOM in the optimum model fit and can therefore be expressed as percentage of SPE-DOC for each sample. For example, the concentration of the semi-resistant fractions for a sample from the surface mixed layer with a SPE-DOC concentration of 40 µmol 1⁻¹ and an optimum model fit at 20 % fresh DOM would be 40 μ mol l⁻¹ * 0.2 = 8 μ mol l⁻¹. This calculation yields concentrations of the semi-persistent fractions of 6 -12 μ mol l⁻¹ for the biological active surface layer and $0 - 4 \mu mol 1^{-1}$ for the deep sea and the Southern Ocean (Figure 3.7 B). Consequently, the concentration of SPE-DOC, which is on the molecular level indistinguishable from deep sea DOM, is $23 - 40 \mu mol 1^{-1}$ in the surface mixed layer. Whether it belongs to the truly refractory DOM pool, which persists in the ocean over the timescales of millennia or whether it is part of a molecularly identical fresher and therefore younger DOM pool, remains open to debate. It has been hypothesized that the long-term stability of DOM is independent from its intrinsic molecular structure and is rather driven by concentration (Arrieta et al., 2015). The results of our study show that a large fraction in excess of deep sea DOM concentrations has indeed an identical molecular composition as deep sea DOM on the compound level. This supports the dilution hypothesis of Arrieta et al. (2015). Additionally, Follett et al. (2014) showed that refractory DOM (radiocarbon depleted) co-cycles with fresh (radiocarbon enriched) DOM in the surface ocean, providing further evidence that bioavailability of DOM is not a matter of age or composition but rather the concentration in which compounds are present in the water column.

Hansman et al. (2015) showed that the molecular DOM composition in the deep North Atlantic is the result of conservative water mass mixing emphasizing the importance of this process on the molecular DOM composition. Our results revealed that one of the major drivers shaping DOM compositions in the Atlantic and Southern is the simple mixing of two molecularly distinct endmembers. This indicates that the observed DOM molecular patterns in the ocean are not just the result of molecular aging, which is a very slow process taking place on the timescales of thousands of years, but is also the result of mixing waters. Especially the deepening of the thermocline in winter enables export of surface signatures into the mesopelagic, explaining the observed patterns in subsurface water masses of the Atlantic.



Figure 3.7 Conceptual illustration of the concentration of the DOM reactivity fractions determined via concentration (gray box, Hansell, 2013) and molecular composition (yellow box, this study) **(A)**. Concentration of fresh SPE-DOC along transects ANTXXVIII/2 (left) and ANTXXVIII/5 (right) determined via the two-source mixing model **(B)**. For calculation see text.

3.6 Conclusion

With this study, we traced the signal of microbial production in the global ocean and showed that the molecular geography of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean is indeed explainable by the simple mixing of two distinct molecular endmembers. We could follow the signal of fresh DOM into the abyssal ocean and conclude that water mass mixing is probably one of the major processes facilitating the propagation of this signal. Furthermore, we are able to show that microbial production is by far the most important process shaping the molecular DOM composition in the open ocean and for the first time it is now possible to quantify the contribution of these semi-labile and semi-refractory fractions based on their molecular composition. These results offer new insights into the cycling the semi-persistent DOM fractions.

The chosen evaluation method of molecular dissimilarities (i.e. the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity) in this study provides a measure of the quantity of molecular differences between samples, but yields only limited information on the quality of the observed dissimilarities. Structural information of mesocosm and NEqPIW DOM revealed that organic acids prevail in both samples, although the overall molecular composition is different for fresh and truly refractory DOM (Osterholz et al., 2015). Behind each molecular formula detected in the marine DOM pool as many as 100,000 different isomers may be hidden, each present in picomolar concentrations (Zark et al., 2017), emphasizing the structural diversity of marine DOM. Elucidating the structural composition is a key component for understanding the cycling of DOM on the molecular level and ought to be considered in future studies.

3.7 Acknowledgements

The authors thank K. Klaproth, M. Friebe and I. Ulber for technical support with FT-ICR-MS and lab assistance. Furthermore, the authors like to thank the crew of the research vessel "Polarstern" for professional assistance during sample collection.

This work was funded by the German Science Foundation (NI 1366-1/1).

3.8 References

- Agogué, H., Lamy, D., Neal, P.R., Sogin, M.L. and Herndl, G.J., 2011. Water massspecificity of bacterial communities in the North Atlantic revealed by massively parallel sequencing. Molecular Ecology 20, 258-274.
- Amon, R.M. and Benner, R., 1996. Bacterial utilization of different size classes of dissolved organic matter. Limnology and Oceanography 41, 41-51.
- Amon, R.M.W. and Benner, R., 1994. Rapid cycling of high-molecular-weight dissolved organic matter in the ocean. Nature 369, 549-552.
- Arrieta, J.M., Mayol, E., Hansman, R.L., Herndl, G.J., Dittmar, T. and Duarte, C.M., 2015. Dilution limits dissolved organic carbon utilization in the deep ocean. Science 348, 331-333.
- Arrigo, K.R., Worthen, D., Schnell, A. and Lizotte, M.P., 1998. Primary production in Southern Ocean waters. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans 103, 15587-15600.
- Bauer, J.E., Williams, P.M. and Druffel, E.R.M., 1992. ¹⁴C activity of dissolved organic carbon fractions in the north-central Pacific and Sargasso Sea. Nature 357, 667-670.
- Becker, J.W., Berube, P.M., Follett, C.L., Waterbury, J.B., Chisholm, S.W., DeLong, E.F. and Repeta, D.J., 2014. Closely related phytoplankton species produce similar suites of dissolved organic matter. Frontiers in Microbiology 5, 111.
- Bostock, H.C., Opdyke, B.N. and Williams, M.J., 2010. Characterising the intermediate depth waters of the Pacific Ocean using δ^{13} C and other geochemical tracers. Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers 57, 847-859.
- Carlson, C.A., Hansell, D.A., Nelson, N.B., Siegel, D.A., Smethie, W.M., Khatiwala, S., Meyers, M.M. and Halewood, E., 2010. Dissolved organic carbon export and subsequent remineralization in the mesopelagic and bathypelagic realms of the North Atlantic basin. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 57, 1433-1445.

- Chen, H., Stubbins, A., Perdue, E.M., Green, N.W., Helms, J.R., Mopper, K. and Hatcher, P.G., 2014. Ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometric differentiation of dissolved organic matter isolated by coupled reverse osmosis-electrodialysis from various major oceanic water masses. Marine Chemistry 164, 48-59.
- Cherrier, J., Bauer, J.E. and Druffel, E.R.M., 1996. Utilization and turnover of labile dissolved organic matter by bacterial heterotrophs in eastern North Pacific surface waters. Marine Ecology Progress Series 139, 267-279.
- Chin, W.-C., Orellana, M.V. and Verdugo, P., 1998. Spontaneous assembly of marine dissolved organic matter into polymer gels. Nature 391, 568-572.
- Crump, B.C., Hopkinson, C.S., Sogin, M.L. and Hobbie, J.E., 2004. Microbial biogeography along an estuarine salinity gradient: combined influences of bacterial growth and residence time. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70, 1494-1505.
- Curtis, T.P., Sloan, W.T. and Scannell, J.W., 2002. Estimating prokaryotic diversity and its limits. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 99, 10494-10499.
- D'Andrilli, J., Chanton, J.P., Glaser, P.H. and Cooper, W.T., 2010. Characterization of dissolved organic matter in northern peatland soil porewaters by ultra high resolution mass spectrometry. Organic Geochemistry 41, 791-799.
- Dittmar, T., Koch, B., Hertkorn, N. and Kattner, G., 2008. A simple and efficient method for the solid-phase extraction of dissolved organic matter (SPE-DOM) from seawater. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 6, 230-235.
- Dittmar, T. and Koch, B.P., 2006. Thermogenic organic matter dissolved in the abyssal ocean. Marine Chemistry 102, 208-217.
- Döös, K., Nilsson, J., Nycander, J., Brodeau, L. and Ballarotta, M., 2012. The World Ocean Thermohaline Circulation. Journal of Physical Oceanography 42, 1445-1460.
- Druffel, E.R.M., Williams, P.M., Bauer, J.E. and Ertel, J.R., 1992. Cycling of dissolved and particulate organic matter in the open ocean. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans 97, 15639-15659.

- Flerus, R., Lechtenfeld, O., Koch, B.P., McCallister, S., Schmitt-Kopplin, P., Benner, R., Kaiser, K. and Kattner, G., 2012. A molecular perspective on the ageing of marine dissolved organic matter. Biogeosciences 9, 1935-1955
- Follett, C.L., Repeta, D.J., Rothman, D.H., Xu, L. and Santinelli, C., 2014. Hidden cycle of dissolved organic carbon in the deep ocean. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111, 16706-16711.
- Fuhrman, J., McCallum, K. and Davis, A., 1993. Phylogenetic diversity of subsurface marine microbial communities from the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59, 1294-1302.
- Garcia, H., Locarnini, R., Boyer, T., Antonov, J., Baranova, O., Zweng, M., Reagan, J. and Johnson, D., 2014. World Ocean Atlas 2013, Volume 4: Dissolved inorganic nutrients (phosphate, nitrate, silicate). NOAA Atlas NESDIS 76, 25.
- Hansell, D., Carlson, C., Repeta, D. and Schlitzer, R., 2009. Dissolved organic matter in the ocean: New insights stimulated by a controversy. Oceanography 22, 202-211.
- Hansell, D.A., 2013. Recalcitrant Dissolved Organic Carbon Fractions. Annual Review of Marine Science 5, 421-445.
- Hansell, D.A. and Carlson, C.A., 1998. Deep-ocean gradients in the concentration of dissolved organic carbon. Nature 395, 263-266.
- Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A. and Schlitzer, R., 2012. Net removal of major marine dissolved organic carbon fractions in the subsurface ocean. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 26, GB1016.
- Hansman, R.L., Dittmar, T. and Herndl, G.J., 2015. Conservation of dissolved organic matter molecular composition during mixing of the deep water masses of the northeast Atlantic Ocean. Marine Chemistry 177, 288-297.
- Hawkes, J.A., Rossel, P.E., Stubbins, A., Butterfield, D., Connelly, D.P., Achterberg, E.P., Koschinsky, A., Chavagnac, V., Hansen, C.T. and Bach, W., 2015.
 Efficient removal of recalcitrant deep-ocean dissolved organic matter during hydrothermal circulation. Nature Geoscience 8, 856-860.

- Hernes, P.J. and Benner, R., 2006. Terrigenous organic matter sources and reactivity in the North Atlantic Ocean and a comparison to the Arctic and Pacific oceans. Marine Chemistry 100, 66-79.
- Hertkorn, N., Ruecker, C., Meringer, M., Gugisch, R., Frommberger, M., Perdue, E.M., Witt, M. and Schmitt-Kopplin, P., 2007. High-precision frequency measurements: indispensable tools at the core of the molecular-level analysis of complex systems. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 389, 1311-1327.
- Jiao, N., Herndl, G.J., Hansell, D.A., Benner, R., Kattner, G., Wilhelm, S.W., Kirchman, D.L., Weinbauer, M.G., Luo, T., Chen, F. and Azam, F., 2010. Microbial production of recalcitrant dissolved organic matter: long-term carbon storage in the global ocean. Nature Reviews Microbiology 8, 593-599.
- Jorgensen, L., Lechtenfeld, O.J., Benner, R., Middelboe, M. and Stedmon, C.A., 2014. Production and transformation of dissolved neutral sugars and amino acids by bacteria in seawater. Biogeosciences 11, 5349-5363.
- Kähler, P., Bjornsen, P.K., Lochte, K. and Antia, A., 1997. Dissolved organic matter and its utilization by bacteria during spring in the Southern Ocean. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 44, 341-353.
- Koch, B.P., Dittmar, T., Witt, M. and Kattner, G., 2007. Fundamentals of molecular formula assignment to ultrahigh resolution mass data of natural organic matter. Analytical Chemistry 79, 1758-1763.
- Kujawinski, E.B. and Behn, M.D., 2006. Automated analysis of electrospray ionization Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectra of natural organic matter. Analytical Chemistry 78, 4363-4373.
- Landa, M., Cottrell, M., Kirchman, D., Kaiser, K., Medeiros, P., Tremblay, L., Batailler, N., Caparros, J., Catala, P. and Escoubeyrou, K., 2014. Phylogenetic and structural response of heterotrophic bacteria to dissolved organic matter of different chemical composition in a continuous culture study. Environmental Microbiology 16, 1668-1681.
- Lechtenfeld, O.J., Kattner, G., Flerus, R., McCallister, S.L., Schmitt-Kopplin, P. and Koch, B.P., 2014. Molecular transformation and degradation of refrac-

tory dissolved organic matter in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 126, 321-337.

- Loh, A.N., Bauer, J.E. and Druffel, E.R.M., 2004. Variable ageing and storage of dissolved organic components in the open ocean. Nature 430, 877-881.
- Martínez-Pérez, A.M., Osterholz, H., Nieto-Cid, M., Álvarez, M., Dittmar, T. and Álvarez-Salgado, X.A., 2017. Molecular composition of dissolved organic matter in the Mediterranean Sea. Limnology and Oceanography.
- McCarren, J., Becker, J.W., Repeta, D.J., Shi, Y., Young, C.R., Malmstrom, R.R., Chisholm, S.W. and DeLong, E.F., 2010. Microbial community transcriptomes reveal microbes and metabolic pathways associated with dissolved organic matter turnover in the sea. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107, 16420-16427.
- Milici, M., Tomasch, J., Wos-Oxley, M.L., Wang, H., Jáuregui, R., Camarinha-Silva, A., Deng, Z.-L., Plumeier, I., Giebel, H.-A., Wurst, M., Pieper, D.H., Simon, M. and Wagner-Döbler, I., 2016. Low diversity of planktonic bacteria in the tropical ocean. Scientific Reports, 6.
- Mou, X., Sun, S., Edwards, R.A., Hodson, R.E. and Moran, M.A., 2008. Bacterial carbon processing by generalist species in the coastal ocean. Nature 451, 708.
- Nelson, N.B., Siegel, D.A., Carlson, C.A. and Swan, C.M., 2010. Tracing global biogeochemical cycles and meridional overturning circulation using chromophoric dissolved organic matter. Geophysical Research Letters 37.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H. and Wagner, H., 2015. Vegan: Community Ecology Package, R package version 2.3-0 ed.
- Osterholz, H., Dittmar, T. and Niggemann, J., 2014. Molecular evidence for rapid dissolved organic matter turnover in Arctic fjords. Marine Chemistry 160, 1-10.
- Osterholz, H., Niggemann, J., Giebel, H.-A., Simon, M. and Dittmar, T., 2015. Inefficient microbial production of refractory dissolved organic matter in the ocean. Nature Communications, 6, 7422.

- Reinthaler, T., van Aken, H., Veth, C., Arístegui, J., Robinson, C., Williams, P.J.I.B., Lebaron, P. and Herndl, G.J., 2006. Prokaryotic respiration and production in the meso- and bathypelagic realm of the eastern and western North Atlantic basin. Limnology and Oceanography 51, 1262-1273.
- Repeta, D.J. and Aluwihare, L.I., 2006. Radiocarbon analysis of neutral sugars in high-molecular-weight dissolved organic carbon: Implications for organic carbon cycling. Limnology and Oceanography 51, 1045-1053.
- Romano, S., Dittmar, T., Bondarev, V., Weber, R.J., Viant, M.R. and Schulz-Vogt, H.N., 2014. Exo-metabolome of Pseudovibrio sp. FO-BEG1 analyzed by ultra-high resolution mass spectrometry and the effect of phosphate limitation. PLoS One 9, e96038.
- Sarmento, H. and Gasol, J.M., 2012. Use of phytoplankton-derived dissolved organic carbon by different types of bacterioplankton. Environmental Microbiology 14, 2348-2360.
- Schlitzer, R., 2015. Ocean Data View. www.odv.awi.de
- Stubbins, A. and Dittmar, T., 2015. Illuminating the deep: Molecular signatures of photochemical alteration of dissolved organic matter from North Atlantic Deep Water. Marine Chemistry 177, 318-324.
- Sun, L., Perdue, E.M., Meyer, J.L. and Weis, J., 1997. Use of elemental composition to predict bioavailability of dissolved organic matter in a Georgia river. Limnology and Oceanography 42, 714-721.
- Whitman, W.B., Coleman, D.C. and Wiebe, W.J., 1998. Prokaryotes: the unseen majority. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 95, 6578-6583.
- Williams, P.M. and Druffel, E.R.M., 1987. Radiocarbon in dissolved organic matter in the central North Pacific Ocean. Nature 330, 246-248.
- Zark, M., Christoffers, J. and Dittmar, T., 2017. Molecular properties of deep-sea dissolved organic matter are predictable by the central limit theorem: Evidence from tandem FT-ICR-MS. Marine Chemistry 191, 9-15.

MANUSCRIPT III

Molecular geography of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean: Distribution patterns of organically bound dissolved nitrogen and biogeochemical implications

Maren Seibt¹, Thorsten Dittmar¹ and Jutta Niggemann¹

This chapter corresponds to a full manuscript that was prepared for submission to Marine Chemistry

¹ Institute for Chemistry and Biology of the Marine Environment (ICBM), Research Group for Marine Geochemistry (ICBM-MPI Bridging Group), Carl von Ossietzky University of Oldenburg, Carl-von-Ossietzky-Straße 9-11, 26129 Oldenburg, Germany. Nitrogen is a key nutrient in marine ecosystems. The availability of nutrients in the euphotic water layer often limits the activity and the abundance of primary producers. Nitrogen is present in the ocean in inorganic and organic forms, both serving as energy source to microbes. In this chapter, the distribution and molecular composition of solid-phase extractable dissolved organic nitrogen (SPE-DON) of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean is reported and the associated biogeochemical implications explored.

All authors designed the study. Field work, sample preparation, ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometry analysis and data analysis was done by M. Seibt with input from all authors. M. Seibt wrote the manuscript with significant input from T. Dittmar and J. Niggemann.

The manuscript is prepared for submission to *Marine Chemistry* and presented with adjusted formatting according to the style of this thesis.
4.1 Abstract

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) contains nitrogen, sulfur and phosphorus in varying amounts. These elements influence the reactivity of organic molecules and are essential for sustaining microbial life. Thus, knowing their concentration, availability and global distribution is key to understanding global carbon and element cycles. In this study, we present detailed molecular-level information on DOM composition obtained via Fourier-transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry (FT-ICR-MS) from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean with special emphasis on the nitrogen containing DOM molecules. The distribution pattern of solid-phase extractable dissolved organic nitrogen (SPE-DON) showed unique features that can be related to biological activity and availability of inorganic nutrients. Significant negative correlation between the concentration of SPE-DON and inorganic nitrogen species (Pearson's r = -0.77, p < 0.05) indicated a close coupling and constant exchange between the two dissolved nitrogen pools. Based on a comprehensive data set of 383 DOM samples, with more than 4500 identified molecular formulae of which almost 2000 contained nitrogen, we revealed distinct SPE-DON distribution features. In the surface mixed layer of the Atlantic Ocean, two contrasting regimes were distinguished: The C/N ratio of SPE-DOM in the South Atlantic Gyre was significantly higher than in the North Atlantic Gyre, although inorganic nitrogen was limited across all Atlantic surface waters. We postulate that the lower C/N ratio of SPE-DOM in the North Atlantic Gyre is due to the occurrence of nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria, which channel newly fixed nitrogen into the SPE-DON pool. In contrast, in the South Atlantic Gyre, the lack of inorganic nutrients leads to the more efficient use of organically bound nitrogen and consequently also to the production of N-depleted DOM, manifested in higher C/N ratios of the SPE-DOM pool. In the Southern Ocean, yet another regime can be defined: Inorganic nitrogen is not limited, therefore, organically bound nitrogen is less demanded as nutrient source and N-rich DOM is released, as reflected in lower C/N ratios in the Southern Ocean SPE-DOM. We show that global SPE-DON distribution patterns deviate from the bulk SPE-DOM distribution and that SPE-DON concentration and availability strongly depend on the prevailing nutrient regime and the capabilities of the prevailing microbial communities.

4.2 Introduction

DOM is one of the largest active pools of organic carbon on earth, but the mechanisms controlling its molecular composition and reasons for its millennial stability are still poorly understood (Dittmar, 2015; Ogawa and Tanoue, 2003). Photosynthesis performed by autotrophic organisms in the euphotic layer of the global ocean is the main source of marine DOM. Major constituents of marine DOM – as for any natural organic matter – are the elements carbon, hydrogen and oxygen, but heteroelements such as nitrogen, sulphur and phosphorous also comprise large proportions of marine DOM and form the pools of dissolved organic nitrogen (DON), phosphorous (DOP) and sulphur (DOS). DOM serves as the main carbon and nutrient source to heterotrophic microorganisms, thereby returning the energy gained via primary production to the marine food web (microbial loop; Azam et al., 1983; Pomeroy, 1974).

Nitrogen is a key nutrient for all organisms. The Redfield ratio (106C:16N:1P; Redfield, 1934) is commonly used as an indicator for the prevailing elemental stoichiometry within marine organisms as well as their nutritious needs (e.g. Klausmeier et al., 2004; Lenton and Watson, 2000; Sanudo-Wilhelmy et al., 2004). Inorganic nitrogen is often the primary limiting nutrient in the ocean (Falkowski, 1997), although low concentrations of more than one nutrient can co-limit phytoplankton growth. This is most commonly observed in oligotrophic oceanic regions (Arrigo, 2005). The concentration of biologically available forms of inorganic nitrogen (nitrate, nitrite and ammonium) is very low in the surface waters of the oligotrophic open ocean gyres (e.g. $< 1 \mu mol l^{-1}$ of nitrate; Garcia et al., 2014). Major source of nitrate to the ocean surface layer is upwelling and diffusion of nitrate-rich deep water, where concentrations can reach > 20 μ mol 1⁻¹ (Garcia et al., 2014). In upwelling regions, also found in the Southern Ocean, inorganic nitrogen concentrations are high throughout the whole water column and primary production is rather limited by the availability of iron (high nutrient, low chlorophyll regions; Martin, 1992). Sources of new nitrogen to the ocean are atmospheric deposition, microbial nitrogen fixation and terrestrial runoff. Major sinks for inorganic nitrogen in the ocean are the microbially mediated nitrification, denitrification and anaerobic oxidation of ammonium (anammox) and to a lesser degree burial in the ocean sediments.

DON compounds vary greatly in size, complexity, turnover time and concentration (Benner et al., 1997; Letscher et al., 2013). Bulk DON concentrations at the surface and in the deep ocean range from 0.8 to 13 μ mol l⁻¹ and from 2 to 5 μ mol l⁻¹, respectively (Bronk, 2002), with even higher concentrations in coastal areas. In the surface ocean, most of the dissolved nitrogen belongs to the DON pool (about 60 % of the total dissolved nitrogen (TDN); Bronk, 2002). In the deep sea, DON represents only about 10 % of the TDN pool, which is mostly composed of nitrate (Bronk, 2002). The most transient forms of DON are urea and individual free amino acids, which are readily taken up by bacteria and some primary producers (e.g. Amon et al., 2001; Eppley et al., 1977). More stable forms of the DON pool include amide N and have been proposed to be derived from degradation-resistant biomolecules (McCarthy et al., 1997) like bacterial cell wall components (McCarthy et al., 1998) or other biosynthetically derived substances (Aluwihare et al., 1997). Major sources of DON in the ocean are active and passive excretion by bacterio- and phytoplankton (Bronk and Ward, 1999; Ogawa et al., 2001), sloppy feeding (Ward and Bronk, 2001) and viral cell lysis (Fuhrman and Noble, 1995). Major sinks for DON in the ocean are bacterial and phytoplankton uptake (Bronk et al., 1994), photochemical degradation in the surface ocean (Bushaw-Newton and Moran, 1999) and the decomposition of organic matter and the mineralization of organically bound nitrogen to ammonium (Berman et al., 1999). About 41 % of the inorganic nitrogen (nitrate, ammonium) taken up by primary producers are released as DON (Bronk et al., 1994). Since most of the surface ocean is limited in biologically available nitrogen, DON plays an important role in global nutrient cycles.

A study from the ultra-oligotrophic South Pacific gyre identified a so far unknown heterotrophic diazotrophic community fixing atmospheric N₂, emphasizing the important role oligotrophic gyres play in the global nitrogen cycle (Halm et al., 2012). Due to the relatively stable concentration of DON in the ocean it was assumed that most DON molecules are resistant to microbial oxidation forming a refractory fraction of the total DOM pool (Bronk, 2002). Recent studies however suggest that DON in the ocean is highly dynamic with well-balanced production and consumption rates (Bronk et al., 2007). Most studies target the concentration of bulk DON, providing no further information about the molecular composition of the DON pool. Various studies provide information about the most labile fractions of DON comprised of amino acids and amino sugars (e.g. McCarthy et al., 1997). However, knowledge on the biogeochemistry of other DON fractions is scarce. It is crucial to understand the DON molecular composition, because it directly influences its reactivity in biogeochemical processes. Applying ultra-high resolution mass spectrometry (FT-ICR-MS) provides detailed information on the molecular composition of a so far understudied fraction of DON.

In this study, we compiled a most comprehensive data set of 383 DOM samples from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean with samples spanning from the ocean surface to the deep sea and from various biogeographical regimes representing various environmental conditions and biological influencing factors. We present patterns of SPE-DON concentration, distribution and molecular composition in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean, providing the first detailed characterization of the molecular composition and distribution of DON in two major global oceans. We hypothesize that the prevailing microbial community influences the composition of SPE-DON on a molecular level. We further hypothesize that the SPE-DON composition in the North Atlantic Gyre differs significantly from the SPE-DON composition in the South Atlantic Gyre, due to differences in nutrient regimes and microbial community structure.

4.3 Material and methods

DOM samples were taken in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean during three RV Polarstern cruises (Figure 4.1): ANT-XXVIII/2 (Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean; 39.2° S to 70.5° S), ANT-XXVIII/4 (Drake Passage and Antarctic Peninsula; 56.1° S to 62.4° S) and ANT-XXVIII/5 (Atlantic; 51° S to 47° N) in austral spring and summer (Dec 2011 - May 2012). All samples were directly filtered from the Niskin bottles of the CTD using pre-combusted ($400 \,^{\circ}$ C, 4h) 0.7 µm glass fibre filters (GF/F, Whatman, United Kingdom). Samples were taken in high depth resolution in the upper 200 m of the water column ($20 \,^{\circ}$ M, $40 \,^{\circ}$ M, $100 \,^{\circ}$ M, $200 \,^{\circ}$ M

and in the chlorophyll fluorescence maximum, if present). Samples from greater depths cover all major water masses (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.1 Sampling transects in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean (ANTXXVIII/2 from Cape Town/South Africa to Antarctica; ANTXXVIII/4 from Punta Arenas/Chile to the Antarctic Peninsula; ANTXXVIII/5 from Punta Arenas/Chile to Bremerhaven/Germany)

Samples for DOM analysis were extracted with a solid-phase extraction (SPE) method according to Dittmar et al. (2008). In brief, 41 of filtered seawater were acidified to pH 2 (HCl, 25%, p.a., Carl Roth, Germany) and extracted via gravity flow using commercially pre-packed cartridges (1 g of sorbent, PPL, Agilent, USA). All cartridges were deionized with acidic ultrapure water (pH 2), dried with nitrogen gas and eluted with 6 ml methanol (HPLC-grade, Sigma-Aldrich, USA). Extracts were stored in the dark at -20°C until further analysis in the home laboratory.

SPE-DOC and SPE-DON concentrations were determined via the high temperature catalytic oxidation method (HTCO) on a Shimadzu TOC-VCPH/CPN Total Organic Carbon Analyzer equipped with an ASI-V autosampler and a TNM-1 module. Prior to analysis, the acidified samples were purged with synthetic air to remove inorganic carbon compounds. For DOC and TDN analysis of the DOM extracts, a SPE-DOM aliquot of 100 µl and 1 ml, respectively, was dried and re-dissolved in 10 ml of ultrapure water (pH 2; HCl, 25%, p.a., Carl Roth, Germany). For calibration, L-arginine solutions ranging from 12.5 to 500 μ mol C l⁻¹ and 10 to 333.3 μ mol N l⁻¹, respectively, were used for calibration and Deep Atlantic Seawater reference material (DSR, D.A. Hansell, University of Miami, Florida, USA) as well as an in-house North Sea water reference were measured repeatedly during each run to control for instrument precision and accuracy. The resins used for DOM extraction only retain organic compounds; therefore, all nitrogen in the DOM extracts is organic and referred to as SPE-DON.

The carbon-based extraction efficiency was 53 ± 9 % for all Atlantic and Southern Ocean samples. The calculation of extraction efficiencies for DON is challenging, because DON cannot be directly measured, but is calculated by subtracting the inorganic nitrogen species from the total dissolved nitrogen (TDN). Because we do not have a complete data set of the inorganic nitrogen species covering our sampling transect, calculation of the bulk DON concentration is not possible. However, extraction efficiencies based on TDN and SPE-DON range between 2 – 24 %, with the lowest extraction efficiencies in the Southern Ocean and the Atlantic deep sea (highest dissolved inorganic nitrogen concentration). Broek et al. (2017) reported extraction efficiencies for DON between 30 - 39 % using the same extraction method as we did. Based on this published extraction efficiency and on reported DON concentration in the open ocean (Bronk, 2002), we assume that our DON extraction efficiencies were in the same range.

All DOM extracts were analyzed on a Fourier Transform Ion Cyclotron Resonance Mass Spectrometer (FT-ICR-MS, Bruker Daltonik GmbH, Bremen, Germany) equipped with a 15 Tesla superconducting magnet (Bruker Biospin, Wissembourg, France) and an electrospray ionization source (ESI; Apollo II ion source, Bruker Daltonik GmbH, Bremen, Germany). For analysis, all DOM extracts were mixed with ultrapure water and methanol (MS grade) to a final carbon concentration of 10 ppm and a water to methanol ratio of 1:1 (v/v). For analysis validation, an inhouse reference sample (North Equatorial Pacific Intermediate Water (NEqPIW); Bostock et al., 2010), collected at the Natural Energy Laboratory of Hawaii Authority in 2009 (Green et al., 2014), was analyzed twice a day.

The samples were injected at a flow rate of 120 μ l h⁻¹ applying negative ion mode with a capillary voltage of 4000 V. Ion accumulation time in the hexapole was 0.25 s prior to transfer into the ICR cell. Mass spectra were recorded in a mass range of 152 - 2000 Da with 500 acquired scans per sample. All mass spectra were internally calibrated using a list of > 50 known molecular formula mass peaks from the inhouse reference sample. All detected ions were singly charged and the mass error allowed for the internal calibration was less than 0.1 ppm. The overall intensity distribution was in the same order of magnitude for all samples. The mass to charge ratio, resolution and peak intensity were exported and processed using in-house Matlab routines. Molecular formulae were assigned to peaks with a minimum signal-to-noise ratio of 4 following the rules published by Koch et al. (2007) with following restrictions: ${}^{12}C_{1-130}{}^{1}H_{1-200}O_{1-50}{}^{14}N_{0-4}S_{0-2}P_{0-2}$. Only compounds with an assigned molecular formula were considered for further evaluation (~ 63 % of total peaks). These restrictions resulted in a data set comprising a total of 4695 molecular formulae of which 1925 contained one or more nitrogen atoms. All mass spectrometric data were normalized by dividing each peak intensity by the sum of all peak intensities with assigned molecular formulae of the respective sample.

Compositional differences on the molecular level were assessed by intensity weighted averages of the respective molecular feature for each sample. For example, the average number of nitrogen atoms per compound in each sample was calculated by multiplying the number of nitrogen atoms per compound with the respective peak intensity (intensity weighting), summing up the intensity weighted number of nitrogen atoms for the whole sample and divide it by the total sum of intensity of the respective sample (for an exemplary calculation refer to Table S4.1).

Following this routine for all molecular parameters gives valuable information about the overall molecular composition of a DOM sample. The statistical significance of differences in DOM concentration and composition for each water mass is shown in boxplots. All statistical analysis of DOM data was done with the software "R" (Version 3.2.0, package "vegan"; Oksanen et al., 2015).

4.4 Results

Water masses, SPE-DOC and SPE-DON – According to the sampling location, depth and hydrographic conditions (i.e. salinity and temperature) our samples were

taken within the following global water masses (Tomczak and Godfrey, 2001; numbers in brackets correspond to the numbers of samples per water mass): Antarctic Surface Water (AASW, n = 111), Circumpolar Deep Water (CDW, n = 26), Weddell Sea Warm Deep Water (WDW, n = 19), Weddell Sea Deep Water (WSDW, n = 8), Antarctic Bottom Water (AABW, n = 23), North Atlantic Deep Water (NADW, n = 22), Antarctic Intermediate Water (AAIW, n = 19), Eurafrican Mediterranean Water (EMW, n = 4), Subantarctic Surface Water (SASW, n = 35), Subtropical Surface Water (STSW, n = 11), South Atlantic Central Water (SACW, n = 30), North Atlantic Central Water (NACW, n = 23) and the surface mixed layer of the Atlantic (SML), subdivided into surface mixed layer of the South Atlantic Gyre (SML-SAG, n = 28) and the surface mixed layer of the North Atlantic Gyre (SML-NAG, n = 19; Figure 4.2 A).

SPE-DOC concentrations were generally low (~25 μ mol l⁻¹) in the Southern Ocean and in the deep waters of the Atlantic Ocean (AASW; CDW, WDW, WSDW, AABW, NADW, AAIW, EMW). Intermediate concentrations (27 – 35 μ mol l⁻¹) were found in the subsurface water masses of the Atlantic (SACW and NACW) and the surface water masses between the subtropical front and the polar front (STSW and SASW). The higher concentrations in these water masses are consistent with higher biological production at frontal zones (STSW and SASW; Laubscher et al., 1993) and downwelling and the associated export of carbon into the mesopelagic zone within the gyres (SACW and NACW; Carlson et al., 2010). Highest SPE-DOC concentrations (30 – 45 μ mol l⁻¹) were found in the surface mixed layer of the Atlantic with significantly higher SPE-DOC concentrations in the SML-SAG than in the SML-NAG. The distribution of SPE-DOC follows the general DOC distribution patterns (Hansell et al., 2009), indicating that SPE-DOC comprises a representative and reproducible fraction of the total DOC pool (Figure 4.2 B).



Figure 4.2 Spatial distribution of SPE-DOC concentrations of sampling transects ANTXXVIII/2 (left) and ANTXXVIII/5 (right) with major water masses and frontal systems (A) and boxplots of SPE-DOC concentration for the respective water masses (B). Data of ANTXXVIII/4 corresponds well to data of ANTXXVIII/2 and are not shown, but included in boxplots. For number of samples and abbreviations of water masses refer to text. Arrows indicate the flow direction of the respective water mass. Black dots in (A) correspond to sampling depths and dashed lines indicate the upper and lower boundary of the pycnocline. The dashed lines in (B) group the water masses per sampling location and depth: group 1 includes all Southern Ocean water masses, group 2 includes the deep Atlantic water masses, group 3 includes the surface water masses of the South Atlantic between subtropical and polar front (STSW, SASW) and the subsurface water masses within the pycnocline (SACW, NACW) and group 4 includes the Atlantic surface mixed layer in both gyres. Notches in boxplots roughly indicate the 95 % confidence interval. If the notches do not overlap it is strong evidence that the medians differ significantly (McGill et al., 1978). All cross-sections are plotted with Ocean Data View (Schlitzer, 2015).

SPE-DON concentrations showed similar distribution patterns as SPE-DOC (Figure 4.3 A and B): Low and uniformly distributed concentrations in the Southern Ocean and the deep Atlantic Ocean (~0.9 μ mol l⁻¹), intermediate concentrations (0.9 – 1.3 μ mol l⁻¹) in the surface water masses between the subtropical front and the polar front and highest concentrations (1.2 – 1.4 μ mol l⁻¹) in the surface mixed

layer. These trends follow the distribution patterns of the bulk DON pool (Bronk, 2002), indicating that SPE-DON comprises a reproducible representative fraction of the total DON pool. SPE-DON concentrations were negatively correlated with concentrations of inorganic nitrogen species (Pearson's r = -0.77, p < 0.05, data not shown), indicating a close coupling between both pools.

Figure 4.3 Spatial distribution of SPE-DON concentrations of sampling transects ANTXXVIII/2 (left) and ANTXXVIII/5 (right) **(A)** and boxplots of SPE-DON concentration for the respective water masses **(B)**. For water mass grouping and abbreviations of water masses in (B) refer to Figure 4.2 and text, respectively.

The SPE-DOC/SPE-DON (C/N_{SPE}) ratio revealed distinct patterns in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. All C/N_{SPE} ratios were between 23 and 30, and therefore in the same range as previously reported C/N_{SPE} ratios of DOM extracted with the same method (Broek et al., 2017; Green et al., 2014). The C/N_{SPE} ratio showed distinct features in the surface and subsurface water masses and the mixed layer of the Atlantic: SPE-DON was similarly enriched in both, the South and the North Atlantic Gyre. SPE-DOC, however, was more enriched in the SAG compared to the NAG, which resulted in a lower C/N_{SPE} ratio in the North Atlantic Gyre and a higher C/N_{SPE} ratio in the South Atlantic Gyre (Figure 4.4 A and B).

The C/N_{SPE} ratio is generally higher than DOC/DON (C/N_{bulk}) of marine DOM (Broek et al., 2017; Dittmar et al., 2008; Green et al., 2014). Dissolved organic leftovers in the ocean are significantly enriched in carbon relative to nitrogen with C/N_{bulk} ratios significantly higher than the Redfield ratio, ranging between 13 - 16 (Aminot and Kérouel, 2004) for the surface ocean and up to 22 in the deep sea (Hopkinson and Vallino, 2005). Although the higher C/N_{SPE} ratios indicate that the chosen extraction method (i.e. solid-phase extraction) discriminates against N-containing compounds, the general bulk SPE-DOC and SPE-DON trends show that the extracted fraction is representative for bulk DOM.

Figure 4.4 Spatial distribution of C/N_{SPE} ratios of sampling transects ANTXXVIII/2 (left) and ANTXXVIII/5 (right) (A) and boxplots of C/N_{SPE} ratios for the respective water masses (B). For water mass grouping and abbreviations of water masses in (B) refer to Figure 4.2 and text, respectively.

Molecular composition – The average weight of DOM compounds was generally lower (415 ± 4 Da) in the surface and subsurface water masses of the Atlantic (SASW, STSW, SACW, NACW and SML) and higher in the deep sea and the Southern Ocean (422 ± 3 Da; Table 4.1), a feature also observed by Chen et al. (2014) and Flerus et al. (2012). The lower average molecular weight went along with a lower average number of carbon atoms per compound in the individual samples (Pearson's r = 0.9, p < 0.05; Figure 4.5 A and B).

Figure 4.5 Spatial distribution of average number of carbon atoms per DOM compound in each sample of sampling transects ANTXXVIII/2 (left) and ANTXXVIII/5 (right) (A) and boxplots of average number of carbon atoms per DOM compound in each sample for the respective water masses (B). For water mass grouping and abbreviations of water masses in (B) refer to Figure 4.2 and text, respectively.

Because of the lower average weight of DOM molecules in the surface water masses, the average number of nitrogen atoms per DOM compound is also lower (Figure 4.6 A and B) The correlation between the average weight and the average number of nitrogen per compound is, however, much weaker (Pearson's r = 0.43,

p < 0.05) than the correlation between weight and carbon atoms. The distinct distribution patterns of the average number of nitrogen atoms per DOM compound indicates that the distribution of DON is driven by independent processes (e.g. biological activity) and not simply a reflection of molecule size.

Figure 4.6 Spatial distribution of the average number of nitrogen atoms per DOM compound in each sample of sampling transects ANTXXVIII/2 (left) and ANTXXVIII/5 (right) (A) and boxplots of average number of nitrogen atoms per DOM compound in each sample for the respective water masses (B). For water mass grouping and abbreviations of water masses in (B) refer to Figure 4.2 and text, respectively.

The ultrahigh resolution data of Atlantic and Southern Ocean molecular DOM composition showed distinct patterns for the molecular C/N ratios (C/N_{mol}; Figure 4.7 A ans B). In the water masses of the Southern Ocean (AASW, CDW, WDW, WSDW) C/N_{mol} ratios were low (N-rich) compared to the deep Atlantic Ocean (AABW, NADW, AAIW, EMW). The southern surface water masses of the Atlantic (SASW, STSW) had similar C/N_{mol} ratios as the Southern Ocean water masses, whereas the subsurface water masses of the Atlantic (SACW, NACW) were comparable to the Atlantic deep water masses. DOM in the SAG mixed layer had a high C/N_{mol} ratio (N-depleted) compared to the NAG. The number of detected N-containing formulae was about the same for all samples as well as the C/N_{mol} ratio for the CHON molecular formulae, making it unlikely that the observed patterns of Ndepletion were due to analytical artifacts, e.g. non-reproducible detection of low abundant compounds (Table 4.1).

Figure 4.7 Spatial distribution of C/N_{mol} ratios of sampling transects ANTXXVIII/2 (left) and ANTXXVIII/5 (right) (**A**) and boxplots of C/N_{mol} ratios for the respective water masses (**B**). For water mass grouping and abbreviations of water masses in (B) refer to Figure 4.2 and text, respectively.

In general, the bulk elemental composition (C/N_{SPE}) corresponded very well with the molecular data (C/N_{mol}). The ultrahigh resolution provided complementary information on elemental ratios, resolving the heterogeneity of the SPE-DON molecular composition in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. Furthermore, the detailed molecular analysis allowed us to assign DOM compounds into specific compound groups. For that purpose, we followed the rules described in Romano et al. (2014). It is however noteworthy that molecular information obtained by FT-ICR-MS can represent millions of constitutional isomers (Hertkorn et al., 2007). Therefore, the term "compound group" merely describes the possibility of a compound belonging to a specific group but this categorization is not unambiguous and alternative structures may exist for a given formula.

The by far largest DOM compound group was the group of highly unsaturated compounds, which were present in higher relative abundances in the Southern Ocean and the Atlantic deep sea and in lower relative abundances in the surface mixed layer. The opposite trend, albeit in much lower abundance, was visible for the unsaturated aliphatics, which were most abundant in the surface mixed layer (Table 4.1). The peptide-like molecular formulae had the highest abundance in the surface water masses of the Atlantic, most likely due to biological activity in the euphotic water layers. As evident by the classification of the CHON compounds, nitrogen was largely bound in polyphenolic and peptidic structures, besides the high abundance of highly unsaturated compounds. Differences between deep sea and surface waters were seen for peptide-like molecular formulae (more abundant at the surface) and highly unsaturated compounds (more abundant in the Atlantic deep sea and Southern Ocean). The group of CHO compounds (no heteroatoms), which was, based on number of detected compounds, as abundant as the CHON compounds, occupied more than two thirds of the total peak intensity. The affiliation to specific groups of the CHO compounds followed the same patterns as the total number of compounds with distinct differences between the Atlantic surface water masses and the Atlantic deep sea and Southern Ocean.

	all		СНО		CHON	
	¢	*	<u></u>	*	\diamond	*
General						
Number of assigned molecu-						
lar formulae	4040 ± 165	4040 ± 140	1848 ± 74	1859 ± 63	1737 ± 63	1716 ± 59
Sum of peak intensity	1000 ± 0	1000 ± 0	741 ± 8	746 ± 10	222 ± 7	216 ± 9
Average m/z of peaks	422 ± 3	415 ± 4	423 ± 3	416 ± 4	413 ± 3	408.13 ± 3
Elemental composition						
Average C	20.0 ± 0.2	19.7 ± 0.2	20.3 ± 0.1	20.0 ± 0.2	19.0 ± 0.2	18.7 ± 0.2
Average H	25.0 ± 0.2	25.0 ± 0.3	25.6 ± 0.2	25.5 ± 0.3	23.1 ± 0.2	23.1 ± 0.3
Average O	9.5 ± 0.1	9.3 ± 0.1	9.7 ± 0.1	9.5 ± 0.1	8.8 ± 0.1	8.7 ± 0.1
Average N	0.36 ± 0.01	0.34 ± 0.02			1.61 ± 0.01	1.59 ± 0.02
Average S	0.04 ± 0	0.04 ± 0				
Average P	0.01 ± 0	0.01 ± 0				
Average O/C	0.48 ± 0.01	0.47 ± 0.01	0.48 ± 0.01	0.47 ± 0.01	0.46 ± 0	0.46 ± 0
Average H/C	1.26 ± 0	1.27 ± 0.01	1.26 ± 0	1.28 ± 0.01	1.22 ± 0	1.23 ± 0.01
Average C/N _{mol}	55.8 ± 2.2	57.4 ± 3.1			11.8 ± 0.1	11.8 ± 0.2
Molecular categories [average	e % of total peak i	ntensity]				
Polyphenols	2.4 ± 0.2	2.3 ± 0.2	1.2 ± 0.1	1.2 ± 0.1	5.7 ± 0.3	5.7 ± 0.5
Phenols	0.2 ± 0	0.3 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0	0.2 ± 0.1	0.5 ± 0.1	0.6 ± 0.1
Highly unsaturated com-						
pounds	92.2 ± 0.5	90.2 ± 1.2	93.4 ± 0.4	91.1 ± 1.3	91.3 ± 0.4	90.5 ± 0.5
Unsaturated aliphatics	4.5 ± 0.3	6.4 ± 1.1	5.3 ± 0.4	7.5 ± 1.3		
Saturated fatty acids	0.1 ± 0.07	0.09 ± 0.07	0.01 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0		
Carbohydrate-like formulae	0.06 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.02			0.19 ± 0.05	0.21 ± 0.06
Peptide-like formulae	0.52 ± 0.04	0.66 ± 0.07			2.36 ± 0.2	3.08 ± 0.43

Table 4.1 Summary of number of assigned molecular formulae, sum of normalized peak intensity, average molecule weight (m/z), elemental composition and molecular compound groups for ultrahigh resolution data of total SPE-DOM (all) and the subgroups of SPE-DOM containing no hetero-elements (CHO) and nitrogen (CHON). Values are peak intensity weighted averages ± one standard deviation. \Diamond and * correspond to deep Atlantic/Southern Ocean samples

The molecular geography of dissolved organic matter in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean

4.5 Discussion

The molecular composition of the DON pool impacts the reactivity and biological availability of the nitrogen bound in DON compounds. The most transient forms of the DON pool (i.e. amino acids, amino sugars and urea) have been studied extensively (e.g. Biddanda and Benner, 1997; McCarthy et al., 1997). In this study, we present the molecular composition of a so far uncharacterized, presumably more semi-labile and refractory fraction of DON with residence times of months to years (Hansell, 2013).

4.5.1 Molecular geography of SPE-DON in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean

Spatial distribution of SPE-DON – The distribution of SPE-DON is similar to the distribution of SPE-DOC, with an accumulation above physical barriers (i.e. the pycnocline). However, higher SPE-DON concentrations reach deeper into the subsurface water masses within the pycnocline (Figure 4.3 A). The higher concentrations in these deeper layers suggest that a fraction of SPE-DON escapes mineralization in the surface layers (Knapp et al., 2005) and is exported to deeper layers during winter mixing or downwelling in the gyre interiors. It was shown before that the input of nitrate to the euphotic zone by upwelling of nutrient-rich deep waters in upwelling regions fuels accumulation of DON, which is transported into the subtropical gyres (Letscher et al., 2013). The same authors also showed that some of this DON is exported to the deeper euphotic zone and that the microbial community in the upper mesopelagic is capable of remineralizing surface DON much faster than the microbial community at the surface.

The traditional perception of the marine nitrogen cycle is that primary producers take up inorganic nitrogen and release it via a multitude of mechanisms as DON to the environment, where it is remineralized by heterotrophic bacteria. It has been shown, however, that bacteria can also utilize inorganic nitrogen (Kirchman and Wheeler, 1998) and may compete with primary producers for inorganic nitrogen. Furthermore, microbial activity does not only act as a sink for marine DON (remineralization), but is also thought to be a source of DON in the ocean (McCarthy et

al., 1998). Phytoplankton, on the other hand, can also assimilate small DON molecules such as amino acids (Palenik and Morel, 1990), thus act as a sink for DON compounds. These multiple interactions make it obvious that the cycling of DON in the ocean is very complex and the disentanglement of involved processes is a difficult undertaking. Along our sampling transects, the SPE-DON concentration was negatively correlated with inorganic nitrogen (Pearson's r = -0.77, p < 0.05, data not shown), indicating that both pools are closely coupled and that they may to some extent substitute each other as a nutrient source.

Based on our data, the distribution of SPE-DON is mainly driven by biological processes, whereas the distribution of SPE-DOC in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean is mostly driven by physicochemical processes such as the conservative mixing of water masses (Hansman et al., 2015) and accumulation above the pycnocline.

Molecular features of SPE-DON – The molecular-level information on SPE-DON allows us to characterize its composition not only based on its quantitative distribution, but also qualitatively. The trends observed on the concentration level are well represented on the molecular level (Figure 4.8). This remarkable consistency has also been reported for bulk and molecular carbon to sulfur ratios of DOM (Gomez-Saez et al., 2016), indicating that molecular analysis via FT-ICR-MS reproducibly targets a representative fraction of heteroatom-containing molecules in SPE-DOM.

Figure 4.8 Linear correlation between C/N_{SPE} and C/N_{mol} (Pearson's r = 0.64, p < 0.05). Only data from the surface and subsurface water masses of the Atlantic is shown (mixed layer, STSW, SASW, NACW and SACW (group 3 and 4 of the boxplots; n = 141).

The use of FT-ICR-MS yields additional information, which is not resolved on the concentration level: The elemental analyzer quantifies the abundance of atoms, whereas the detailed molecular analysis yields relative abundances of molecules. On the molecular level, we observed that SPE-DOM molecules in the southern surface water masses of the Atlantic (SASW and STSW) and the whole Southern Ocean were enriched in nitrogen (Figure 4.6). In the surface mixed layer of the Atlantic, SPE-DOM molecules contained significant less nitrogen in the South Atlantic Gyre (also observed on the bulk level) and moderate levels in the North Atlantic Gyre. The C/N_{SPE} ratios in the North Atlantic Gyre were in the same range as respective ratios in the deep waters of the Atlantic Ocean.

Most of the SPE-DON molecules (CHON) belonged to the compound groups of highly unsaturated compounds, polyphenols and the peptide-like formulae (Table 4.1). Besides the highly unsaturated compounds, which were the by far the most abundant group in SPE-DOM (total SPE-DOM as well as SPE-DON), most of the nitrogen was bound in phenolic and peptidic structures. Most phenols are the molecular remnants of vascular plant material (lignins and tannins) transported to the ocean via rivers and terrestrial runoff (Opsahl and Benner, 1997). Nitrogen bound in phenolic structures was uniformly distributed with no specific trends between the surface and deep ocean (Table 4.1), reflecting the refractory nature of these compounds. The higher abundance of peptide-like formulae in the surface mixed layer is consistent with a high biological activity (Osterholz et al., 2016).

4.5.2 DON cycling under different nutrient regimes

DON cycling under excess N conditions in the Southern Ocean – Several water masses meet and mix in the Southern Ocean, forming new water masses, which are transported at deep and intermediate depths into all major global oceans. Due to this constant mixing and the physical properties, the water column in the Southern Ocean is not stratified and no pycnocline is formed. Furthermore, the Southern Ocean is rich in inorganic nutrients (high nutrient, low chlorophyll regions; Martin, 1992). Due to the lack of a stable stratification there is no accumulation of DOM above physical barriers such as the pycnocline. The high availability of inorganic nitrogen leads to the production of N-rich DOM. Furthermore, the exploitation of organically-bound nitrogen is often a costly process for marine microorganisms,

113

because it requires the production of substrate-specific enzymes, which break down DOM molecules making the nitrogen available for the organism (Boetius and Lochte, 1994). The production of N-rich DOM together with the fact that breaking down organic forms of nitrogen is an energetically unfavorable process favors the accumulation of DON in the Southern Ocean.

The signature of the N-enriched DOM produced in the Southern Ocean is exported via the AAIW and AABW, as reflected in low C/N_{mol} ratios (N-rich) for the Southern Ocean, including AAIW and AABW (Figure 4.7). The C/N_{mol} ratios in all deep Atlantic samples are higher (N-poor). The sequential loss of the Southern Ocean C/N_{mol} signature in the AAIW and AABW is probably the result of DON remineralization along the flow path of these deep-water masses. Hansman et al. (2015) showed that the molecular composition of deep sea DOM in the North Atlantic sampled on a transect spanning more than 5000 km is very similar on a Bray-Curtis scale (96 % similarity) and that the observed small differences are the result of conservative mixing of different water masses. Therefore, the molecular DOM signature of the formation site might also change due to water mass mixing along the flow path of Atlantic deep water masses.

DON cycling under N-depleted conditions in the subtropical gyres – SPE-DOC as well as SPE-DON are both enriched in the surface mixed layers. However, the C/N_{SPE} ratio reveals specific features in the DOM composition of the North and South Atlantic Subtropical Gyres. The transect of the Atlantic Ocean was sampled in April, therefore we encountered low chlorophyll-a concentrations in the South Atlantic Gyre and slightly higher chlorophyll-a concentrations in the North Atlantic Gyre (Signorini et al., 2015), which was also confirmed by our shipboard chlorophyll fluorescence data (data not shown). The subtropical gyres are nutrient limited ecosystems, with nitrogen being the primary limiting nutrient (Moore et al., 2013). Due to this limitation, DOM produced in these systems can be depleted in nitrogen, simply because its availability is extremely low (Biersmith and Benner, 1998; Kähler and Koeve, 2001). Furthermore, DON can serve as major nutrient source to organisms in these environments, facilitating an even greater depletion of nitrogen bound in DOM. Zweifel et al. (1993) showed that the addition of nutrients to samples from nutrient-depleted environments promoted DOC consumption, which

means at the same time that in addition to the physical barriers, i.e. the seasonal pycnocline, the lack of nutrients favors the accumulation of DOC. These processes might contribute to the higher concentrations of SPE-DOC and SPE-DON in the surface mixed layer of the Atlantic Ocean.

As revealed by our ultra-high resolution data set, the processes shaping the DON pool in the North Atlantic Gyre are significantly different from the South Atlantic Gyre. Whereas the DOM composition is mainly shaped by nutrient depletion in the South Atlantic Gyre, DOM in the North Atlantic Gyre contains significantly more nitrogen despite the similarly low levels of nitrate (Figure 4.7). Marine diazotrophic nitrogen fixation acts as a source of N-nutrients (Mahaffey et al., 2005) and supports primary production in otherwise nutrient-depleted systems (Capone et al., 2005). Mills et al. (2004) found that iron and phosphorous co-limit the nitrogen fixation in the tropical North Atlantic and that aeolian dust input from the Sahara promotes nitrogen fixation. In the Northeast Atlantic between 41 - 76 % of the fixed nitrogen is channeled into the DON pool (Benavides et al., 2011), providing a possible explanation for the low C/N ratio in the North Atlantic Gyre found in our data set.

4.6 Conclusion

Our study presents a unique data set providing in depth information on the concentration and molecular geography of SPE-DON in two major global oceans. Molecular-level information on DOM reveals distinct compositional patterns for biogeochemical provinces (North and South Atlantic Gyre and Southern Ocean) and relates them to processes driving the distribution of SPE-DON.

DON is an important nutrient source and plays a major role in the global nitrogen cycle. Understanding its molecular composition and the distribution of SPE-DON is of great importance for deciphering spatial characteristics of the nitrogen cycle and its implications for biological activity. Our data indicate that different nutrient regimes lead to different distributions of SPE-DON. Our study also shows how the availability of inorganic nitrogen can influence the composition of SPE-DON in the open ocean. The prevailing N species, however, determines its availability to marine organisms and is therefore key to biogeochemical processes.

Although the water masses in the surface Atlantic Ocean are similarly depleted in inorganic nutrients, the external input of iron and phosphorus via Saharan dust in the North Atlantic favors nitrogen fixation by diazotrophs, which influences the molecular composition and concentration of SPE-DON.

This study provides in depth information about the molecular composition of the DON pool persistent on longer time scales in marine ecosystems. The reactivity of DON is directly linked to its structural features like functional groups. Detailed structural characterization of the functionalities of the more persistent DON fractions is therefore a promising next step in completing the picture of the marine DON cycle.

4.7 Acknowledgements

The authors thank K. Klaproth, M. Friebe and I. Ulber for analytical support. The authors also want to thank the crew of the research vessel "Polarstern" for the professional assistance during sample collection.

This work was funded by the German Science Foundation (NI 1366-1/1).

4.8 References

- Aluwihare, L.I., Repeta, D.J. and Chen, R.F., 1997. A Major Biopolymeric Component to Dissolved Organic-Carbon in Surface Sea-Water. Nature 387, 166-169.
- Aminot, A. and Kérouel, R., 2004. Dissolved organic carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus in the NE Atlantic and the NW Mediterranean with particular reference to non-refractory fractions and degradation. Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers 51, 1975-1999.
- Amon, R.M., Fitznar, H.-P. and Benner, R., 2001. Linkages among the bioreactivity, chemical composition, and diagenetic state of marine dissolved organic matter. Limnology and Oceanography 46, 287-297.
- Arrigo, K.R., 2005. Marine microorganisms and global nutrient cycles. Nature 437, 349-355.
- Azam, F., Fenchel, T., Field, J.G., Gray, J., Meyer-Reil, L. and Thingstad, F., 1983.The ecological role of water-column microbes in the sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 10, 257-263
- Benavides, M., Agawin, N.S.R., Arístegui, J., Ferriol, P. and Stal, L.J., 2011. Nitrogen fixation by Trichodesmium and small diazotrophs in the subtropical northeast Atlantic. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 65, 43-53.
- Benner, R., Biddanda, B., Black, B. and McCarthy, M., 1997. Abundance, size distribution, and stable carbon and nitrogen isotopic compositions of marine organic matter isolated by tangential-flow ultrafiltration. Marine Chemistry 57, 243-263.
- Berman, T., Béchemin, C. and Maestrini, S.Y., 1999. Release of ammonium and urea from dissolved organic nitrogen in aquatic ecosystems. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 16, 295-302.
- Biddanda, B. and Benner, R., 1997. Carbon, nitrogen, and carbohydrate fluxes during the production of particulate and dissolved organic matter by marine phytoplankton. Limnology and Oceanography 42, 506-518.

- Biersmith, A. and Benner, R., 1998. Carbohydrates in phytoplankton and freshly produced dissolved organic matter. Marine Chemistry 63, 131-144.
- Boetius, A. and Lochte, K., 1994. Regulation of microbial enzymatic degradation of organic matter in deep-sea sediments. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 299-307.
- Bostock, H.C., Opdyke, B.N. and Williams, M.J., 2010. Characterising the intermediate depth waters of the Pacific Ocean using $\delta^{13}C$ and other geochemical tracers. Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers 57, 847-859.
- Broek, T.A., Walker, B.D., Guilderson, T.P. and McCarthy, M.D., 2017. Coupled ultrafiltration and solid phase extraction approach for the targeted study of semi-labile high molecular weight and refractory low molecular weight dissolved organic matter. Marine Chemistry 194, 146-157.
- Bronk, D., See, J., Bradley, P. and Killberg, L., 2007. DON as a source of bioavailable nitrogen for phytoplankton. Biogeosciences 4, 283-296.
- Bronk, D. and Ward, B., 1999. Gross and net nitrogen uptake and DON release in the euphotic zone of Monterey Bay, California. Limnology and Oceanography 44, 573-585.
- Bronk, D.A., 2002. Dynamics of DON. The biogeochemistry of marine dissolved organic matter, in: Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A., (Eds.), 1st edition. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 153-247.
- Bronk, D.A., Glibert, P.M. and Ward, B.B., 1994. Nitrogen uptake, dissolved organic nitrogen release, and new production. Science 265, 1843-1846.
- Bushaw-Newton, K.L. and Moran, M.A., 1999. Photochemical formation of biologically available nitrogen from dissolved humic substances in coastal marine systems. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 18, 285-292.
- Capone, D.G., Burns, J.A., Montoya, J.P., Subramaniam, A., Mahaffey, C., Gunderson, T., Michaels, A.F. and Carpenter, E.J., 2005. Nitrogen fixation by Trichodesmium spp.: An important source of new nitrogen to the tropical

and subtropical North Atlantic Ocean. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 19, GB2024.

- Carlson, C.A., Hansell, D.A., Nelson, N.B., Siegel, D.A., Smethie, W.M., Khatiwala, S., Meyers, M.M. and Halewood, E., 2010. Dissolved organic carbon export and subsequent remineralization in the mesopelagic and bathypelagic realms of the North Atlantic basin. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 57, 1433-1445.
- Chen, H., Stubbins, A., Perdue, E.M., Green, N.W., Helms, J.R., Mopper, K. and Hatcher, P.G., 2014. Ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometric differentiation of dissolved organic matter isolated by coupled reverse osmosiselectrodialysis from various major oceanic water masses. Marine Chemistry 164, 48-59.
- Dittmar, T., 2015. Reasons behind the long-term stability of dissolved organic matter, in: Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A., (Eds.), The biogeochemistry of marine dissolved organic matter, 2nd edition. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 369-388.
- Dittmar, T., Koch, B., Hertkorn, N. and Kattner, G., 2008. A simple and efficient method for the solid-phase extraction of dissolved organic matter (SPE-DOM) from seawater. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 6, 230-235.
- Eppley, R., Sharp, J., Renger, E., Perry, M. and Harrison, W., 1977. Nitrogen assimilation by phytoplankton and other microorganisms in the surface waters of the central North Pacific Ocean. Marine Biology 39, 111-120.
- Falkowski, P.G., 1997. Evolution of the nitrogen cycle and its influence on the biological sequestration of CO₂ in the ocean. Nature 387, 272-275.
- Flerus, R., Lechtenfeld, O., Koch, B.P., McCallister, S., Schmitt-Kopplin, P., Benner, R., Kaiser, K. and Kattner, G., 2012. A molecular perspective on the ageing of marine dissolved organic matter. Biogeosciences 9, 1935-1955.
- Fuhrman, J.A. and Noble, R.T., 1995. Viruses and protists cause similar bacterial mortality in coastal seawater. Limnology and Oceanography 40, 1236-1242.

- Garcia, H., Locarnini, R., Boyer, T., Antonov, J., Baranova, O., Zweng, M., Reagan, J. and Johnson, D., 2014. World Ocean Atlas 2013, Volume 4: Dissolved inorganic nutrients (phosphate, nitrate, silicate). NOAA Atlas NESDIS 76, 25.
- Gomez-Saez, G.V., Niggemann, J., Dittmar, T., Pohlabeln, A.M., Lang, S.Q., Noowong, A., Pichler, T., Wörmer, L. and Bühring, S.I., 2016. Molecular evidence for abiotic sulfurization of dissolved organic matter in marine shallow hydrothermal systems. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 190, 35-52.
- Green, N.W., Perdue, E.M., Aiken, G.R., Butler, K.D., Chen, H., Dittmar, T., Niggemann, J. and Stubbins, A., 2014. An intercomparison of three methods for the large-scale isolation of oceanic dissolved organic matter. Marine Chemistry 161, 14-19.
- Halm, H., Lam, P., Ferdelman, T.G., Lavik, G., Dittmar, T., LaRoche, J., D'hondt,S. and Kuypers, M.M., 2012. Heterotrophic organisms dominate nitrogen fixation in the South Pacific Gyre. The ISME journal 6, 1238.
- Hansell, D., Carlson, C., Repeta, D. and Schlitzer, R., 2009. Dissolved organic matter in the ocean: New insights stimulated by a controversy. Oceanography 22, 202-211.
- Hansell, D.A., 2013. Recalcitrant Dissolved Organic Carbon Fractions. Annual Review of Marine Science 5, 421-445.
- Hansman, R.L., Dittmar, T. and Herndl, G.J., 2015. Conservation of dissolved organic matter molecular composition during mixing of the deep water masses of the northeast Atlantic Ocean. Marine Chemistry 177, 288-297.
- Hertkorn, N., Ruecker, C., Meringer, M., Gugisch, R., Frommberger, M., Perdue, E.M., Witt, M. and Schmitt-Kopplin, P., 2007. High-precision frequency measurements: indispensable tools at the core of the molecular-level analysis of complex systems. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 389, 1311-1327
- Hopkinson, C.S. and Vallino, J.J., 2005. Efficient export of carbon to the deep ocean through dissolved organic matter. Nature 433, 142-145.

- Kähler, P. and Koeve, W., 2001. Marine dissolved organic matter: can its C: N ratio explain carbon overconsumption? Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers 48, 49-62.
- Kirchman, D.L. and Wheeler, P.A., 1998. Uptake of ammonium and nitrate by heterotrophic bacteria and phytoplankton in the sub-Arctic Pacific. Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers 45, 347-365.
- Klausmeier, C.A., Litchman, E., Daufresne, T. and Levin, S.A., 2004. Optimal nitrogen-to-phosphorus stoichiometry of phytoplankton. Nature 429, 171-174.
- Knapp, A.N., Sigman, D.M. and Lipschultz, F., 2005. N isotopic composition of dissolved organic nitrogen and nitrate at the Bermuda Atlantic Time-series Study site. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 19, GB1018.
- Koch, B.P., Dittmar, T., Witt, M. and Kattner, G., 2007. Fundamentals of molecular formula assignment to ultrahigh resolution mass data of natural organic matter. Analytical Chemistry 79, 1758-1763.
- Laubscher, R.K., Perissinotto, R. and McQuaid, C.D., 1993. Phytoplankton production and biomass at frontal zones in the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. Polar Biology 13, 471-481.
- Lenton, T.M. and Watson, A.J., 2000. Redfield revisited: 1. Regulation of nitrate, phosphate, and oxygen in the ocean. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 14, 225-248.
- Letscher, R.T., Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A., Lumpkin, R. and Knapp, A.N., 2013. Dissolved organic nitrogen in the global surface ocean: Distribution and fate. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 27, 141-153.
- Mahaffey, C., Michaels, A.F. and Capone, D.G., 2005. The conundrum of marine N₂ fixation. American Journal of Science 305, 546-595.
- Martin, J.H., 1992. Iron as a limiting factor in oceanic productivity, in: Falkowski P.G., Woodhead A.D., Vivirito K. (Eds), Primary Productivity and Biogeochemical Cycles in the Sea. Environmental Science Research 43. Springer, Boston, MA, pp. 123-137.

- McCarthy, M., Pratum, T., Hedges, J. and Benner, R., 1997. Chemical composition of dissolved organic nitrogen in the ocean. Nature 390, 150-154.
- McCarthy, M.D., Hedges, J.I. and Benner, R., 1998. Major Bacterial Contribution to Marine Dissolved Organic Nitrogen. Science 281, 231-234.
- McGill, R., Tukey, J.W. and Larsen, W.A., 1978. Variations of Box Plots. The American Statistician 32, 12-16.
- Mills, M.M., Ridame, C., Davey, M., La Roche, J. and Geider, R.J., 2004. Iron and phosphorus co-limit nitrogen fixation in the eastern tropical North Atlantic. Nature 429, 292-294.
- Moore, C., Mills, M., Arrigo, K., Berman-Frank, I., Bopp, L., Boyd, P., Galbraith, E., Geider, R.J., Guieu, C. and Jaccard, S., 2013. Processes and patterns of oceanic nutrient limitation. Nature Geoscience 6, 701-710.
- Ogawa, H., Amagai, Y., Koike, I., Kaiser, K. and Benner, R., 2001. Production of Refractory Dissolved Organic Matter by Bacteria. Science 292, 917-920.
- Ogawa, H. and Tanoue, E., 2003. Dissolved Organic Matter in Oceanic Waters. Journal of Oceanography 59, 129-147.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H. and Wagner, H., 2015. Vegan: Community Ecology Package, R package version 2.3-0 ed.
- Opsahl, S. and Benner, R., 1997. Distribution and cycling of terrigenous dissolved organic matter in the ocean. Nature 386, 480.
- Osterholz, H., Kirchman, D.L., Niggemann, J. and Dittmar, T., 2016. Environmental Drivers of Dissolved Organic Matter Molecular Composition in the Delaware Estuary. Frontiers in Earth Science 4, 95.
- Palenik, B. and Morel, F., 1990. Amino acid utilization by marine phytoplankton: a novel mechanism. Limnology and Oceanography 35, 260-269.
- Pomeroy, L.R., 1974. The ocean's food web, a changing paradigm. Bioscience 24, 499-504.

- Redfield, A.C., 1934. On the proportions of organic derivatives in sea water and their relation to the composition of plankton, in: Daniel R. J. (Eds). James Johnstone Memorial Volume. Liverpool Univ Press; Liverpool, UK, pp. 176– 192.
- Romano, S., Dittmar, T., Bondarev, V., Weber, R.J., Viant, M.R. and Schulz-Vogt, H.N., 2014. Exo-metabolome of Pseudovibrio sp. FO-BEG1 analyzed by ultra-high resolution mass spectrometry and the effect of phosphate limitation. PLoS One 9, e96038.
- Sanudo-Wilhelmy, S.A., Tovar-Sanchez, A., Fu, F.-X., Capone, D.G., Carpenter, E.J. and Hutchins, D.A., 2004. The impact of surface-adsorbed phosphorus on phytoplankton Redfield stoichiometry. Nature 432, 897-901.
- Schlitzer, R., 2015. Ocean Data View. www.odv.awi.de
- Signorini, S.R., Franz, B.A. and McClain, C.R., 2015. Chlorophyll variability in the oligotrophic gyres: mechanisms, seasonality and trends. Frontiers in Marine Science 2.
- Tomczak, M. and Godfrey, J.S., 2001. Regional oceanography: an introduction. Elsevier. Ward, B. and Bronk, D., 2001. Net nitrogen uptake and DON release in surface waters: importance of trophic interactions implied from size fractionation experiments. Marine Ecology Progress Series 219, 11-24.
- Zweifel, U.L., Norrman, B. and Hagstrom, A., 1993. Consumption of dissolved organic carbon by marine bacteria and demand for inorganic nutrients. Marine Ecology-Progress Series 101, 23-23.

4.9 Supplementary materials

Table S4.1 shows an example of how the intensity-weighted averages of molecu-

lar parameters were calculated.

Table S4.1 Exemplary calculation of intensity weighting of the average number of N-atoms per sample. The average number of nitrogen atoms per compound in each sample is calculated by multiplying the number of nitrogen atoms per compound with the respective peak intensity (intensity weighting, [1]), summing up the intensity weighted number of nitrogen atoms for the whole sample [2] and dividing it by the total sum of intensity of the respective sample [3]. All shown peak intensities are examples and not real peak intensities measured in any sample.

	#N-at-	Peak in- tensities of Sample A	intensity- weighted #N-atoms of sample A	Peak in- tensities of Sample B	intensity- weighted #N-atoms of sample B
Formula	oms		[1]	_	[1]
$C_9H_7NO_4$	1	7	7	5	5
$C_{10}H_{11}NO_3$	1	8	8	7	7
$C_{11}H_{15}NO_2$	1	8	8	4	4
$C_{10}H_{10}O_4$		8	0	4	0
$C_9H_{10}N_2O_3$	2	7	14	4	8
$C_{11}H_{14}O_3$		1	0	0	0
$C_{10}H_{14}N_2O_2$	2	1	2	6	12
$C_{12}H_{18}O_2$		6	0	5	0
C ₉ H ₉ NO ₄	1	4	4	8	8
C ₁₀ H ₁₃ NO ₃	1	0	0	7	7
Total intensity		50		50	
Sum of intensity-weighted #N-atoms [2]			43		51
Ratio of total intensity and sum of intensity-weighted #N- atoms (average number of ni- trogen per compound in the respective samples) [3]		0.86		1.02	

5. CONCLUDING REMARKS AND PERSPECTIVES

This thesis presents the molecular geography of marine DOM in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. The overall goal was to identify distinct patterns in the molecular composition of DOM in the ocean and to relate these patterns to biotic and abiotic processes. In the first study, two indices were established to assess the impact of bioproduction and photodegradation on the molecular composition of DOM, and successfully applied to samples from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. In the second study, the molecular fingerprints from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean were compared to an arithmetically constructed two-source mixing model. It was shown that the molecular geography in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean can be explained as the result of mixing two specific endmembers, i.e. the molecular signatures of freshly produced and long-term stable DOM. In the third manuscript, the distribution of dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean and the reasons behind the observed distribution were explored.

5.1 Concluding remarks

Here, the central hypotheses addressed in this thesis are summarized comprehensively and critically reviewed (see chapter 1.4).

1. Photodegradation and bioproduction leave characteristic imprints in the DOM molecular composition of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean.

The results of this thesis show that bioproduction and photodegradation leave characteristic imprints in the DOM molecular composition in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. The impact of both processes was captured by two process-related indices (I_{bioprod} and I_{photo}), which were introduced based on the results of two previously published laboratory experiments targeting exclusively photodegradation of deep sea DOM (Stubbins and Dittmar, 2015) and bioproduction (Osterholz et al., 2015). The indices facilitate the transfer of the process-related information from laboratory experiments to natural environments and identify the respective imprints in natural DOM samples. Both indices assess the relative extent of the respective process within a sample set. The maximum impact of bioproduction and photodegradation on DOM is observed in the subtropical and tropical euphotic layer of the global ocean, where the solar energy input is highest, making the molecular composition highly variable in these waters (manuscript I).

DOM fractions in the ocean are stable on time scales varying from seconds to millennia (Hansell, 2013). The largest fraction appears biologically inert and is present at every water depth in the global ocean. The presence of semi-labile and semirefractory DOM resulting from microbial production in the surface mixed layer of the Atlantic in addition to a refractory DOM background mainly explains molecular DOM compositional differences between the surface and deep ocean: The comparison of the molecular DOM composition from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean to an arithmetically constructed two-source mixing model with two distinct endmembers (i.e. truly refractory deep sea DOM and semi-labile and semi-refractory DOM produced during a controlled mesocosm experiment) showed that microbial production shapes the molecular composition in the surface layer of the Atlantic significantly and can still be traced in the deep sea (manuscript II).

As indicators of bioproduction and photodegradation, the I_{bioprod} and the I_{photo} are valuable tools to assess the impact of both processes on the molecular DOM composition. The I_{bioprod} calculated based on the modelled fingerprints (two-source mixing model, manuscript II) correlates significantly with the I_{bioprod} calculated for natural DOM samples (Figure 5.1 A). The model, however, slightly overestimates the I_{bioprod} of mesocosm DOM is 1.05). The I_{photo} does also correlate between modelled and natural fingerprints, but the calculated values differ from natural DOM (deviation from orange line in Figure 5.1 B). This is not surprising since the characteristic imprint of photodegradation on the molecular DOM composition was not included in the two-endmember mixing model. The inclusion of photodegradation into the model, however, did not further explain any of the observed molecular dissimilarities between modeled and observed composition of Atlantic and Southern Ocean DOM, indicating that the molecular signature of photodegradation is not propagated by water mass mixing like the molecular signature of microbial production is.

Figure 5.1 The I_{bioprod} of natural DOM samples versus the I_{bioprod} of the optimum fits of the two-source mixing model (**A**) and the I^{photo} of natural DOM samples versus the I_{photo} of the optimum fits of the two-source mixing model (**B**). The orange line represents the line of equality between modeled and natural fingerprints.

Overall, the results of this thesis indicate that both bioproduction and photodegradation play important roles in shaping the molecular DOM composition. The extent and conservation of the molecular signatures, however, depends on additional factors, such as for example microbial community composition, nutrient availability and water mass mixing.

 Water mass mixing drives the molecular geography of DOM in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean.

There are two major implications of the study presented in the third chapter: First, microbial production in the surface mixed layer largely explains the molecular DOM composition in the Atlantic and second, water mass mixing mainly drives the molecular geography in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. The mixing of various amounts of freshly produced and refractory DOM accounted for almost all observed molecular variability between surface and deep sea DOM. A residual dissimilarity of ~ 5 to 10 % remains unexplained by water mass mixing, which is probably the result of other biotic and abiotic DOM transformation processes. For example, the discrepancy between observed and modeled H/C ratios in the deep sea (Figure 5.2 A; H/C of natural deep sea DOM < 1.27) may be the result of thermogenic transformation at hydrothermal vents. It has been shown that thermogenic processes produce DOM molecules with very low H/C ratios (Dittmar and Koch, 2006)

providing a possible explanation of lower H/C ratios in natural DOM than calculated with the modeled fingerprints. In the surface mixed layer, DOM is more saturated than the model suggests (Figure 5.2 A; H/C of natural surface DOM > 1.27). Photochemically produced molecules have a generally higher H/C ratio than photolabile compounds (Medeiros et al., 2015). In this case, photodegradation at the ocean's surface might change the overall DOM composition towards more saturated compounds, which is not reflected in the model. The degradation index (I_{deg} , Flerus et al., 2012) calculated with modeled fingerprints yields similar results: Mixing generally explains the distribution of Ideg very well, however, in the surface water masses of the Atlantic the observed degradation state is lower (DOM is "younger") than the two-source mixing model suggests (Figure 5.2 B; Ideg of natural DOM = 0.65 - 0.76). DOM removal mechanisms, such as photodegradation (Stubbins and Dittmar, 2015) or co-metabolism of fresh and young DOM in surface mixed layer (Cherrier et al., 1999) change the degradation signature of DOM. Both processes were not included in the model, explaining the mismatch of the I_{deg} between modeled and natural fingerprints.

Figure 5.2 The H/C ratios of natural DOM samples versus the H/C ratios of the optimum fits of the two-source mixing model (**A**) and the I_{deg} of natural DOM samples versus the I_{deg} of the optimum fits of the two-source mixing model (**B**). The orange line represents the line of equality between modeled and natural fingerprints.

The modelled molecular fingerprints with known contributions of fresh and refractory DOM helped to decipher the molecular geography in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean and identified the main processes driving it. In this context, it is remarkable that a microbial community taken from the coastal North Sea is capable of producing DOM which is as diverse as open ocean DOM with a molecular signature also identifiable in DOM from the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. Until recently, semilabile and semi-refractory DOM was quantified as excess concentration above the refractory background concentration (Hansell, 2013), but for the first time it is now possible to quantify the amount of the semi-persistent DOM fractions based on molecular information in a large variety of marine environments. The application of the two-source mixing model to other molecular data sets will help to trace the signature of microbial production in other marine environments and to understand the cycling of the semi-persistent DOM fractions.

3. The distribution of DON in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean mostly depends on nutrient availability and microbial community composition.

The study presented in the fourth chapter identifies the distribution patterns of solidphase extractable (SPE)-DON in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean and proposes biotic and abiotic processes driving the distribution. Especially the nutrient regime and the presence of nitrogen fixing microbes seem to have a large impact on the distribution patterns of SPE-DON, as indicated for example by differences in the C/N ratios under different environmental conditions. Water mass mixing and microbial production, which mainly drive the molecular geography of bulk SPE-DOM, cannot explain the distribution of molecular C/N ratios in the Atlantic and Southern alone (Figure 5.3). Hence, the distribution of the nitrogen-containing molecules is to some degree independent from that of bulk DOM and mostly shaped by local processes.

Figure 5.3 The C/N ratios of natural DOM samples versus the C/N ratios of the optimum fits of the two-source mixing model. The orange line represents the line of equality between modeled and natural fingerprints.

The described distribution patterns in chapter four provide novel insights into the cycling of SPE-DON in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean. The ultrahigh-resolution analysis via FT-ICR-MS makes it possible to molecularly characterize SPE-DON in unprecedented detail and to study its cycling not only on the bulk level but also on an individual compound level.

5.2 Future perspectives

The results of this thesis provide novel information about the cycling of DOM in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean and add to the growing knowledge to address fundamental questions that are still open to debate:

The millennial stability of DOM – Water mass mixing and microbial production mainly drive the molecular geography in the Atlantic and Southern Ocean, still the reasons why large amounts of DOM escape rapid turnover are not fully understood. In case of SPE-DON, availability of inorganic nutrients play a significant role in its distribution, indicating that abiotic factors summarized under the environmental stability hypothesis (Dittmar, 2015) are involved in stabilizing SPE-DON in the environment. Photodegradation impacts the molecular DOM composition, but apparently, the effects are only measurable locally and its characteristic signature is not transported via water mass mixing. The molecular signature of microbial production is equally distributed across the Atlantic surface water masses, without a
characteristic imprint of the prevailing microbial communities. This missing direct link is most likely due to the difference in observed time frames: The turnover of microbial cells is much shorter compared to the turnover of the semi-persistent DOM fractions. The longer turnover times of the semi-persistent DOM compounds also allows for their homogenously distribution by water mass mixing across a large spatial scale. The associations between DOM and the microbial communities across global water masses of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean are subject of a planned publication. DOM-microbial interactions will be studied via a novel combination of multivariate statistics as published by Osterholz et al. (2016b).

The complex interactions of various processes shaping the molecular composition in the ocean make it challenging to identify single mechanisms responsible for the millennial stability. The results of this thesis contribute new information but the overall picture is by no means complete.

DOM molecular geography in a changing global climate – Global climate change will impact many marine environments: The effect of ocean acidification on the DOM molecular composition was investigated (Zark et al., 2015), but many effects of a changing global climate on the marine carbon cycle are still under investigation and far from being completely understood (Moran et al., 2016; Sarmiento et al., 1998). Changes in ocean circulation will also impact the mixing of water masses and the long-term sequestration of organic carbon in the deep sea. Therefore, understanding the effects of global climate change on the DOM pool is one of the major challenges of future DOM research.

Structural elucidation of DOM – The ultrahigh-resolution analysis of DOM via FT-ICR-MS provides valuable insights into molecular DOM composition and distribution. Using tandem mass spectrometry, it is also possible to obtain structural information on the molecular DOM composition. Studies on the structural diversity of marine DOM indicate that behind a molecular formula many structural isomers may be hidden (Zark et al., 2017). Along a salinity gradient in a temperate estuary, the analysis via tandem mass spectrometry revealed that the structural composition of DOM did not vary significantly in the described system, irrespective of its origin from terrestrial or marine sources (Osterholz et al., 2016a). However, the molecular

signature of microbially produced DOM is structurally different from truly refractory DOM (Osterholz et al., 2015), but until now it is not clear whether the molecular structures of DOM compounds (intrinsic stability hypothesis; Dittmar, 2015) or the concentration of individual compounds (molecular diversity hypothesis; Dittmar, 2015) ultimately enable immediate processing or millennial sequestration in the pool of refractory DOM. Structural elucidation of marine DOM therefore remains one of the major challenges in future DOM research.

5.3 References

- Cherrier, J., Bauer, J.E., Druffel, E.R., Coffin, R.B. and Chanton, J.P., 1999. Radiocarbon in marine bacteria: Evidence for the ages of assimilated carbon. Limnology and Oceanography 44, 730-736.
- Dittmar, T., 2015. Reasons behind the long-term stability of dissolved organic matter, in: Hansell, D.A., Carlson, C.A., (Eds.), The biogeochemistry of marine dissolved organic matter, 2nd edition. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 369-388.
- Dittmar, T. and Koch, B.P., 2006. Thermogenic organic matter dissolved in the abyssal ocean. Marine Chemistry 102, 208-217.
- Flerus, R., Lechtenfeld, O., Koch, B.P., McCallister, S., Schmitt-Kopplin, P., Benner, R., Kaiser, K. and Kattner, G., 2012. A molecular perspective on the ageing of marine dissolved organic matter. Biogeosciences 9, 1935-1955.
- Hansell, D.A., 2013. Recalcitrant Dissolved Organic Carbon Fractions. Annual Review of Marine Science 5, 421-445.
- Medeiros, P., Seidel, M., Powers, L.C., Dittmar, T., Hansell, D.A. and Miller, W.L., 2015. Dissolved organic matter composition and photochemical transformations in the northern North Pacific Ocean. Geophysical Research Letters 42, 863-870.
- Moran, M.A., Kujawinski, E.B., Stubbins, A., Fatland, R., Aluwihare, L.I., Buchan, A., Crump, B.C., Dorrestein, P.C., Dyhrman, S.T. and Hess, N.J., 2016. Deciphering ocean carbon in a changing world. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113, 3143-3151.
- Osterholz, H., Niggemann, J., Giebel, H.-A., Simon, M. and Dittmar, T., 2015. Inefficient microbial production of refractory dissolved organic matter in the ocean. Nature Communications, 6, 7422.
- Osterholz, H., Kirchman, D.L., Niggemann, J. and Dittmar, T., 2016a. Environmental Drivers of Dissolved Organic Matter Molecular Composition in the Delaware Estuary. Frontiers in Earth Science 4, 95.

- Osterholz, H. et al., 2016b. Deciphering associations between dissolved organic molecules and bacterial communities in a pelagic marine system. The ISME journal 10, 1717-1730.
- Sarmiento, J.L., Hughes, T.M., Stouffer, R.J. and Manabe, S., 1998. Simulated response of the ocean carbon cycle to anthropogenic climate warming. Nature 393, 245.
- Stubbins, A. and Dittmar, T., 2015. Illuminating the deep: Molecular signatures of photochemical alteration of dissolved organic matter from North Atlantic Deep Water. Marine Chemistry 177, 318-324.
- Zark, M., Christoffers, J. and Dittmar, T., 2017. Molecular properties of deep-sea dissolved organic matter are predictable by the central limit theorem: Evidence from tandem FT-ICR-MS. Marine Chemistry 191, 9-15.
- Zark, M., Riebesell, U. and Dittmar, T., 2015. Effects of ocean acidification on marine dissolved organic matter are not detectable over the succession of phytoplankton blooms. Science Advances 1, e1500531.

6. CURRICULUM VITAE

Name: Anna Maren Seibt

Date of birth: August 21, 1984

Place of birth: Stuttgart, Germany

Education

Since 08/2011	Ph.D. student in the Research Group for Marine Geochemis-
	try (ICBM-MPI Bridging Group), University of Oldenburg
	(Germany)
2009	Graduate student exchange (6 months), University of New
	England (Australia)
2008 - 2011	M.Sc. Marine Environmental Sciences, University of Olden-
	burg (Germany)
2005 - 2008	B.Sc. Environmental Sciences, University of Oldenburg
	(Germany)

Publications, peer-reviewed

- **Seibt, M.**, Dittmar, T. and Niggemann, J. Natural transformation of marine dissolved organic matter: Process-related molecular indices for biopro-duction and photodegradation. Limnology and Oceanography, in preparation.
- Seibt, M., Dittmar, T., Niggemann, J., Osterholz, H. and Dittmar, T. The molecular geography of dissolved organic matter in the Atlantic Ocean can largely be explained by a simple two-source mixing model. Nature, in preparation.
- Seibt, M., Dittmar, T. and Niggemann, J. Molecular geography of the Atlantic and Southern Ocean: Distribution patterns of organically bound dissolved nitrogen and biogeochemical implications. Marine Chemistry, in preparation.

- Mentges, A., Feenders, C., Seibt, M., Blasius, B. and Dittmar, T., 2017. Functional Molecular Diversity of Marine Dissolved Organic Matter is Reduced During Degradation. Frontiers in Marine Science 4, 194.
- Wietz, M., Wemheuer, B., Simon, H., Giebel, H. A., Seibt, M., Daniel, R., Brinkhoff, T., Simon, M. 2015. Bacterial community dynamics during polysaccharide degradation at contrasting sites in the Southern and Atlantic Oceans. Environmental Microbiology 17, 3822-3831.

Other publications

Seibt, M., Stratmann, T., Stumm, M., 2013. Dissolved organic matter (DOM) – small in size but large in impact: basis to life in the world's ocean, in: Einsporn, M.H., Wiedling, J., Beilfuss, S., (Eds.), Recent impulses to marine science and engineering – From coast to deep sea: multiscale approaches to marine sciences. DGM publishing company, Hamburg, pp. 18–28.

Conference contributions

- Seibt, M., Niggemann, J., Osterholz, H. and Dittmar, T. The molecular geography of dissolved organic matter in the Atlantic can largely be explained by a simple two-source mixing model. Association for the Sciences of Limnology and Oceanography (ASLO), New Orleans (Lousiana), USA, February 2016 (Talk).
- Seibt, M., Dittmar, T. and Niggemann, J. Molecular geography of dissolved organic matter in the Southern Ocean. Association for the Sciences of Limnology and Oceanography (ASLO), Honolulu (Hawaii), USA, February 2014 (Talk).
- Heinrichs, M.E., Seidensticker, S., Seibt, M., Niggemann, J., Giebel, H.A., Simon, M. and Dittmar, T. Microbial degradation of natural refractory dissolved organic matter, YOUMARES 4 German Young Marine Scientist Meeting, Oldenburg, Germany, September 2013 (Poster).
- Seibt, M., Dittmar, T. and Niggemann, J. Dissolved organic matter in the Southern Ocean: Links between molecules and microbes. YOUMARES 3 German

Young Marine Scientist Meeting, Lübeck, Germany, September 2012 (Poster).

- Seibt, M., Dittmar, T. and Niggemann, J. Dissolved organic matter in the Southern Ocean: Links between molecules and microbes. 3rd Meeting of SCOR WG 134 – The Microbial Carbon Pump in the Ocean. Delmenhorst, Germany, August 2012 (Poster).
- Seibt, M., Dittmar, T. and Niggemann, J. Dissolved organic matter in the Southern Ocean: Links between molecules and microbes. German Research Foundation (DFG) Workshops (SPP 1158). Bad Münster am Stein, Jena, Bochum, Dresden, Germany, Septermber 2011 – 2014 (Poster).

EIDESSTATTLICHE ERKLÄRUNG

Hiermit versichere ich, dass ich diese Arbeit selbstständig verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt habe. Außerdem versichere ich, dass ich die allgemeinen Prinzipien wissenschaftlicher Arbeit und Veröffentlichung, wie sie in den Leitlinien guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis der Carl von Ossietzky Universität Oldenburg festgelegt sind, befolgt habe. Darüber hinaus versichere ich, dass die Dissertation weder in ihrer Gesamtheit noch in Teilen einer anderen Hochschule zur Begutachtung in einem Promotionsverfahren vorliegt oder vorgelegen hat und dass im Zusammenhang mit dem Promotionsvorhaben keine kommerziellen Vermittlungs- oder Beratungsdienste (Promotionsberatung) in Anspruch genommen worden sind.

Bremen, den 29.09.2017

(Maren Seibt)